
 

 
 

 

 
  

  
    

 
    

 

 

 

U.S. Department of the Interior 
Bureau of Reclamation 
Upper Colorado Basin Region 

Glen Canyon Dam 
Adaptive Management Program 

Glen Canyon Dam 
Adaptive Management Work Group 

Meeting 

Wednesday, February 25, 2026 
9:30 a.m. – 5:00 p.m. MST 

Thursday, February 26, 2026 
8:30 a.m. – 3:30 p.m. MST 



 Intentionally left blank  



 
Ad

m
in

ist
ra

tiv
e 

Ite
m

s 



 Intentionally left blank  



   

  

   

 

  

 

  

  

  

 
 

     

  

      

  

 

 

 
 

Meeting Packet Order 

Tabs Documents 

Packet Cover/Meeting Information 

Administrative 

Items • Meeting Packet Order 

• Federal Register Notice 

• Teams Participant Information 

• AMWG Ground Rules 

AMWG Supporting 

Documents 
• New Secretary’s Designee Letter to AMWG 

• AMWG & TWG Committee Membership List 

• AMWG Charter 2025 

Draft Agenda • Agenda for February 25-26 Meeting 

Draft Minutes & 

Action Items 
• August Meeting Minutes 

• Action Item Tracking Report 

Supplemental 

Materials 
• Potential GCDAMP & Other Meetings in 2026, 2027 

• TWP Process Document - Table 1 and Sec 2.7 

• GCDAMP Guidance - Petty 

• Five Priorities - Pullan 

• Invasive Species Strategic Plan 



 Federal Register Notice:   

https://www.federalregister.gov/documents/2026/02/11/2026-02687/public-meeting-of-
the-glen-canyon-dam-adaptive-management-work-group?utm_campaign=subscription 
+mailing+list&utm_medium=email&utm_source=federalregister.gov 

For more information, please see https://www.usbr.gov/uc/progact/amp/amwg.html  

https://www.federalregister.gov/documents/2022/12/27/2022-28137/glen-canyon-dam-adaptive-management-work-group-notice-of-public-meeting
https://www.federalregister.gov/documents/2022/12/27/2022-28137/glen-canyon-dam-adaptive-management-work-group-notice-of-public-meeting
https://www.usbr.gov/uc/progact/amp/amwg.html
https://www.federalregister.gov/documents/2026/02/11/2026-02687/public-meeting-of-the-glen-canyon-dam-adaptive-management-work-group?utm_campaign=subscription+mailing+list&utm_medium=email&utm_source=federalregister.gov


  
 

  
 

    
 

  
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

  
 

    
 

     
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

  

Participant Registration Information  

Topic: AMWG Day 1 

Date/Time: Wednesday February 25, 9:30 am Mountain Standard Time 

https://events.gcc.teams.microsoft.com/event/68fa8b47-cb91-4f5d-9a27-
c7e56e67ec53@0693b5ba-4b18-4d7b-9341-f32f400a5494 

Meeting ID: 223 341 619 702 43 
Passcode: sk6HK7VL 

Topic: AMWG Day 2 

Date/Time: Wednesday February 26, 8:30 am Mountain Standard Time 

https://events.gcc.teams.microsoft.com/event/391fc2d6-
d1a5-44e6-8748-4df4138934d6@0693b5ba-4b18-4d7b-9341-f32f400a5494 

Meeting ID: 290 268 420 017 47 
Passcode: Bm7bS9tF 

https://rec.webex.com/rec/j.php?MTID=mde185a6cf327fad6b6ee62fa3b635bda
https://events.gcc.teams.microsoft.com/event/391fc2d6
https://events.gcc.teams.microsoft.com/event/68fa8b47-cb91-4f5d-9a27


 

Glen Canyon Dam Adaptive  
Management Work Group  

Ground Rules 

 Arrive on time OR 10-15 minutes early to confirm  
connectivity and check your mic and audio settings.  

 Remain MUTED when not actively speaking.  

 Turn down cell phone ringers and other background  
sounds.  

 Commit to FULL participation.  

 Do homework before meeting begins.  

 Take private and/or sidebar conversations outside/ 
offline.   

 Wait to be recognized before speaking.  

 Always state your name and affiliation before making  
a comment. 

 Show respect for others.  

 Be concise. Stick to the topic.  

 Save new business for the appointed time   

 Help keep the meeting on schedule  



        
 

   

 

 

 
  

  
 

  

 

 
 

 

  
  

 

Glen Canyon Dam AdaptiveManagement Work GroupMeeting 
Please feel free to test your sound prior to the start of the meeting. 

Please ensure your microphone stays muted. 

Reminder for member questions and comments: 

• Member questions and comments are 
welcome after each presentation 

o Use the Teams “raise hand” function (or 
*3 on the phone) to get in the queue 

o State your name and affiliation prior to 
comment 

o We will read aloud member questions 
entered into the chat if they are relevant 
to the current conversation. 

• Comments in the chat window are considered 
informal discussion and will NOT be included 
as part of the formal meeting record unless 
you request the facilitator to read them aloud. 

Reminder for non-AMWG members: you are 
welcome to observe but are asked to defer any 
comments until the public comment period at the 
end of each meeting day. 

Tips for audio and connectivity: 

• If you joined via phone for audio, dial *6 to 
unmute 

• If you are connected via phone and webinar, 
you may have to unmute on both devices to be 
heard. 

• If you have mic/audio challenges, please chat 
Tara Ashby 

• If you have an unstable internet connection, or 
get kicked out of Teams, please rejoin. 

*NOTE* This meeting is being 
recorded to support our note 

taking. Please hang up if you don’t 
want to be recorded. 



 Intentionally Left Blank 



 
AM

W
G 

Su
pp

or
tin

g 
Do

cu
m

en
ts

 



 Intentionally left blank  



 

  
   

  

  
 

  

 
 

     
 

  
 

  
  

 
 

    
 

  
 

  
  

   
   

  
 

  
  
  

  

   
 

  
   

  
  

 
 

  
  
 

  

  

  
 

 
 
 

  

  
 

 
 

  
  

 

   
 

 
 

  
  

  
 

 
 

 
  

  
  

  
  

 
  

  
 

 
 

 
  

Glen Canyon Dam Adaptive Management Work Group 
Committee Membership List 

(Updated: 2/16/26) 

SECRETARY’S DESIGNEE ALTERNATE SECRETARY’S 
DESIGNEE 

Designated Federal Officer 

Andrea Travnicek 
Assistant Secretary 

for Water and Science 
Department of the Interior 
1849 C Street NW 
Washington, DC  20240 
T: 
EM: andrea_travnicek@ios.doi.gov 

Dustin Sherer 
Deputy Assistant Secretary 

for Water and Science 
Department of the Interior 
1849 C Street NW 
Washington, DC  20240 
T: 
EM: dustin_sherer@ios.doi.gov 

Wayne G. Pullan 
Regional Director 
UCB Regional Office 
Bureau of Reclamation 
125 S. State Street, Room 8100 
Salt Lake City, UT 84138 
T: (801) 524-3606 
EM: wpullan@usbr.gov 

Federal Agencies: 
1-BUREAU OF RECLAMATION 

Katrina Grantz (member) 
Upper Colorado Basin 
125 S. State Street, Room 8100 
Salt Lake City, UT 84138 
T: (801) 524-3606 
EM: kgrantz@usbr.gov 

Kathleen Callister (alternate) 
Upper Colorado Basin 
125 S. State Street, Room 8100 
Salt Lake City, UT 84138 
T: (801) 524-3781 
EM: kcallister@usbr.gov 

2-BUREAU OF INDIAN AFFAIRS 

Deborah Shirley (member) 
Bureau of Indian Affairs 
301 West Hill Street 
Gallup, NM 87301 
T: (602) 501-5328 
EM: Deborah.shirley@bia.gov 

Bartholomew Stevens (alternate) 
Bureau of Indian Affairs 
1011 Indian School Rd, NW, Suite 254 
Albuquerque, NM 87104 
T: (505) 563-3439 
EM: Bartholomew.stevens@bia.gov 

3-NATIONAL PARK SERVICE 

Ed Keable (member) 
Grand Canyon National Park 
PO Box 129 
Grand Canyon, AZ 86023 
T: (928) 638-7758 
EM: edward_keable@nps.gov 

Jacob Ohlson (alternate) 
Glen Canyon National Recreation Area 
691 Scenic View Drive 
Page, AZ 86040 
T: (928) 640-6548 
EM: Jacob_ohlson@nps.gov 

4-U.S. FISH AND WILDLIFE SERVICE 

Heather Whitlaw (member) 
Arizona Ecological Services Field Office 
9828 N 31st Ave, Suite C3 
Phoenix, AZ 85051 
T: (806) 773-5932 
EM: heather_whitlaw@fws.gov 

Jess Newton (alternate) 
U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service 
2500 S Pine Knoll Dr. 
Flagstaff, AZ 86001 
T: (928) 369-6250 
EM: jess_newton@fws.gov 

1 

mailto:andrea_travnicek@ios.doi.gov
mailto:dustin_sherer@ios.doi.gov
mailto:wpullan@usbr.gov
mailto:kgrantz@usbr.gov
mailto:kcallister@usbr.gov
mailto:Deborah.shirley@bia.gov
mailto:Bartholomew.stevens@bia.gov
mailto:edward_keable@nps.gov
mailto:Jacob_ohlson@nps.gov
mailto:heather_whitlaw@fws.gov
mailto:jess_newton@fws.gov


 

 

 
 

 
   
        

  

  
 

 
   

       
   

   
   

 
   

  
    

  
   

 
   

  
   

 
 

  
   
 

   

  
 
 

 
 

  

   
 

  
 

  

 

   

 

 

 
 

 
    

  
   

 
 

 
   

 
  

Native American Tribes: 
5-HUALAPAI TRIBE 

Ka-Voka Jackson (member) 
Hualapai Dept of Cultural Resources 
PO Box 310 
Peach Springs, AZ 86434 
T: (928) 769-2234 C: (928) 769-2584 
EM: ka-voka.jackson@hualapai-nsn.gov 

Carrie Cannon (alternate) 
Hualapai Dept of Cultural Resources 
PO Box 310 
Peach Springs, AZ 86434 
T: (928) 727-2223  C: (928) 727-1338 
EM: carrie.cannon@hualapai-nsn.gov 

6-HOPI TRIBE 

Jakob Maase (member) 
Hopi Cultural Preservation Office 
PO Box 123 
Kykotsmovi, AZ 86039(91 
T: (913) 488-8962 
EM: jmaase@hopi.nsn.us 

Stewart Koyiyumptewa (alternate) 
Hopi Cultural Preservation Office 
PO Box 123 
Kykotsmovi, AZ 86039 
T: (928) 734-3615 
EM: skoyiyumptewa@hopi.nsn.us 

7-NAVAJO NATION 

Richard Begay (member) 
Navajo Nation Heritage and Historic Preservation 
PO Box 4950 
Window Rock, AZ 86515 
T: (928) 871-7198 
EM: r.begay@navajo-nsn.gov 

Erik Stanfield (alternate) 
Navajo Nation 
P.O. Box 3366 
Page, AZ 86040 
T: (480) 313-2482 
EM: erikstanfield@navajo-nsn.gov 

8-PUEBLO OF ZUNI 

Edward Wemytewa (member) 
PO Box 339 
1203-B State Highway 53 
Zuni, NM 87327 
T: (505) 713-8208 
EM: edward.wemytewa@ashiwi.org 

Arden Kucate (alternate) 
PO Box 339 
1203-B State Highway 53 
Zuni, NM 87327 
T: (505) 782-7000 
EM: arden.kucate@ashiwi.org 

9-SOUTHERN PAIUTE CONSORTIUM 

Daniel Bulletts (member) 
1 North Pipe Spring Rd. 
Fredonia, AZ 86022 
T: (928) 643-6278 
EM: dbulletts@kaibabpaiute-nsn.gov 

VACANT (alternate) 

10-SAN JUAN SOUTHERN PAIUTE TRIBE 

VACANT (member) 

2 

mailto:ka-voka.jackson@hualapai-nsn.gov
mailto:carrie.cannon@hualapai-nsn.gov
mailto:jmaase@
mailto:skoyiyumptewa@hopi.nsn.us
mailto:r.begay@navajo-nsn.gov
mailto:erikstanfield@navajo-nsn.gov
mailto:dbulletts@kaibabpaiute-nsn.gov
mailto:edward.wemytewa@ashiwi.org
mailto:arden.kucate@ashiwi.org


 

 

  
 

   
   

  
   

   
 

  
  

 
  

 
  

 
 

  
   

  
  

 
 

  
   

   
  

  
  

   
   

  
  

  
  

   
  

 

  
  

 
   

 
   

 
  

 
   

 
  

 
  

  
   

 
  

  

  
  

  
 

 
  

 
   

  
  

  
  

   
   

  
  

  
  

Seven Basin States: 
11-ARIZONA 

Emily Young (member) 
Arizona Department of Water Resources 
1110 W. Washington Street, Suite 310 
Phoenix, AZ 85007 
T: (602) 771-8516 
EM: eyoung@azwater.gov 

Kristen Johnson (alternate) 
Arizona Department of Water Resources 
1110 W. Washington Street, Suite 310 
Phoenix, AZ  85007 
T: (602) 771-8552 
EM: kjohnson@azwater.gov 

12-CALIFORNIA 

Jessica Neuwerth (member) 
Colorado River Board of California 
770 Fairmont Avenue, Suite 100 
Glendale, CA  91203 
T: (818) 254-3202 
EM: jneuwerth@crb.ca.gov 

Shana Rapoport (alternate) 
Colorado River Board of California 
770 Fairmont Avenue, Suite 100 
Glendale, CA  91203 
T: (818) 254-3210 
EM: srapoport@crb.ca.gov 

13-COLORADO 

Michelle Garrison (member) 
Colorado Water Conservation Board 
1313 Sherman Street, Room 718 
Denver, CO 80203 
T: (303) 866-3441 x3213 
EM: michelle.garrison@state.co.us 

Emily Zmak (alternate) 
Colorado Water Conservation Board 
1313 Sherman Street, Room 718 
Denver, CO 80203 
T: (303) 866-3441 x3248 
EM: emily.zmak@state.co.us 

14-NEVADA 

Sara Price (member) 
Colorado River Commission of Nevada 
555 East Washington Avenue, Suite 3100 
Las Vegas, NV 89101 
T: (702) 486-2670 
EM: sprice@crc.nv.gov 

Warren Turkett (alternate) 
Colorado River Commission of Nevada 
555 East Washington Avenue, Suite 3100 
Las Vegas, NV 89101 
T: (702) 994-6068 
EM: wturkett@crc.nv.gov 

15-NEW MEXICO 
Ali Effati (member) 
NM Interstate Stream Commission 
407 Galisteo St, Bataan Memorial Bldg., Room 101 
Santa Fe, NM 87501 
T: (505) 614-4636 
EM: ali.effati@ose.nm.gov 

Christina Noftsker (alternate) 
NM Interstate Stream Commission 
5550 San Antonio Dr. NE 
Albuquerque, NM 87109 
T: (505) 570-7000 
EM: christina.noftsker@ose.nm.gov 

16-UTAH 

Amy Haas (member) 
Colorado River Authority of Utah 
60 East South Temple, Suite 850 
Salt Lake City, UT 84111 
T: (505) 414-3160 
EM: ahaas@utah.gov 

Betsy Morgan (alternate) 
Colorado River Authority of Utah 
60 East South Temple, Suite 850 
Salt Lake City, UT 84111 
T: (801) 538-7288 
EM: bdmorgan@utah.gov 

3 

mailto:kjohnson@azwater.gov
mailto:jneuwerth@crb.ca.gov
mailto:srapoport@crb.ca.gov
mailto:michelle.garrison@state.co.us
mailto:emily.zmak@state.co.us
mailto:sprice@crc.nv.gov
mailto:wturkett@crc.nv.gov
mailto:ali.effati@ose.nm.
mailto:christina.noftsker@ose.nm.
mailto:ahaas@utah.gov
mailto:bdmorgan@utah.gov


 

  
  

   
   

 
  

  
  

   
   

 
  

 

  
 

 
   

 
  

    
  

 
 

  
  

  
 

  
   

  
 

   
 
 

 
  

  

  
 

 
 

 
 

  
   

  
 

 
 

  
  

 

 
 

  
 
 

  

 
 

  
 

  
  

17-WYOMING 

Charlie Ferrantelli (member) 
Wyoming State Engineer’s Office 
122 West 25th Street 
Cheyenne, WY 82002 
T: (307) 777-6151 
EM: charlie.ferrantelli@wyo.gov 

Mel Fegler (alternate) 
Wyoming State Engineer’s Office 
122 West 25th Street 
Cheyenne, WY 82002 
T: (307) 777-7803 
EM: mel.fegler@wyo.gov 

Environmental Groups: 
18-ENVIRONMENTAL GROUP 

Larry Stevens (member) 
Southwest Wildlands 
PO Box 1315 
Flagstaff, AZ 86002 
T: (928) 380-7724 
EM: larry@springstewardship.org 

Kelly Burke (alternate) 
Southwest Wildlands 
PO Box 1315 
Flagstaff, AZ  86002 
T: (928) 606-7870 
EM: gcwildlands@icloud.com 

19-ENVIRONMENTAL GROUP 

Matt Rice (member) 
American Rivers 
1536 Wynkoop, Ste 321 
Denver, CO 80202 
T: (303) 454-3395 
EM: mrice@americanrivers.org 

Sinjin Eberle (alternate) 
American Rivers 
165 Spring Road 
Durango, CO 81303 
T: (720) 373-0864 
EM: seberle@americanrivers.org 

Recreational Industry: 
20-RECREATIONAL INDUSTRY 

David Brown (member) 
Grand Canyon River Guides 
P.O. Box 1934 
Flagstaff, AZ 86002 
T: (801) 694-1228 
EM: bravedown@yahoo.com 

Ben Reeder (alternate) 
Grand Canyon River Guides 
4507 South Russell Street 
Salt Lake City, UT 84117 
T: 801-860-1070 
EM: benreeder33@gmail.com 

21-RECREATIONAL INDUSTRY 

Jim Strogen (member) 
Trout Unlimited 
401 West Christopher Point 
Payson, AZ 85541 
T: (480) 242-2569 
EM: jimstrog@gmail.com 

Rod Buchanan (alternate) 
Trout Unlimited 
1208 East Copper Hollow 
Queen Creek, AZ 85140 
T: (209) 815-0062 
EM: rodbuchanan23@gmail.com 

4 

mailto:charlie.ferrantelli@wyo.gov
mailto:mel.fegler@wyo.gov
mailto:larry@springstewardship.org
mailto:gcwildlands@icloud.com
mailto:mrice@americanrivers.org
mailto:seberle@americanrivers.org
mailto:bravedown@yahoo.com
mailto:benreeder33@gmail.com
mailto:jimstrog@gmail.com
mailto:rodbuchanan23@gmail.com


 

  

  
     

  
   

  
    

 
 

  
  

  
  

 
 

  
 

  
  

 
 

 
  

  
  

  

   
 

  
  

 
  

 
  

  
 

  

   

 
 

 
 
 

 

  
 

 
 

 
  

Federal Power Purchase Contractors: 
22-FEDERAL POWER PURCHASE CONTRACTORS 

Leslie James (member) 
Colorado River Energy Dist. Assoc. (CREDA) 
10429 S. 51st Street, Suite 230 
Phoenix, AZ  85044 
T: (480) 477-8646 
EM: creda@creda.cc 

Sheri Farag (alternate) 
Salt River Project 
P.O. Box 52025, PAB 4TA 
Phoenix, AZ 85072 
T: (480) 720-0542 
EM: sheri.farag@srpnet.com 

23-FEDERAL POWER PURCHASE CONTRACTORS 

Mike Squires 
Utah Associated Municipal Power Systems 
155 N 400W, Ste 480 
Salt Lake City, UT 84103 
T: (385) 222-5437 
EM: Mike@uamps.com 

Andy Colosimo 
Colorado Springs Utilities 
121 South Tejon Street, Fifth Floor 
Colorado Springs, CO 80918 
T: (719) 668-8005 
EM: acolosimo@csu.org 

Other Stakeholders: 
24-ARIZONA GAME AND FISH DEPARTMENT 

Julie Carter (member) 
Arizona Game and Fish 
5000 W Carefree Highway 
Phoenix, AZ 85086 
T: (480) 254-4567 
EM: jcarter@azgfd.gov 

Clayton Crowder (alternate) 
Arizona Game and Fish 
5000 W Carefree Highway 
Phoenix, AZ 85086 
T: (602) 717-9890 
EM: ccrowder@azgfd.gov 

25-DEPARTMENT OF ENERGY (DOE) – WESTERN AREA POWER ADMINISTRATION (WAPA) 

Rodney Bailey (member) 
Western Area Power Administration 
299 S Main Street, Suite 200 
Salt Lake City, UT 
T: (801) 309-0713 
EM: rbailey@wapa.gov 

Craig Ellsworth (alternate) 
Western Area Power Administration 
1800 S Rio Grande Ave. 
Montrose, CO 81401 
T: (385) 228-3994 
EM: ellsworth@wapa.gov 

5 

mailto:creda@creda.cc
mailto:sheri.farag@srpnet.com
mailto:Mike@uamps.com
mailto:acolosimo@csu.org
mailto:jcarter@azgfd.gov
mailto:ccrowder@azgfd.gov
mailto:ellsworth@wapa.gov


 Intentionally left blank  



 

  

 
  

   

 

   

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

  

  

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

   

   

 

 

 

 

  

Glen Canyon Dam Technical Work Group 

Membership List 
(Updated: 1/16/26) 

TWG Chairperson TWG Vice Chairs 

Seth Shanahan 

Southern Nevada Water Authority 

100 City Parkway, Suite 700 

Las Vegas, NV 89106 

T: (702) 822-3314 

EM: seth.shanahan@snwa.com 

Michelle Garrison 

Colorado Water Conservation Board 

Jeremy Hammen 

Bureau of Reclamation 

Federal Agencies: 

1-BUREAU OF RECLAMATION 

Jeremy Hammen (member, 9/9/23) 

Bureau of Reclamation 

125 S State Street, RM 8100 

Salt Lake City, UT 84138 

T: (720) 951-3989 

EM: jhammen@usbr.gov 

Matt O’Neill (alternate, 1/16/26) 

Bureau of Reclamation 

125 S State Street, RM 8100 

Salt Lake City, UT 84138 

T: (928) 890-7909 

EM: moneill@usbr.gov 

2-BUREAU OF INDIAN AFFAIRS 

Rudy Keedah (member, 4/10/23) 

Bureau of Indian Affairs 

301 W Hill Ave 

Gallup, NM 87301 

T: (505) 863-8230 

EM: Rudy.Keedah@bia.gov 

VACANT 

3-NATIONAL PARK SERVICE (Grand Canyon National Park) 

Rob Billerbeck (primary, 1/6/26) 

Colorado River Coordinator, NPS 

12795 W Alameda Parkway 

Lakewood, CO 80228 

T: (303) 987-6789 

EM: rob_p_billerbeck@nps.gov 

Emily Omana Smith (alternate, 1/6/26) 

Grand Canyon National Park 

1824 South Thompson Street, Suite 200 

Flagstaff, AZ 86001 

T: (928) 638-7477 

EM: emily_Omana@nps.gov 

Hannah Chambless (2nd alternate, 1/6/26) 

Grand Canyon National Park 

1824 South Thompson Street, Suite 200 

Flagstaff, AZ 86001 

T: (928) 638-7464 

EM: Hannah.chambless@nps.gov 

1 

mailto:seth.shanahan@snwa.com
mailto:jhammen@usbr.gov
mailto:moneill@usbr.gov
mailto:Rudy.Keedah@bia.gov
mailto:rob_p_billerbeck@nps.gov
mailto:emily_Omana@nps.gov
mailto:Hannah.chambless@nps.gov


 

  

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

  

  

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

  

 

 

 

  

 
      

  

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

   

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

  

   

 

 

  

    

    

 

4-NATIONAL PARK SERVICE (Glen Canyon National Recreation Area) 

Buddy Fazio (member, 10/25/22) 

691 Scenic View Road 

P.O. Box 1507 

Page, AZ 86040 

T: (928) 608-6265 

EM: buddy_fazio@nps.gov 

Nicki Gibney (alternate, 1/6/26)4 

Colorado River Coordinator 

2500 E New York Ave. 

Gunnison, CO 81230 

T: (720) 501-7624 

EM: Nicole_gibney@nps.gov 

5-U.S. FISH AND WILDLIFE SERVICE 

David Ward (member, 12/4/23) 

Arizona Fish and Wildlife 

2500 E Pine Knoll Dr. 

Flagstaff, AZ 86001 

T: (928) 310-6856 

EM: David_ward@fws.gov 

Deborah Williams (alternate 12/4/23) 

Fish and Wildlife Ecological Services 

P.O. Box 1158 

Magdalena, NM 87825 

T: (575) 517-6091 

EM: Deborah_williams@fws.gov 

Native American Tribes: 

6-HUALAPAI TRIBE 

Carrie Cannon (member, 9/16/20) 

P.O. Box 310 

Peach Springs, AZ  86434 

T: (928) 769-2223 

EM: ccannon@hualapai-nsn.gov 

Ka-Voka Jackson (alternate, ) 
PO Box 310 
Peach Springs, AZ 86434 
T: (928) 769-2234 C: (928) 769-2584 
EM: ka-voka.jackson@hualapai-nsn.gov 

7-HOPI TRIBE 

Jakob Maase (member, 1/8/20) 

Hopi Cultural Preservation Office 

P.O. Box 123 

Kykotsmovi, AZ  86039 

T: (913) 448-8962 

EM: jmaase@hopi.nsn.us 

Stewart Koyiyumptewa (alternate, 8/29/22) 

Hopi Cultural Preservation Office 

PO Box 123 

Kykotsmovi, AZ  86039 

T: (928) 734-3615 

EM: skoyiymptewa@hopi.nsn.us 

8-NAVAJO NATION 

Erik Stanfield (member, 7/19/21) 

P.O. Box 3366 

Page, AZ 86040 

T: (480) 313-2482 

EM: erikstanfield@navajo-nsn.gov 

Brent Powers (alternate, 3/6/23) 

P.O. Box 1480 

Window Rock, AZ 86515 

T: (928) 871-7070 

EM: bpowers@nndfw.org 

9-PUEBLO OF ZUNI 

Kurt Dongoske (member, 11/3/10) 

Zuni Cultural Resources Enterprise 

PO Box 1149 

Zuni, NM  87327 

C: (928) 587-1901 T: 928-289-9259 (AZ Ofc) 

EM: kdongoske@gmail.com 

VACANT 

2 

mailto:buddy_fazio@nps.gov
mailto:Nicole_gibney@nps.gov
mailto:David_ward@fws.gov
mailto:Deborah_williams@fws.gov
mailto:ccannon@hualapai-nsn.gov
mailto:jmaase@hopi.nsn.us
mailto:skoyiymptewa@hopi.nsn.us
mailto:erikstanfield@navajo-nsn.gov
mailto:bpowers@nndfw.org
mailto:kdongoske@gmail.com


 

 

 

 

 

  

 

  

 

 

 

  

 

 

   

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

  

   

 

 

 

 

  

  

 

 

    

 

   

 

 

 

 

 

   

 

 

  

 

  

 

    

    

 

 

 

     

  

10-SOUTHERN PAIUTE CONSORTIUM 

Daniel Bulletts (member, 1/26/22) 

1 North Pipe Spring Rd. 

Fredonia, AZ 86022 

T: (928) 643-6278 

EM: dbulletts@kaibabpaiute-nsn.gov 

VACANT 

11-SAN JUAN SOUTHERN PAIUTE TRIBE 

PO Box 2950 

Tuba City, AZ 86045 

T: (928) 283-1066 

Seven Basin States: 

12-ARIZONA 

Emily Young (member, 8/8/24) 

Arizona Department of Water Resources 

1110 W. Washington Street, Suite 310 

Phoenix, AZ 85007 

T: (602) 771-8516 

EM: eyoung@azwater.gov 

Kristen Johnson (alternate, 8/8/24) 

Arizona Department of Water Resources 

1110 W. Washington Street, Suite 310 

Phoenix, AZ  85007 

T: (602) 771-8552 

EM: kjohnson@azwater.gov 

13-CALIFORNIA 

Jessica Neuwerth (member, 6/8/22) 

Colorado River Board of California 

770 Fairmont Avenue, Suite 100 

Glendale, CA  91203 

T: (818) 254-3202 

EM: jneuwerth@crb.ca.gov 

Shana Rapoport (alternate, 7/19/21) 

Colorado River Board of California 

770 Fairmont Avenue, Suite 100 

Glendale, CA 91203-1035 

T: (818) 254-3210 

EM: srapoport@crb.ca.gov 

14-COLORADO 

Michelle Garrison (member, 12/18/19) 

Colorado Water Conservation Board 

1313 Sherman St., Rm. 718 

Denver, CO  80203 

T: (303) 866-3441 x3213 

EM: Michelle.garrison@state.co.us 

VACANT 

15-NEVADA 

Seth Shanahan (member, 10/1/16) 

Southern Nevada Water Authority 

100 City Parkway, Suite 700 

Las Vegas, NV  89106 

T: (702) 822-3314 

EM: seth.shanahan@snwa.com 

Danielle Collins (alternate, 12/22/23) 

Colorado River Commission of NV 

555 E Washington Ave., Ste 3100 

Las Vegas, NV 89101 

T: ( ) 

EM: dcollins@crc.nv.gov 

3 

mailto:dbulletts@kaibabpaiute-nsn.gov
mailto:e
mailto:ehiguera@azwater.gov
mailto:kjohnson@azwater.gov
mailto:jneuwerth@crb.ca.gov
mailto:srapoport@crb.ca.gov
mailto:Michelle.garrison@state.co.us
mailto:seth.shanahan@snwa.com
mailto:dcollins@crc.nv.gov


 

 

 

 

 

  

   

 

 

 

 

 

   

  

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

  

   

 

    

 

 

  

   

 

    

 

 

   

 

 

  

   

 

  

  

   

  

   

 

  

  

    

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

   

 

 

 

 

 

  

16-NEW MEXICO 

Christina Noftsker (member, 6/8/22) 

NM Interstate Stream Commission 

PO Box 25102 

Santa Fe, NM  87504 

T: (505) 570-7000 

EM: christina.noftsker@state.nm.us 

Colleen Cunningham (alternate, 6/8/22) 

NM Interstate Stream Commission 

PO Box 25102 

Santa Fe, NM  87504 

T: (505) 487-0910 

EM: colleen.cunningham@state.nm.us 

17-UTAH 

Betsy Morgan (member, 12/4/23) 

Colorado River Authority of Utah 

60 E South Temple, Ste 850 
Salt Lake City, UT  84111 

C: (801) 231-1221 

EM: bdmorgan@utah.gov 

Scott McGettigan (alternate, 12/4/23) 

Utah Division of Water Resources 

1594 West North Temple, Suite 3710 

Salt Lake City, UT  84114 

T: (801) 538-4754 

EM: scottmcgettigan@utah.gov 

18-WYOMING 

Mel Fegler (member, 8/29/22) 

State Engineer’s Office 
122 W 25th Street – Herschler Building 2W 

Cheyenne, WY 82002 

T: (307) 777-7803 

EM: mel.fegler@wyo.gov 

Joe Duncan (alternate, 1/10/25) 

State Engineer’s Office 
122 W. 25th Street – Herschler Building 2W 

Cheyenne, WY  82002 

T: (307) 777-6891 

EM: joseph.duncan@wyo.gov 

Environmental Groups: 

19-ENVIRONMENTAL GROUPS 

Larry Stevens (member, 11/3/10) 

Southwest Wildlands 

PO Box 1315 

Flagstaff, AZ  86002 

Tel: (928) 380-7724 

EM: larry@springstewardship.org 

Kelly Burke (alternate, 8/25/17) 

Southwest Wildlands 

PO Box 1315 

Flagstaff, AZ  86002 

Tel: (928) 606-7870 

EM: gcwildlands@icloud.com 

20-ENVIRONMENTAL GROUPS 

C. Sinjin Eberle (member, 1/26/22) 

American Rivers 

P.O. Box 1828 

Durango, CO  81302 

T: (720) 373-0864 

EM: seberle@americanrivers.org 

VACANT 

Recreational Industry: 

21-RECREATIONAL INDUSTRY 

Ben Reeder (member, 2/16/16) 

Grand Canyon River Guides 

4507 South Russell Street 

Salt Lake City, UT  84117 

T: (801) 860-1070 

EM: benreeder33@gmail.com 

David Brown (alternate, 7/14/16) 

Grand Canyon River Guides 

P.O. Box 1934 

Flagstaff, AZ 86002 

T: (801) 694-1228 

EM: bravedown@yahoo.com 

4 

mailto:christina.noftsker@state.nm.us
mailto:colleen.cunningham@state.nm.us
mailto:bdmorgan@utah.gov
mailto:scottmcgettigan@utah.gov
mailto:mel.fegler@wyo.gov
mailto:joseph.duncan@wyo.gov
mailto:larry@springstewardship.org
mailto:gcwildlands@icloud.com
mailto:seberle@americanrivers.org
mailto:benreeder33@gmail.com
mailto:bravedown@yahoo.com


 

  

 

  

 

 

  

   

 

 

 

 

  

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

  

  

 

  

  

 

   

  

  

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

  

 

 

  

 

    

  

 

 

  

 

    

  

 

  

 

 

 

   

  

 

 

 

  

22- RECREATIONAL INDUSTRY

Bill Persons (member, 1/26/22) 

Trout Unlimited 

14621 North 22nd Lane 

Phoenix, AZ  85023 

T: (602) 826-1465 

EM: bpersons51@gmail.com 

William E. Davis (alternate, 6/4/23) 

Trout Unlimited 

181 W. Monument Trail 

Payson, AZ 85541 

T: (480) 510-6391 

EM: wedavis09@yahoo.com 

Federal Power Purchase Contractors: 

23-COLORADO RIVER ENERGY DISTRIBUTORS ASSOCIATION (CREDA)

Marc Wicke (member, 5/21/24) 

Salt River Project 

Mail Station PAB 359, P.O. Box 52025 

Phoenix, AZ 85072 

T: (602) 571-0819 

EM: marc.wicke@srpnet.com 

Leslie James (alternate, 11/3/10) 

CREDA 

10429 S. 51st Street, Suite 230 

Phoenix, AZ  85044 

T: (480) 477-8646 

EM: creda@creda.cc 

24-UTAH MUNICIPAL POWER AGENCY (UMPA)

Ted Rampton (member, 5/21/24) 

2918 N 250 W 

Lehi, UT 84043 

T: (801) 550-7876 

EM: tedrampton00@gmail.com 

VACANT 

Other Stakeholders: 

25-ARIZONA GAME AND FISH DEPARTMENT

Ryan Mann (member, 11/21/16) 

Arizona Game and Fish Department 

5000 W. Carefree Highway 

Phoenix, AZ  85086 

T: (623) 236-7538 

EM: rmann@azgfd.gov 

Dave Rogowski, PhD (alternate, 7/7/15) 

Arizona Game and Fish Department 

506 N. Grant Street, Suite L 

Flagstaff, AZ  86004 

T: (928) 226-7677 

EM: drogowski@azgfd.gov 

26-DEPARTMENT OF ENERGY (DOE) – WESTERN AREA POWER

ADMINISTRATION (WAPA)

Craig Ellsworth (member, 4/23/25) 

1800 S Rio Grande Ave. 

Montrose, CO 81401 

T: (385) 228-3994 

EM: ellsworth@wapa.gov 

Jerry Wilhite (alternate, 4/23/25) 

12155 W Alameda Parkway 

Lakewood, CO 80228 

T: (720) 587-9363 

EM: wilhite@wapa.gov 

5 

mailto:bpersons51@gmail.com
mailto:wedavis09@yahoo.com
mailto:marc.wicke@srpnet.com
mailto:creda@creda.cc
mailto:tedrampton00@gmail.com
mailto:rmann@azgfd.gov
mailto:drogowski@azgfd.gov
mailto:ellsworth@wapa.gov
mailto:wilhite@wapa.gov


Intentionally Left Blank



U.S. Department of the Interior 
Bureau of Reclamation 

Glen Canyon Dam Adaptive Management Work Group 

RENEW AL CHARTER 

1.o Advisory Committee's Official Designation. Glen Canyon Dam Adaptive Managemento
Work Group (AMWG).o

2, Authority. The AMWG is a discretionary advisory committee established by the Grand 
Canyon Protection Act (Act) of October 30. 1992. Public Law 102-575. The AMWG is 
operated pursuant to the Federal Advisory Committee Act (FACA), as amended (5 U.S.C. 
Ch. 10) and the Federal Advisory Committee Management regulations found at 41 CFR Part 
102-3.o

3.o Objectives and Scope of Activities. The Glen Canyon Dam Adaptive Management Programo
(AMP) provides for monitoring the results of the operating criteria and plans adopted by theo
Secretary of the Interior (Secretary), and for research and studies to suggest appropriateo
changes to those plans and operating criteria.o

The AMP includes the AMWG. The AMWG provides advice and recommendations to theo
Secretary relative to the operation ofGlen Canyon Dam. The Secretary's Designee is theo
Assistant Secretary for Water and Science or an alternate designee who serves as the Chair.o
The AMWG recommends suitable monitoring and research programs and makeso
recommendations to the Secretary. The AMWG may recommend research and monitoringo
proposals outside the Act which complement the AMP process, but such proposals will beo
funded separately and shall not deter from the focus of the Act.o

Under Section 1802(a) of the Act. "[t]he Secretary shall operate Glen Canyon Dam ino
accordance with the additional criteria and operating plans specified in Section 1804 [of theo
Act] and exercise other authorities under existing law in such a manner as to protect, mitigateo
adverse impacts to, and improve the values for which Grand Canyon National Park and Gleno
Canyon National Recreation Area were established, including but not limited to. natural ando
cultural resources and visitor use.'' Under Section 1802(b) of the Act, "[t]he Secretary shallo
implement this section [of the Act] in a manner fully consistent with and subject to theo
Colorado River Compact, the Upper Colorado River Basin Compact. the Water Treaty ofo
1944 with Mexico, the decree of the Supreme Court in Arizona v. California, and theo
provisions of the Colorado River Storage Project Act of 1956 and the Colorado River Basino
Project Act of 1968 that govern allocation, appropriation; development, and exportation ofo
the waters of the Colorado River basin."o











Intentionally left blank 



 
Dr

af
t A

ge
nd

a 



 Intentionally Left Blank 



          

 

       

   

    

   

 

  

 

  

  

  
 

        

 

   

       

 

   

    

   

  

      

    

  

 

          

  

    

         

        

            

         

  

 

 

  

  

  

               

 
 

 
 

Glen Canyon Dam Adaptive Management Program 

Adaptive Management Work Group Meeting, February 25-26, 2026 

Hilton Garden Inn, Tempe, AZ 

Wednesday, February 25, 2026 

Register Here for Day 1: 

February AMWG Mtg Day 1 | Meeting-Join | Microsoft Teams 

DRAFT AGENDA 

START 

TIME 1 

(Duration) 

Wednesday, February 25, 2026 

Topic, Presenter, and Purpose² 

9:30 MST 
(:60) 

Welcome and Administrative: Andrea Travnicek, Secretary’s Designee to the Adaptive 

Management Work Group 

▪ Opening Remarks (Andrea Travnicek)

▪ Ground Rules/Introductions and Determination of Quorum (13 members)

o Facilitator: Becki Bryant

▪ Administrative Updates (Bill Stewart)

o AMWG Membership Status/call for nominees

o Action Item Tracking Report

o Sharepoint

o Future meeting dates

o Federal Agency staffing changes related to AMWG

Additional Information: AMWG Website 

10:30 MST 

(:45) 

Basin Hydrology and Operations: Alex Pivarnik and Bryce Mihalevich, Reclamation 

▪ Presentations (30 minutes)

▪ Q&A and discussion (15 minutes)

Additional Information: 1) Current GCD operations 2) 24-Month Study 

3) CRMMS 2-Year Projections 4) 5-Year Projections 5) Drought Contingency Plans

Purpose: To increase understanding of water supply, forecasted hydrologic conditions, and projected 

reservoir conditions and operations for the current and upcoming water years. 

11:15 MST 

(:45) 

LTEMP Experiments Updates: Bill Stewart, Reclamation, Charles Yackulic, GCMRC, 

Jerry Wilhite, WAPA 

▪ Presentation (30 minutes)

▪ Discussion (15 minutes)

Purpose: An assessment of previous LTEMP experiments and an update of prospective future experiments. 

12:00 MST 
(1:30) 

LUNCH 
Tribal luncheon: (TBD) 

Glen Canyon Dam Adaptive Management Work Group 1 | Page 

https://events.gcc.teams.microsoft.com/event/68fa8b47-cb91-4f5d-9a27-c7e56e67ec53@0693b5ba-4b18-4d7b-9341-f32f400a5494
https://www.usbr.gov/uc/progact/amp/amwg.html
https://www.usbr.gov/uc/water/crsp/cs/gcd.html
https://www.usbr.gov/lc/region/g4000/riverops/24ms-projections.html
https://www.usbr.gov/lc/region/g4000/riverops/crmms-2year-projections.html
https://www.usbr.gov/lc/region/g4000/riverops/crss-5year-projections.html
https://www.usbr.gov/ColoradoRiverBasin/dcp/finaldocs.html


           

 

 

 

 

 

 

     

       

 

                

  

  

 

   

 

 

     

 

           

      

     

 

  

 
 

 

  
 

   

 

 

     

 
           

      

       

  
 

 

  

  
 

    

 

 

1:30 MST 

(0:45) 

2026 GCDAMP Annual Reporting Meeting Update – Part 1: Tribal Resources: Erik 

Stanfield, Navajo Nation and Ernie Rheaume, Reclamation 

Purpose: Navajo Cultural Training video and presentation. Report out on tribal perspectives for 2025 (Goal 

8). 

2:15 MST 

(1:00) 

2026 GCDAMP Annual Reporting Meeting Update – Part 2: Grand Canyon Monitoring 

and Research Center (GCMRC) 

▪ Presentation(s) and Q&A (60 minutes)

Purpose: To provide a summary of the annual reporting meeting resource goal status for the following 

LTEMP objectives: humpback chub (Goal 3), other native fish (Goal 5), nonnative invasive species 

(Goal 10), rainbow trout fishery (Goal 9), and natural processes (Goal 3). 

3:15 MST 

(:15) 
BREAK 

3:30 MST 
(1:00) 

2026 GCDAMP Annual Reporting Meeting Update – Part 3: Grand Canyon Monitoring 

and Research Center (GCMRC) 

▪ Presentation(s) and Q&A (60 minutes)

Purpose: To provide a summary of the annual reporting meeting resource goal status for the following 

LTEMP objectives: hydropower and energy (Goal 4), sediment (Goal 7), archeological and cultural 

resources (Goal 1), riparian vegetation (Goal 11), recreational experience (Goal 6). 

4:30 MST 
(:15) PUBLIC COMMENT 

4:45 MST Closing Remarks/ADJOURN FOR THE DAY 

Glen Canyon Dam Adaptive Management Work Group 2 | Page 



           

 

 

 

 

       

 

    
 

   

 

 

  
 

 

  

 

  

    

  
 

        

 

 
        

   

  
 

     

 
    

    

          

  

 

   

 
    

    

 

    

  

 

        

    

 
    

      

 

             

           

  

 

 

 

  

 

   

  
    

    

 

          

Glen Canyon Dam Adaptive Management Program 

Adaptive Management Work Group Meeting, February 25-26, 2026 

Hilton Garden Inn, Tempe, AZ 

Thursday, February 26, 2026

Register Here for Day 2: 

February AMWG Mtg Day 2 | Meeting-Join | Microsoft Teams 

DRAFT AGENDA 

START 

TIME 1 

(Duration) 

Thursday, February 26, 2026 

Topic, Presenter, and Purpose² 

8:30 MST 
(:30) 

Welcome and Administrative: Andrea Travnicek, Secretary’s Designee to the Adaptive 

Management Work Group 

▪ Introductions and Determination of Quorum (13 members)

o Facilitator: Becki Bryant

9:00 MST 
(:15) 

Dragon Bravo Fire Update: NPS 

▪ Presentation (10 minutes)

▪ Discussion (5 minutes)

Purpose: Update on impacts of the 2025 Dragon Bravo fire. 

9:15 MST 

(:15) 

Budget Planning Overview: Kathleen Callister, Reclamation 

▪ Presentation (10 minutes)

▪ Discussion (5 minutes)

Purpose: Update on budget process 

9:30 MST 

(:30) 

Technical Work Group Chair Report and FY27 Workplan Process: Seth Shanahan, 

Technical Work Group Chair 

▪ Presentation (20 minutes)

▪ Q&A and discussion (10 minutes)

Purpose: To update AMWG members on the TWG Meetings held since August 2025 AMWG meeting 

and to seek direction from AMWG on priorities in for the upcoming year. 

10:00 MST 

(:15) BREAK 

10:15 MST 

(:30) 

Hydropower workshop: Seth Cohen, Udall 

▪ Presentation (15 minutes)

▪ Discussion (15 minutes)

Purpose: To provide a summary of the outcomes of the September 2025 hydropower workshop. 

Glen Canyon Dam Adaptive Management Work Group 3 | Page 

https://events.gcc.teams.microsoft.com/event/391fc2d6-d1a5-44e6-8748-4df4138934d6@0693b5ba-4b18-4d7b-9341-f32f400a5494
https://www.usbr.gov/uc/progact/amp/twg.html


           

 

 

  

 

  

 
 

    

    

 

          

           

  

 

 

 

  
 

      

 
     

       

    

  

 

       

                  

  

  

 

     

 

          

           

          

 

             

  

 

 

      

 

  

  

  

  
  

  

    

 
              

  

  

 

  

10:45 MST 

(:60) 

Knowledge Workshops/10-year review: Bill Stewart and Jeremy Hammen, Reclamation, 

Seth Cohen, Udall 

▪ Presentation (30 minutes) 

▪ Discussion (30 minutes) 

Purpose: To provide AMWG members with an update on planning for the knowledge workshops and 

the 10-year LTEMP review, and to gather input on information needs for the April fish workshop. 

11:45 MST 

(:75) LUNCH 

1:00 MST 
(:45) 

Nonnative Strategic Plan Action updates: SBAHG chair, GMCRC, Reclamation, NPS 

▪ Presentations and Q&A (45 mins) 

• Status of smallmouth bass monitoring 

• Slough modification update 

• Temperature control 

Additional Information: GCDAMP Nonnative Fish Strategic Plan 

Purpose: This is a synthesis of the actions taking place in and outside of the program related to the 

GCDAMP Nonnative Fish Strategic Plan. 

1:45 MST 

(:30) 

Stakeholder Updates (2-3 minutes each): 

▪ States: ADWR, AZGFD, CA, CO, NM, NV, UT, WY 

▪ Tribes: Hopi, Hualapai, Navajo Nation, Pueblo of Zuni, Southern Paiute 

▪ NGOs: Environmental (x2), Federal Power Purchasers (x2), Recreation (x2) 

Purpose: To share general updates regarding current stakeholder activities on the Colorado River that 

are pertinent to the GCDAMP. 

2:15 MST 

(:30) 

Federal Agency Updates (2-3 minutes each): 

▪ USGS 

▪ USFWS 

▪ USBR 

▪ NPS 
▪ BIA 

▪ WAPA 

▪ DOI Solicitors Office 

Purpose: To share general updates regarding current activities on the Colorado River that are pertinent 

to the GCDAMP. 

2:45 MST 

(:15) 

PUBLIC COMMENT 

Glen Canyon Dam Adaptive Management Work Group 4 | Page 

https://www.usbr.gov/uc/progact/amp/amwg/2023-02-16-amwg-meeting/20230216-InvasiveFishSpeciesBelowGlenCanyonDam-508-UCRO.pdf


           

 

 

  
 

        

 

    

 

 
 

 

            

  

  

 

                    

  

                        

  

 

3:00 MST 
(:15) 

WRAP-UP: Andrea Travnicek, Secretary’s Designee to the Adaptive Management Work 

Group 

▪ Next AMWG Meeting May 13, 2026 (half day virtual) 

3:15 MST 
ADJOURN 

Please fill out the meeting evaluation before you leave for the day! 

1 Every effort will be made to adhere to the schedule and agenda, but on occasion, for unforeseen reasons, some modifications 

may occur. 

2 Action may be by consensus or a vote; and either may be a recommendation to the Secretary of the Interior or feedback to 

presenter(s) or to subordinate groups. 

Glen Canyon Dam Adaptive Management Work Group 5 | Page 



Intentional left blank 



Fi
na

l M
in

ut
es

 &
 A

ct
io

n 
Ite

m
s 



 
  
Intentionally left blank  































   
  

   
 

 

 

 
   

 
 

    
  

 
  

  
  

  
  

  

 
 

  

 
 

 
 
 

 
  

 
  

  

    

  

 

  

  

 

 
 

 

GLEN CANYON DAM ADAPTIVE MANAGEMENT WORK GROUP 

Action Item Tracking Report 

Note: Items marked “Closed” will be removed from the next iteration of the report. 

ITEM 

NO. / 
DATE 

ACTION ITEM 

ASSIGNED 

TO / DUE 

DATE 

STATUS 

It
e
m

 2
0
17

.S
e
p

.0
1 At its next meeting, AMWG will consider a process for planning 

for the next 20 years of LTEMP. 
February 2018 update: This will be addressed through the 
development of monitoring metrics and by the streamlining 
of GCDAMP guiding documents as described in the LTEMP 
ROD. 

August 2019 Update: This action item will move forward as 
directed and informed by the Guidance Memo issued by the 
Secretary’s Designee in August 2019. 

May 2020 Update: The draft FY21-23 budget and workplan 
includes funding support to develop and track monitoring 
metrics and and to streamline guidance documents. Beginning 
Oct 20, Reclamation and GCMRC will initiate review of the 
LTEMP FEIS metrics. This work will be a focus for FY21, 
but will likely be ongoing through the FY21-23 TWP. 
… 
May 2021 Update: GCMRC and Reclamation are working to 
define the scope of the metrics development effort, propose a 
list of existing and new metrics for consideration, and develop 
criteria to evaluate the metrics. Will seek Secretary’s Designee 
input and TWG feedback on proposed plan later in 2021. 

August 2021 Update: A draft project plan, including 
objectives and timeline, was distributed in early June 2021 for 
review and input. GCMRC is addressing TWG comments. A 
status update will be presented during the August AMWG 
meeting and member feedback requested. 

February 2022 Update: The GCMRC developed several draft 
metrics and pilot presentations concurrently with the 2021 
Annual Report. The draft metrics are currently in review with 
DOI bureaus and leadership, prior to further review and 
discussion by the Technical Work Group. 

May 2022 Update: The GCMRC developed several draft 
metrics and pilot presentations concurrently with the 2022 
Annual Report. The draft metrics are currently in review with 

Reclamation 
/ ongoing 

Open 

AMWG Action Item Tracking Report Updated 1 May 2022 
Questions or Updates? Contact Reclamation at bor-sha-ucr-gcdamp@usbr.gov 

https://www.usbr.gov/uc/progact/amp/twg/2021-06-17-twg-meeting/20210617-MonitoringMetrics-DraftPlan-508-UCRO.pdf
mailto:bor-sha-ucr-gcdamp@usbr.gov


  

   
  

 

 
   

 
 

 

    

 

    

 
 

    

 

    

 
 

    

 
 

    

 

   
 

     

   
   
  

 

P a g e | 2 

ITEM 

NO. / 
DATE 

ACTION ITEM 

ASSIGNED 

TO / DUE 

DATE 

STATUS 

DOI bureaus and leadership, prior to further review and 
discussion by the Technical Work Group. 

Aug 2022 update: The GCMRC developed several draft 
metrics and distributed for AMP review. Stakeholders 
revisted the GCDAMP guiding principles on the 2022 
Stakeholder River Trip. 

Feb 2023 update: The GCMRC developed several draft 
metrics and presented at the 2023 Annual Reporting Meeting. 
Rollout to the GCDAMP website is planned for 2023 after 
DOI meetings. 

May 2023 update: The GCMRC developed several draft 
metrics and presented at the 2023 Annual Reporting Meeting. 
Rollout to the GCDAMP website is planned for 2023 after 
DOI meetings. 

August 2023 update: The GCMRC is finalizing monitoring 
metrics report. Developed several draft metrics and presented 
at the 2023 Annual Reporting Meeting. Rollout of individual 
metrics to the GCDAMP website will begin in late 2023/early 
2024. 

Feb 2024 update: The GCMRC is presenting metrics and this 
Feb AMWG meeting. Will be used to guide the 2025-2027 
TWP process. Rollout of individual metrics to the GCDAMP 
website will begin in 2024. 

May 2024 update: BR and USGS met in early May to discuss 
path forward. There are two metrics that need additional 
conversations (tribal and hydropower) and we will be working 
with partners to finalize metrics by February 2025 AMWG 
meeting. A status update will be provided at August AMWG 
meeting. 

August 2024 update: No new updates from May 

August 2025 update: Metrics are complete and GCMRC is 
going through the review process before metrics report will 
be distributed.  GCMRC will be presenting the metrics during 
this AMWG meeting.  Additionally GCMRC is near 
finializing the 2024 annual report that has been reorganized to 

AMWG Action Item Tracking Report Updated 13 August 2025 
Questions or Updates? Contact Reclamation at bor-sha-ucr-gcdamp@usbr.gov 

mailto:bor-sha-ucr-gcdamp@usbr.gov


  

   
  

 

 
   

 
 

 
  

 
   

 

 

 

     

 
 

     

  
 

    
 

  
  

     

 
 

  

     

 

  

P a g e | 3 

ITEM 

NO. / 
DATE 

ACTION ITEM 

ASSIGNED 

TO / DUE 

DATE 

STATUS 

report out on these metrics.  Report out on metrics as part of 
the annual reports will be the practive moving forward. 

February 2026 update: Metrics have been finalized and 
GCMRC is going through the review process before 
description of the metrics report will be distributed. GCMRC 
will be presenting the metrics during the AMWG meeting. 
GCMRC finalized and distributed the GCMRC 2024 metric 
annual report in December. GCMRC provided metric posters 
at the 2025 Annual Reporting Meeting on February 3-4, 2026. 

It
e
m

 2
0
2
0
.D

e
c
.2

2 In accordance with the 2021-2023 Triennial Budget and Work Plan 

All / onging Closed 

approved by the Secretary of the Interior on December 22, 2020: 
“Due to uncertainties in future funding levels, prioritization of 
projects outlined in the FY2021-2023 TWP is necessary and will 
be undertaken by the GCDAMP during FY2021. Project 
priorities may change over time based on hydrology, resource 
conditions, evolving scientific understanding and uncertainties, 
administration objectives and other factors.” 

February 2022 update: DOI Bureaus have identified high priority 
activities that support compliance with GCPA, NHPA, ESA, and 
NEPA. Following review by DOI leadership, Feb/Mar 2022 is 
targeted for sharing with the Budget Ad Hoc Group.  

May 2022 update: DOI Bureaus have identified high priority 
activities that support compliance with GCPA, NHPA, ESA, and 
NEPA. Following review by DOI leadership, distribution is 
targeted for sharing with the Budget Ad Hoc Group by 
development of the next TWP. 

August 2022 and February 2023 updates: DOI Bureaus have 
identified high priority activities that support compliance with 
GCPA, NHPA, ESA, and NEPA. Prioritization information will 
be shared with the Budget Ad Hoc Group in table form during 
BAHG discussions in 2023. 

May 2023 updates: DOI Bureaus have identified high priority 
activities that support compliance with GCPA, NHPA, ESA, and 
NEPA. Prioritization information will be shared with the Budget 
Ad Hoc Group as we prepare for the next triennial workplan 
FY25-27. 

August 2023 updates: DOI Bureaus have identified high priority 
activities that support compliance with GCPA, NHPA, ESA, and 
NEPA. Prioritization information will be shared with the Budget 

AMWG Action Item Tracking Report Updated 13 August 2025 
Questions or Updates? Contact Reclamation at bor-sha-ucr-gcdamp@usbr.gov 

https://www.usbr.gov/uc/progact/amp/pdfs/20201216-ReportRecomendationsSecretaryInterior-508-UCRO.pdf
mailto:bor-sha-ucr-gcdamp@usbr.gov


  

   
  

 

 
   

 
 

 
 

     

 

   

   

  
  

 

   

 
 

 
 

 

 

P a g e | 4 

ITEM 

NO. / 
DATE 

ACTION ITEM 

ASSIGNED 

TO / DUE 

DATE 

STATUS 

Ad Hoc Group in winter 2023/2024 as we prepare for the next 
triennial workplan FY25-27. 

Feb 2024 updates: DOI Bureaus have identified high priority 
activities that support compliance with GCPA, NHPA, ESA, and 
NEPA. Prioritization information will be used to help screen 
projects as we prepare for the next triennial workplan FY25-27. 

May 2024 updates: Compliance is being considered as part of the 
current triennial work plan process to help.  

August 2024 updates: A motion was passed at the August 8th 

TWG meeting recommending the Triennial Workplan and 
Budget to AMWG.  High priority activities including required 
compliance are incorporated into the workplan. 

August 2025 updates: TWP was passed in August 2024 and this 
item has been closed 

It
e
m

 2
0
2
2
.A

u
g

.1
8 The Secretary’s Designee proposed for the GCDAMP to 

undertake activities to address the following five action areas: 

1) Evaluation of High-flow Experiments under Low-
elevations/Low-flows. 

2) Evaluation of Downstream Resource Impacts under 
Low-Elevations/Low-flows. 

3) Continue drafting Nonnative Fish Strategic Plan. 
4) NEPA Compliance for Operational Flexibilities to 

Address Nonnative Fish 
5) Planning to Evaluate Exclusion Projects. 

February 2023 update: 
1) GCMRC provided analysis to the GCDAMP via email and 
at the 2023 ARM, 2) Evaulation is being completed through 
SEIS analysis/modeling, 3) A draft was provided to AMWG 
by TWG for consideration, 4) a draft EA prepared by 
Reclamation, and 5) an engineering team assembled a subject 
matter expert panel and is pursuing design of a forebay net 
barrier. 

May 2023 update: 
1) GCMRC provided analysis to the GCDAMP via email and 
at the 2023 ARM, 2) Evaulation is being completed through 
SEIS analysis/modeling, 3) Strategic plan was recommended 
to the Secretary of the Interior for Adoption, 4) a draft EA 

GCMRC, 
Reclamation 

, TWG / 
February 

2023 

Open 

AMWG Action Item Tracking Report Updated 13 August 2025 
Questions or Updates? Contact Reclamation at bor-sha-ucr-gcdamp@usbr.gov 

https://www.usbr.gov/uc/progact/amp/amwg/2022-08-18-amwg-meeting/20220818-AMWGTruthsProposedActionsSecretarysDesignee-508-UCRO.pdf
mailto:bor-sha-ucr-gcdamp@usbr.gov


P a g e | 5 

ITEM 

NO. / 
DATE 

ACTION ITEM 

ASSIGNED 

TO / DUE 

DATE 

STATUS 

prepared by Reclamation, and 5) an engineering team 
assembled a subject matter expert panel and is pursuing design 
of a forebay net barrier. 

August 2023 update: 
1) GCMRC provided analysis to the GCDAMP via email and 
at the 2023 ARM.  The TWG through the FLAHG is 
developing a proposal to address sediment accounting and 
implementation. 2) Evaulation is being completed through 
SEIS analysis/modeling, 3) Completed 4) draft EA was 
prepared and is now being transitioned into a supplemental 
EIS to LTEMP, and 5) an engineering team assembled a 
subject matter expert panel and is investigating design option 
for a forebay net barrier. 

Feb 2024 update: 
1) Completed. 2) Evaulation is being completed through SEIS 
analysis/modeling, 3) Strategic plan was recommended to the 
Secretary of the Interior for Adoption.  This task is complete 
and implementation updates are being provided at TWG and 
AMWG meetings, 4) draft LTEMP SEIS is out for public 
review, and 5) the TSC is expected to have a final appraisal 
level report on a fish exclusion net and thermal curtain. 
Relcamation intends to hold a value planning study to further 
design consiterations. 

May 2024 update: 
1) Completed. 2) Evaulation is being completed through SEIS 
analysis/modeling, 3) Strategic plan was recommended to the 
Secretary of the Interior for Adoption.  This task is complete 
and implementation updates are being provided at TWG and 
AMWG meetings, 4) final LTEMP SEIS and ROD is expected 
in May/June, and 5) the TSC is expected to have a final 
appraisal level report on a fish exclusion net and thermal 
curtain.  Relcamation intends to hold a value planning study in 
July to further design consiterations. 

August 2024 update: 
1) Completed. 2) Completed: Evaulation of sownstream 
resource impacts under Low-Elevations/Low-flows was 
evaluate in the near term Colorado river operations SEIS, 3) 
Completed: Strategic plan was recommended to the Secretary 
of the Interior for Adoption.  This task is complete and 

  

   
  

 

 
   

 
 

  
 

 
 

  

 
 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

  
 

 
  

 

AMWG Action Item Tracking Report Updated 13 August 2025 
Questions or Updates? Contact Reclamation at bor-sha-ucr-gcdamp@usbr.gov 

mailto:bor-sha-ucr-gcdamp@usbr.gov


P a g e | 6 

ITEM 

NO. / 
DATE 

ACTION ITEM 

ASSIGNED 

TO / DUE 

DATE 

STATUS 

implementation updates are being provided at TWG and 
AMWG meetings, 4) Completed: final LTEMP SEIS and 
ROD was signed on July 3rd, and 5) In Progress: 
Relcamation conducted a value planning study in July and 
upon completion of the report will provide an update to 
AMWG and TWG members 

August 2025 update: 
1) Completed. 2) Completed: Evaulation of sownstream 
resource impacts under Low-Elevations/Low-flows was 
evaluate in the near term Colorado river operations SEIS, 3) 
Completed: Strategic plan was recommended to the Secretary 
of the Interior for Adoption.  This task is complete and 
implementation updates are being provided at TWG and 
AMWG meetings, 4) Completed: final LTEMP SEIS and 
ROD was signed on July 3rd, and 5) In Progress: 
Relcamation completed a value planning study in Oct 2024. 
An ongoing biofouling study is underway to investigate how 
quagga mussels will impact different material types/coatings. 

February 2026 update: 1) Completed. 2) Completed: 
Evaulation of sownstream resource impacts under Low-
Elevations/Low-flows was evaluate in the near term Colorado 
river operations SEIS, 3) Completed: Strategic plan was 
recommended to the Secretary of the Interior for Adoption.  
This task is complete and implementation updates are being 
provided at TWG and AMWG meetings, 4) Completed: final 
LTEMP SEIS and ROD was signed on July 3rd, and 5) In 
Progress: Relcamation completed a value planning study in 
Oct 2024.  An ongoing biofouling study is underway to 
investigate how quagga mussels will impact different material 
types/coatings. 

  

   
  

 

 
   

 
 

 
  

     
 

 

  
  

 

  
 

 

  

 
  

  
 

  

 
 

AMWG Action Item Tracking Report Updated 13 August 2025 
Questions or Updates? Contact Reclamation at bor-sha-ucr-gcdamp@usbr.gov 

mailto:bor-sha-ucr-gcdamp@usbr.gov


 
Su

pp
le

m
en

ta
l M

at
er

ia
ls 



  Intentionally Left Blank 



 
 

    

 

   

  

   

   

 

   

    

   

     

   

   

 

   

   

 

     

   

   

     

 

   

     

  

   

 

  

     

   

   

   

     

 

   

  

  

 

    

   

GCDAMP & Other Meetings in 2026 
Proposed 

Days Dates Meeting Comments 

JANUARY 

Th Jan 1 New Years Day 

W Jan UCBLT all day 

M Jan 19 Martin Luther King Holiday 

Tu-W Jan 27-28 UCRIP Researcher’s Meeting 

FEBRUARY 

T-W Feb 3-4 Annual Reporting Meeting – Little America, Flagstaff 

Th Feb 5 TWG Meeting – Little America, Flagstaff 

M Feb 16 President’s Day Holiday 
Tu Feb 24 DOI Federal Family Meeting – Hilton Garden Inn 

W-Th Feb 25-26 AMWG Meeting – Hilton Garden Inn, Tempe 

Th Feb 26 MSCP Financial WG mtg 

MARCH 

Sun Mar 8 Daylight Savings (begins) 

Th Mar Flaming Gorge WG 

APRIL 

Tu-W Apr 7-8 TWG Meeting – Little America Could be 1-day TWG 

Th Apr 9 Knowledge Workshop 2-days workshop 

W Apr UCBLT all day 

W Apr 22 MSCP Steering Committee meeting 

MAY 

Tu-W May 5-6 MSCP work group 

W May 13 AMWG Webinar - Virtual 

W-Th May 13-14 Salinity WG Mtg 

M May 25 Memorial Day Holiday 

JUNE 

M-F Jun 1-5 Salinity Forum and Advisory Council 

Tu-W Jun 9-10 TWG Meeting - GCMRC Could be 1-day TWG 

Th Jun 11 Knowledge Workshop 2-days workshop 

Sun Jun 14 Flag Day 

F Jun 19 Juneteenth Holiday 

W June 24 MSCP Steering Committee meeting 

JULY 

Sat Jul 4 Independence Day Holiday 

W Jul UCBLT all day 

Th Jul WAPA/CREDA mtg 

AUGUST 

Tu Aug 19 DOI Federal Family Meeting – Little America 

W-Th Aug 20-21 AMWG Meeting – Little America, Flagstaff 



    

   

   

 

   

 

  

   

    

     

   

  

 

   

   

   

 

   

Days Dates Meeting Comments 

M-F Aug 17-21 First week of school - Utah 

M-F Aug Fall semester starts at NAU – Flagstaff, AZ 

SEPTEMBER 

M Sep 7 Labor Day Holiday 

OCTOBER 

W Oct UBCLT all day 

M Oct 12 Columbus Day 

W Oct 14 MSCP Steering Committee meeting 

Tu-W Oct 20-21 TWG Meeting – Virtual/TBD Could be 1-day TWG 

Th Oct 22 Knowledge Workshop 2-days workshop 

M-F Oct 26-30 Salinity Forum & Advisory Council Mtgs 

NOVEMBER 

Su Nov 1 Daylight Savings (ends) 

W Nov 11 Veteran’s Day Holiday 
Th Nov 26 Thanksgiving Holiday 

DECEMBER 

Th Dec 25 Christmas Day Holiday 



 

 
    

 

   

  

  

   

   

 

   

    

   

     

   

  

 

   

   

 

      

     

   

    

 

  

     

 

   

 

  

    

   

   

    

 

   

  

  

 

    

   

GCDAMP & Other Meetings in 2027 

Proposed 
Days Dates Meeting Comments 

JANUARY 

F Jan 1 New Years Day 

W Jan UCBLT all day 

W-Th Jan 6-7 CRAB Meeting 

M Jan 18 Martin Luther King Holiday 

Tu-W Jan 26-27 UCRIP Researcher’s Meeting 

FEBRUARY 

T-W Feb 2-3 Annual Reporting Meeting – TBD 

Th Feb 4 TWG Meeting – TBD 

M Feb 16 President’s Day Holiday 
Tu Feb 23 DOI Federal Family Meeting – Hilton Garden Inn 

W-Th Feb 24-25 AMWG Meeting – Hilton Garden Inn, Tempe 

Th Feb MSCP Financial WG mtg 

MARCH 

Sun Mar 14 Daylight Savings (begins) 

Th Mar Flaming Gorge WG 

APRIL 

Tu-W Apr 6-7 TWG Meeting – TBD High Country CC??? 

Th Apr 8 Knowledge Workshop 

W Apr UCBLT all day 

W Apr MSCP Steering Committee meeting 

MAY 

Tu-W May MSCP work group 

W May 12 AMWG Webinar - Virtual 

W-Th May Salinity WG Mtg 

M May 31 Memorial Day Holiday 

JUNE 

M-F Jun 1-5 Salinity Forum and Advisory Council 

Tu-W Jun 8-9 TWG Meeting - TBD 

M Jun 14 Flag Day 

Sat Jun 19 Juneteenth Holiday 

W June MSCP Steering Committee meeting 

JULY 

Sat Jul 4 Independence Day Holiday 

W Jul UCBLT all day 

Th Jul WAPA/CREDA mtg 

AUGUST 

Tu Aug 17 DOI Federal Family Meeting – Grand Canyon 

W-Th Aug 18-19 AMWG Meeting – Grand Canyon 



    

   

   

 

   

 

  

   

   

     

 

 

   

   

   

 

   

Days 

M-F 

M-F 

M 

W 

M 

W 

Tu-W 

M-F 

Su 

Th 

Th 

Sa 

Dates 

Aug 16-20 

Aug 

Sep 7 

Oct 

Oct 12 

Oct 

Oct 19-20 

Nov 1 

Nov 11 

Nov 25 

Dec 25 

Meeting 

First week of school - Utah 

Fall semester starts at NAU – Flagstaff, AZ 

SEPTEMBER 

Labor Day Holiday 

OCTOBER 

UBCLT all day 

Columbus Day 

MSCP Steering Committee meeting 

TWG Meeting – Virtual/TBD 

Salinity Forum & Advisory Council Mtgs 

NOVEMBER 

Daylight Savings (ends) 

Veteran’s Day Holiday 
Thanksgiving Holiday 

DECEMBER 

Christmas Day Holiday 

Comments 

Or Oct 26-27??? 



( )
(

*
( )

( ) ( )

( ) ( )

( )

( )

Approximate Timelines for the Development and Implementation of the TWP  Table 1  and  
Criteria for Review and Revisions  Section 2.7)   

Table 1. Approximate timelines for the development and implementation of the TWP. Dates shown  
are estimated targets. Dates are shown which implement the 2025-27 TWP for reference.   

Month  Year-1  2024   
development of TWP   Year-2  2025   

December  
(year prior)   

GCMRC and Reclamation produces annual project reports  
document for GCDAMP review.  

  

  
  

January  

Annual reporting meeting and information synthesis  2 days   
followed by 1-day TWG meeting to review budget and provide  
initial guidance to GCMRC and Reclamation. TWG reviews  
progress in addressing Information Needs and research  
accomplishments.  

Annual reporting meeting  1-2 days   
followed by 1-day TWG meeting with  
a primary emphasis on reporting  
results/findings/scientific advances on  
previous work plan.  

  
  

February  

GCMRC meets with tribes and DOI agencies. GCMRC follow-  
up with BAHG on priorities and areas of emphasis on TWP.  
GCMRC meets with cooperators to develop projects. AMWG  
meeting to discuss initial priorities. DOI and Federal family  
input.  

  

  
March  

GCMRC and Reclamation will develop an initial TWP based on  
DOI priorities and input from scientists, the TWG, and  
DOI/DOE family. Initial TWP presented to DOI and Secretary’s  
Designee.  

  

  
  

April  

GCMRC meets with tribes and DOI agencies. April TWG  
meeting to consider draft TWP, including anticipated funding  
sources. Unresolved issues or conflicting priorities will be  
resolved by DOI in consultation with the DOI Family. GCMRC  
begins development of second draft TWP.  

BAHG and TWG considers potential  
changes to the Fiscal Year 2 TWP  
based on criteria in section 2.7.  

  
May  

GCMRC and Reclamation provide a second draft TWP to the  
BAHG, Science Advisors, DOI agencies, and tribes for their  
review and comment. GCMRC meets with tribes, BAHG, to get  
input on TWP. GCMRC develops third draft of TWP.  

  

  
June  

GCMRC and Reclamation finish third draft for review. TWG  
meets to provide input on the draft GCMRC and Reclamation  
TWP and provide a recommendation to the AMWG.  

TWG recommends Fiscal Year 2  
2026  budget of TWP to AMWG.  

July  GCMRC and Reclamation provide a final draft TWP to the  
AMWG for their review.  

  

  
August  

AMWG meets to provide input on the GCMRC and  
Reclamation draft TWP and provide a recommendation to the  
SOI.  

AMWG recommends Fiscal Year 2  
2026  budget of TWP to SOI.  

September  SOI reviews the budget and work plan recommendation from  
AMWG.  

  

October 1  Fiscal Year 1 begins under the TWP guidance.  Fiscal Year 2 begins under the TWP  
guidance.  

November 1  Consumer Price Index becomes available.    

Late  
November  

Science and management meeting with DOI and cooperators.  Science and management meeting  
with DOI and cooperators.  

December  Budget is finalized. USGS produces GCMRC annual project  
reports document for prior year work.  

GCMRC produces annual project  
reports document.  

  Page 1  



(

( ) ( )

)

( )

( )

*

Table 1  continued) . Approximate timelines for the development and implementation of the TWP.  
Dates shown are estimated targets. Dates in parentheses are shown which implement the 2025-27  
TWP cycle for reference.  

Month  Year-3  2026   Year-4  2027   

  
January  

Annual reporting meeting and information synthesis ( 2 days   
followed by 1-day TWG meeting to review initial results and  
findings of TWP. Potential TWP changes may be identified.  

Process starts again under year 1.  

February  BAHG/agencies/tribes meetings to consider mid-work plan  
adjustments to TWP, February through March.  

  

March      

  
April  

Consider mid-work plan adjustments at TWG meeting.  
BAHG and TWG considers potential changes to the Fiscal Year  
3 TWP based on criteria in section 2.7.  

  

May      

June  TWG considers and recommends mid-work plan adjustments to  
TWP and a recommendation for Fiscal Year 3  2027  budget.  

  

July      

  
August  

AMWG meets and considers mid-work plan adjustments to  
TWP recommended by TWG and recommends Fiscal Year 3  
2027  budget to the SOI.  

  

September      

October 1  Fiscal Year 3 begins under the TWP guidance.    

November  
1  

Consumer Price Index becomes available.    

Late  
November  

Science and management meeting with DOI and cooperators.  
New TWP development meeting within DOI.  

  

December  USGS produces GCMRC annual project reports document for  
prior year work.  

  

  
 Table 1 calendar years have been updated to reflect development of the 2025-2027 Triennial Work Plan.  

  Page 2  



 

( )

( )

(

(

2.7 Criteria for Review and Revisions of the Budget and Work Plan 

In order for the TWP process to be successful in reducing the administrative burden on the  
GCMRC, Reclamation, and the GCDAMP, it must have clear criteria for making changes to the  
budget and work plan. Revisions of the year two budget are intended to be limited to unexpected  
changes due to a scientific requirement or merit, or administrative needs. Year three changes may  
be more substantive according to the guidelines below. The individual steps of the process,  
including roughly when meetings should occur and their objectives, are provided in Table 1. The  
burden of an appropriate rationale for proposing a change falls upon the proposer to make a  
persuasive argument to the TWG and AMWG. The following criteria will be used by GCMRC,  
Reclamation, and TWG in making recommendations to AMWG on changes to the budget and work 
plan:  

Scientific requirement or merit: New information gained during the implementation of 
monitoring and research projects may result in a need to alter methods, scope, or timelines in  
the work plan or substantially alter or eliminate a project. This is a science need based on the 
experience of implementing an already approved project. This does not represent a shifting  
priority  e.g., policy change , but a scientific learning process which results in needed  
modifications to carry out the goals of the Program.  

Administrative needs: Administrative, policy, or programmatic changes may occur within the 
time-frame of an approved TWP. Examples might include the mitigation of an impact  
resulting from ESA, NHPA, or tribal consultation, a change in the “overhead” charges of a  
federal or state agency, a significant reduction of the balance of available funds, or a failure  
to secure permits.. As soon as an administrative event occurs that affects the TWP, GCMRC 
or relevant agency – such as DOI  will notify the TWG.  

New initiatives: New initiatives may be brought up for discussion by members during. 
BAHG or TWG budget discussions (see Table 1)  for consideration by Reclamation and  
GCMRC. These new initiatives may need to be considered by the GCDAMP Program  
Manager prior to requesting either GCMRC or Reclamation to develop a proposal for mid-  
work plan consideration. If DOI determines it is beyond the scope of a mid-work plan  
change, then the initiative could be considered during the development of the next work  
plan. Given that the budget will likely be fully accounted for, direction on funding source  
within the current budget will be required for discussion with the GCDAMP Program  
Manager. Revisions must comply with the Budget Principles  see Section 2.1) .  

Page 3 



 Intentionally Left Blank 



 

United States Department of the Interior 
OFFICE OF THE SECRETARY 

Washington, DC 20240 

AUG 1 4 2019 

MEMORANDUM 

To: Brent Esplin, Designated Federal Officer, Bureau of Reclamation 
Regional Director, Upper Colorado Region 

Kathleen Callister, Resources Management Division Manager, Bureau of Reclamation 
Upper Colorado Region 

Scott VanderKooi, Chief, Grand Canyon Monitoring and Research Center (GCMRC) 
U.S. Geological Survey (USGS) 

From: Timothy R. Petty, Ph.D. ~~~~ 
Secretary's Designee / //'( / 
Assistant Secretary for Water a 1ence · 

Subject: Glen Canyon Dam Adaptive Management Program Guidance 

The Colorado River faces many challenges in the coming years, especially with an ongoing 
drought now in its 19th year. As such, it is impo11ant that the Glen Canyon Dam Adaptive 
Management Program (GCDAMP) is managed in such a way as to ensure consistency with the 
Grand Canyon Protection Act (GCPA) and the priorities of the Secretary of the Interior, and in 
accordance with the Law of the Colorado River and the Glen Canyon Dam Long Term 
Experimental and Management Plan (LTEMP) Record of Decision (ROD) and Final 
Environmental Impact Statement (FEIS). 

The GCDAMP plays a central role in ensuring compliance with multiple laws associated with 
the operation of Glen Canyon Dam. It provides a process for cooperative integration ofdam 
operations, downstream resource protection and management, and monitoring and research. 
Under the GCPA, Reclamation and GCMRC conduct research and monitoring and consult with 
specific stakeholders on that research and monitoring. The Adaptive Management Working 
Group (AMWG), a Federal Advisory Committee, is the vehicle through which Reclamation 
accomplishes this consultation. The AMWG also makes recommendations to the Secretary per 
the LTEMP ROD. 

LTEMP Implementation 

The primary guiding documents for the GCDAMP will continue to be the LTEMP FEIS and 
ROD, which provide the framework for adaptively managing Glen Canyon Dam operations and 
management actions associated with downstream resources through 203 7. This program 
guidance document will help ensure continuity and continued successes within the GCDAMP 
under the current administration and in the years to come. The priorities identified in the 
L TEMP ROD for the GCDAMP are as follows: 



• Management and Experimental Actions 
• Mitigation and Environmental Commitments 
• Research and Monitoring 

In addition, the Department of the Interior (Interior) has recently prioritized the responsible 
development and production of renewable energy on federal lands. To this end, I encourage the 
GCDAMP to work within the LTEMP framework to seek ways to improve the value of the 
hydropower resource. This work may include continued engagement with Project N of the 
GCDAMP Fiscal Years (FY) 2018-20 Triennial Workplan (TWP) and with interested AMWG 
stakeholders regarding the current science and policy regarding dam operations. 

Updating Guidance Documents 

I direct Reclamation, USGS, and other Interior agencies to work with the AMWG to update the 
GCDAMP guiding documents to reflect and be fully consistent with the priorities outlined in the 
LTEMP FEIS Section 1.4 and emphasized in Section 6.l(c) of the LTEMP ROD. These guiding 
documents include the GCDAMP strategic plan, vision, mission, and chaiier. 

With the challenges faced in FY 2018 regarding funding for the GCDAMP and the need to 
ensure appropriations are requested through the federal budget process, Interior supports 
continuing with the three-year workplan and budget process. The current FY 2018-20 
GCDAMP TWP and budget process demonstrated that it can improve program efficiency by 
reducing the time and effort spent on annually developing a workplan and budget. The 
GCDAMP should continue to review the TWP annually to ensure it meets the priorities and 
goals of the GCPA and GCDAMP. 

The development of the TWP and budget for FY 2021-23 will commence in late FY 2019 and 
continue through FY 2020. Its development should include consultation with members of 
AMWG, who will recommend to the Secretary whether they support the planned projects and 
funding. Reclamation and GCMRC will take the lead in drafting the FY 2021-23 TWP. The 
TWP and budget should focus on compliance priorities including: 

• Maintaining dam releases consistent with applicable laws; 
• Activities associated with the Endangered Species Act; 
• Actions necessary for compliance with the National Historic Preservation Act; and 
• Research and monitoring as required by the Grand Canyon Protection Act. 

Activities that concern annual release volumes from Glen Canyon Dam-including discussion of 
Drought Contingency Planning and new negotiations of the Colorado River Interim Guidelines 
for Lower Basin Shortages and the Coordinated Operations for Lake Powell and Lake Mead­
will be underway in FY 2019 or in the coming years. The GCDAMP and AMWG guidance 
documents discussed here should consider any implications of these ongoing discussions. 

The LTEMP Scientific Monitoring Plan will continue to provide a framework for the scientific 
support needed to complete the monitoring and experimentation specified in the L TEMP FEIS 



and ROD. This plan will help ensure that long-term monitoring and research activities are 
aligned with the L TEMP FEIS and ROD and the GCDAMP decision making process. In 
accordance with the LTEMP ROD, the Science Plan will be reviewed every tln-ee years and may 
be updated as needed. The next review will occur in conjunction with the start of the next TWP 
development process in early FY 2020. Also, in accordance with the L TEMP ROD, specific 
details concerning the means to collect, analyze, and report information required to support 
development of recommendations by the AMWG and decision making by Interior will be 
included in the TWP. 

It is also important that the GCDAMP develops and implements monitoring metrics for the 
resource goals and objectives defined in the LTEMP ROD. Interior directs the AMWG to 
develop recommendations for these monitoring metrics to assist Interior in their development. 
The recommended metrics should build on existing L TEMP conservation measures, 
environmental and recreational goals, and other easily identifiable goals. As the process 
continues, additional goals can be developed. 

Future research proposed and undertaken by the GCDAMP should be tied directly to L TEMP 
resource goals and objectives and continue to be focused on providing the best available science 
such that decision making is science-based and continues to work towards ensuring benefits to as 
many resources downstream of the dam as possible. This should be done in a collaborative 
process involving AMWG and TWG members, the Science Advisors Program, and ad hoc 
groups as needed. Several areas to consider as identified by the GCDAMP partners include: 

• Evaluation of the threat posed by invasive non-native species. 
• Exploring vegetation management to benefit high value recreational beaches and protect 

vulnerable archaeological sites. 
• Considering impacts to hydropower as part of the development of a LTEMP experiments 

and study plans. 

Operating Criteria and Operational Flexibility 

The LTEMP ROD provides guidance for hourly, daily, and monthly releases (see, for example, 
Table 3, p. B-4). In accordance with the L TEMP ROD Attachment B Section 1.2 (Page B-7), I 
encourage Reclamation to continue to utilize operational flexibility at Glen Canyon Dam in 
response to varying hydrological and other resource-related conditions. As warranted, 
Reclamation, in consultation with Western Area Power Administration (W APA), should 
continue to make adjustments to hourly, daily, and monthly release volumes within the water 
year in response to operational, resource-related, and hydropower-related issues. 

In response to stakeholder input at recent AMWG meetings, the feasibility of conducting Spring 
High Flow Experiments (HFE), along with modeling for improvements and efficiencies that 
benefit resources including natural, cultural, recreational, and hydropower should be explored. 
As a potential starting point, I encourage you to consider opportunities to conduct higher spring 
releases within power plant capacity, along with spring HFEs that may be triggered under the 
cmTent L TEMP Protocol. 



Conclusion 

This guidance is not meant to be all encompassing or to preclude additional scientific 
investigations that can improve the resources downstream of Glen Canyon Dam that are 
consistent with the LTEMP. The GCDAMP should seek ways to continuously improve the 
program, including searching for efficiencies and improvements and listening to the States, 
Tribes, and other program stakeholders. 

The GCDAMP and AMWG are vital to ensuring Interior's responsibilities under the GCPA and 
the LTEMP ROD, and I greatly appreciate Reclamation, USGS, other Interior bureaus, and our 
external partners' dedication to ensuring Glen Canyon Dam is operated in a manner that protects, 
mitigates impacts to, and improves downstream resources. 



  

  

  
   

 
 

 
   

 
  

   

 

 
 

 

    
 

 

 

 
 

 
 

  
  

  
  

  
 
  

  
  

  
 

Secretary Designe Five Priorities for the GCDAMP from the August 2023 AMWG Meeting 

1. Evaluation of High-flow Experiments under Low-elevations/Low-flows – The first of the 
low-elevation/low flow actions is to task GCMRC with developing and presenting to the 
leadership team an analysis of how to optimize HFEs in the current environment. 
Specifically, this would include evaluating whether less-frequent/higher-flow HFEs are 
preferable to more-frequent/lower-flow HFEs in a low water environment. Among other 
issues, this evaluation may consider: What are the minimal frequency, flow, and duration 
that would be effective? Are there other alternatives to what we have considered for 
meeting the objectives of HFEs? How do we time and design HFEs to minimize the 
hydropower impacts? GCRMC is likely to be able to complete this analysis relatively 
quickly and with minimal budget impact as much of this has already been considered. If 
possible, we would seek this presentation before a decision needs to be made about 
implementing any HFE proposal that may be developed for 2022. 

2. Evaluation of Downstream Resource Impacts under Low-Elevations/Low-flows – The 
second of the LE/LF actions is to task GCMRC with developing a proposed schedule and 
budget for evaluating the potential downstream impacts to LTEMP resources of water 
surface elevation at Lake Powell dropping below minimum power pool and below dead 
pool for any period greater than three months. We would ask that the proposed schedule 
and budget be completed by October 15, 2022 to seek additional funding from 
Reclamation. GCMRC will need to coordinate with Reclamation modelers on results that 
may be available to blend into coupled-modeling activities. In other words, taking the 
CRMMS probabilistic results and using them in GCMRC’s temperature, water quality, and 
fish models to determine impacts for each resource under the Adaptive Management 
Program. 

3. Nonnative Fish Strategic Plan – The first of the non-native fish actions is simply to ask the 
TWG, GCMRC, and Reclamation to continue the draft non-native fish strategic planand 
have it ready for distribution as soon as possible. This includes incorporating the next 
steps and prioritizing activities, equipment, and budgets for short-, mid- and long-term 
actions as discussed during the first day of AMWG deliberations. In turn, these will be 
combined into future project management plans within the GCDAMP program. 

4. NEPA Compliance for Operational Flexibilities to Address Nonnative Fish – The second 
of the non-native fish actions is to task Reclamation with developing a project 
management plan that includes a budget and schedule for initiating a NEPA process 
associated for operational alternatives /actions to disadvantage SMB and other non-
native fish, which may require further refinement from GCMRC. We ask that the schedule 
be aimed at completing a NEPA decision document in time for possible implementation 
in the late spring/early summer of 2023. I encourage Reclamation to analyze the degree 
to which such compliance can be tiered off the LTEMP FEIS and ROD. It will be important 
to maintain a focused scope for this effort and to avoid inclusion of ancillary actions and 
issues to ensure the process can meet a possible spring/summer 2023 implementation. 
This NEPA analysis must not become a vehicle for addressing the range of concerns about 
the LTEMP FEIS and ROD, but should rather give us possible tools that we can implement 
in a timely manner to address the non-native fish challenges we are currently facing. I 
propose that the project management plan, be shared with the GCDAMP partners by 
October 14, 2022. 2 



 

    5. Planning to Evaluate Exclusion Projects – The third of the non-native fish actions is to 
task Reclamation with initiating a planning effort to evaluate options for avoiding 
entrainment of non-native fish resulting in a recommendation of options to be included 
in a feasibility study. The intent is to select the most effective option for excluding non-
native fish from establishing below Glen Canyon Dam. 

3 



 

      
   

 
            

  
  

      
              
   

  
   

    

           
  

    
  

  
  

   
 

 

            
              

 
         

  

  
   

    
   

      
     

  

Invasive Fish Species Below Glen Canyon Dam: 
A Strategic Plan to Prevent, Detect and 
Respond 
Developed by the Smallmouth Bass Ad Hoc Group, through the Technical Work Group of the 
Glen Canyon Dam Adaptive Management Program in partnership with the Grand Canyon 
Monitoring and Research Center and the Bureau of Reclamation 

Presented to the Glen Canyon Dam Adaptive Management Group 
Technical Work Group on January 26, 2023, and accepted by the Adaptive Management Work Group on 
February 16, 2023. 

Executive Summary 
This Strategic Plan (Plan) was written in response to the May 2022 Secretary of the Interior’s 
Designee’s (Designee) Directive to the Adaptive Management Work Group to provide a plan to 
‘...prevent, detect, and respond to cool- and warmwater invasive fish establishment below Glen 
Canyon Dam’. The Smallmouth Bass Ad Hoc Group was then convened to develop the Plan, as 
well as discuss the immediate concerns related to smallmouth bass which have been identified as 
the invasive fish species of most concern to humpback chub recovery and the health of the trout 
fishery as of fall 2022. To prevent the establishment of invasive fish species in the Colorado 
River ecosystem (CRe), a combination of long-term, mid-term, and short-term actions will be 
required. Entrainment through Glen Canyon Dam (GCD) is considered a primary source of 
invasion. The Lees Ferry reach is expected to be an initial point of establishment. Ultimately, the 
two approaches to prevent establishment within the Colorado River below GCD are (1) 
preventing fish passage through GCD, and (2) preventing establishment below the dam. 

Long-term actions should include the installation of a fish exclusion device at GCD, while 
mid-term actions identified in the Plan include targeted flow and temperature changes at GCD. 
Short-term rapid response actions are meant to be used in the interim to prevent widespread 
dispersal and establishment, while planning and implementation of mid- and long-term actions 
are underway. Actions should be implemented as experiments to allow for proper assessment and 
evaluation. Research and monitoring before, during, and after actions will provide data to 
evaluate the effectiveness. For example, monitoring for fish entrainment before and after 
installation of a fish exclusion device to assess passage through the dam will provide information 
on the effectiveness of the fish exclusionary device(s). The Glen Canyon Dam Adaptive 
Management Program (GCDAMP) should maintain the ability to discontinue actions, as the 
likelihood of success, cost-effectiveness, changing environmental conditions, and the ability to 
carry out actions may change. Discontinuation of measures (e.g., off-ramping) will require 
coordination amongst agencies and stakeholders. 

1 

https://www.usbr.gov/uc/progact/amp/amwg/2022-08-18-amwg-meeting/20220818-AMWG-ActionItemTrackingSheet-508-UCRO.pdf


 

 
          

 
     

  

           
       

        
  

  
           

              
               

  
 

To detect new occurrences of invasive fish species in the CRe, it is recommended to expand 
existing monitoring and conduct additional, targeted monitoring trips. This is described further in 
Attachment E. If target invasive fish(es) are detected, coordination amongst cooperating fisheries 
agencies will be necessary. This process is identified in Attachment A. Additional funding and/or 
reallocation of GCDAMP project priorities will be necessary to support these proposed efforts. 

From this Strategic Plan, the GCDAMP stakeholders emphasize the following key takeaways: 
(1) Long-term prevention will require limiting fish entrainment into GCD. 

(2) Mid-term flow actions are intended to prevent successful spawning of smallmouth 
bass1 below GCD. 

(3) Short-term rapid response actions may be needed to address newly detected 
smallmouth bass and other invasive fishes if proposed actions are determined to have a 
high likelihood of success. 

1 As of December 2022, consideration of smallmouth bass flows are under the Environmental Assessment 
process at Reclamation, as the current concern is smallmouth bass. However, future flow actions may be 
necessary in order to address other invasive fish species of concern and this statement should not be 
limiting of those potential actions. 

2 



 

 
  

   
  
  

  
   

 
  

   
  

  
  

 
 
  

 
   

  
    

 
 

 
  

 
 

  
  

 

 

Contents 
Preamble................................................................................................................................. 4 
1.0 Introduction ..................................................................................................................... 4 
2.0 Guiding Principles ........................................................................................................... 5 
3.0 Strategic Approach.......................................................................................................... 6 

3.1 Invasive Fishes of Concern...................................................................................... 7 
3.2 Monitoring for Presence of Invasive Fish .............................................................. 8 
3.3 Prevention and Response Actions........................................................................... 8 
3.4 Monitoring the Effectiveness of Actions .............................................................. 11 

4.0 Concluding Statement and Implementation Recommendation ................................ 12 
References Cited .................................................................................................................. 13 
Figures .................................................................................................................................. 15 
Appendix: ............................................................................................................................. 17 

Common acronyms in Strategic Plan and Attachments: 
AMWG - Adaptive Management Work Group 
AZGFD - Arizona Game and Fish Department 
CRe - Colorado River Ecosystem 
DOI - Department of Interior 
GCD - Glen Canyon Dam 
GCDAMP - Glen Canyon Dam Adaptive Management Program 
GCMRC - Grand Canyon Monitoring and Research Center 
LTEMP - Glen Canyon Dam Long-Term Experimental and Management Plan 
NPS - National Park Service 
ROD - Record of Decision 
SMB - Smallmouth bass 
TWG - Technical Work Group 
USFWS - United States Fish and Wildlife Service 
USGS - United States Geological Survey 

Definitions: 
Cooperating fisheries agencies- science and management agencies who engage in fisheries 
actions and studies. 

3 



 

 

 
 

          
   

  
    

          
      

 
   

    
 

  
  

    
           

  
 

  
 

  
 
   

    
 

 
 

  

   
  

         
  

           
  

   

 
           

Preamble 
The goal of this Plan is to create an environment where native fish can thrive. To accomplish 
this, the long-term, preventative strategies identified in this Plan must be implemented as soon as 
possible. The members of the Glen Canyon Dam Adaptive Management Program (GCDAMP) 
Technical Work Group recognize that the terminology, methodology, and contents of this 
Strategic Plan (hereafter, the Plan) are largely founded on western science principles and do not 
fully capture the diverse cultural perspectives of the Tribal members of the GCDAMP. For 
example, there are ongoing issues and concerns regarding the lethal taking of species as a 
management action and how those actions negatively impact the sanctuary that is the Colorado 
River within the Grand Canyon (LTEMP FEIS, Ch. 3).  These Tribal comments are provided in 
the Tribal Positions Attachment (Attachment H) in this document. 

1.0 Introduction 
This Strategic Plan (Plan) was developed in response to the May 18, 2022 Directive from the 
Secretary of the Interior’s Designee (Designee) to the Glen Canyon Dam (GCD) Adaptive 
Management Work Group (AMWG) to develop a plan to prevent, detect, and respond to cool-
and warmwater invasive2 fish establishment below GCD. For the purposes of this Plan, the 
geographic scope includes the Colorado River Ecosystem (CRe) as defined by the Glen Canyon 
Dam Long-Term Experimental and Management Plan (LTEMP) Record of Decision (ROD) as: 

“... the Colorado River mainstream corridor and interacting resources in associated riparian 
and terrace zones, located primarily from the forebay of Glen Canyon Dam to the western 
boundary of GCNP. The CRe specifically consists of the area where dam operations impact 
physical, biological, recreational, cultural, and other resources. This section of the river runs 
through Glen, Marble, and Grand Canyons in Coconino and Mohave Counties in northwestern 
Arizona.” 

This Plan was reaffirmed by the Designee’s Truths and Proposed Actions presented during the 
August 2022 AMWG meeting. In addition to responding to the Directive and proposed action, 
this Plan is intended to help achieve the non-native fish species goal from the LTEMP to 
‘minimize or reduce the presence and expansion of aquatic non-native invasive species’ 
(LTEMP ROD). This Plan builds upon National Park Service (NPS) and Arizona Game and Fish 
Department (AZGFD) management strategies for the CRe and is intended to help coordinate 
ongoing efforts by the Bureau of Reclamation (Reclamation), such as Reclamation’s pursuit of a 
means to prevent further entrainment and establishment of deleterious invasive non-native fish 
through GCD (LTEMP BO & Svoboda, 2022). This Plan is not intended to curtail or restrict 
management agency actions already available under existing planning and compliance. 

2 Invasive fish is defined in Executive Order 131112 – Invasive Species. 

4 

https://ltempeis.anl.gov/documents/final-eis/vol1/Chapter_3-Affected_Environment.pdf
https://www.usbr.gov/uc/progact/amp/amwg/2022-08-18-amwg-meeting/20220818-AMWG-ActionItemTrackingSheet-508-UCRO.pdf
https://www.usbr.gov/uc/progact/amp/amwg/2022-08-18-amwg-meeting/20220818-AMWGTruthsProposedActionsSecretarysDesignee-508-UCRO.pdf
https://ltempeis.anl.gov/documents/docs/LTEMP_ROD.pdf
http://www.riversimulator.org/Resources/USBR/LTEMP/FEIS/BiologicalOpinionGCD2016.pdf


 

            
             

 
   

    

  
       

      
   

  
    

  

                
 

           

   
            

            

   
               

    
 

 

  
           

           
 

         
 

  

The actions and recommendations included in this Plan focus on species considered to be the 
highest threat to both federally listed and other native fishes throughout the CRe and the 
Lees Ferry rainbow trout fishery within Glen Canyon. All actions in this Plan are intended to be 
flexible in order to meet the adaptivity required in responding to invasive fish species as new 
situations arise, environmental conditions change, and knowledge is gained. 

Based on low elevations projected at Lake Powell by the August (2022) 24-Month Study 
produced by Reclamation, prevention of invasive fish establishment should include long-term 
preparation for continued low lake elevations and warmer release temperatures. The penstocks 
are at a fixed elevation of 3470 ft (centerline), and as lake levels drop, the depth to penstocks 
decreases. For example, during low elevations in April 2022, the top of the penstocks was only 
41 ft below the surface. This results in increased thermal suitability for warmwater fishes 
downstream of GCD, and likely increased rates of fish entrainment and passage. 

To address this problem, a multi-faceted approach is required in order to be most effective. This 
includes: 

(1) the long-term placement of a fish exclusionary device(s) to reduce further entrainment (non-
flow actions), 

(2) mid-term operational flow options which utilize the dam to change temperature and/or 
velocity to prevent and/or reduce reproductive success and limit establishment of fish that have 
already passed through the dam, and 

(3) short-term rapid response actions to remove invasive fishes to protect Lees Ferry, the 
mainstem and its tributaries from further establishment (non-flow actions). 

It is also important to consider actions that may provide long-term reduction in the risk of 
entrainment of cool- and warm-water invasive species below GCD, but are outside the scope of 
this Plan (Attachment F). To be successful, all actions must be strategically orchestrated and 
cohesive. These actions and their necessity are detailed in Section 3.3 Prevention and Response 
Actions. 

2.0 Guiding Principles 
Several principles were considered to help guide the creation of this Plan: 

1. Presence and establishment of invasive fish could dramatically alter the CRe and the 
status of federally listed fish. 

2. Prevention is essential to reduce or eliminate further entrainment through GCD and limits 
future taking of life. 

3. Negative impacts from the actions provided in this Plan to LTEMP resources should be 
avoided, minimized, and/or mitigated. 

5 

https://www.usbr.gov/lc/region/g4000/24mo/index.html
https://www.usbr.gov/uc/water/crsp/cs/gcd.html
https://www.usbr.gov/uc/progact/amp/twg/2022-10-13-twg-meeting/20221013-BasinHydrologyOperationsWaterQuality-508-UCRO.pdf
http://gcdamp.com/index.php/Main_Page


 

 

 
    

    
  

 
 

 
   

  
  

    
  

  
     

   
 

  
 

  

  
          

 
 

       
       
          
           

  

           
    

         
 

 
                

            
  

4. Funding for actions to prevent invasive fish establishment (e.g., GCD modifications 
and/or an offset for forgoing power generation) should be pursued outside of existing 
GCDAMP funds where possible. 

5. Long-term interagency and intergovernmental coordination among sovereign 
governments (including federal, state, and tribal) will be necessary to prevent the 
establishment of invasive fish species below GCD. 

6. Actions by DOI will be consistent with tribal trust responsibilities, including any 
applicable authorities concerning the federal relationship with Tribes (e.g., DOI’s Joint 
Secretarial Order No 3403). 

7. Actions should be informed by the Department of the Interior’s (DOI’s) Invasive Species 
Strategic Plan and Invasive Species Policy, and should use the best available science to 
emphasize the use of prevention, early detection, and short-term rapid response. 

8. Actions implemented early in the timeline of invasion are less costly and more likely to 
be successful than actions that are implemented later (see DOI’s Phases of the Invasion 
Curve, Figure 1). 

9. A combination of flow and non-flow actions will be necessary to successfully prevent the 
introduction, spread, and establishment of invasive fish. 

10. Actions may be limited by conditions beyond the control of the GCDAMP. 

3.0 Strategic Approach 
Based on an integrated pest management approach3, this Plan incorporates the following types of 
actions: 

1) Identify invasive fish species of concern. 
2) Prevent the establishment of invasive fish. 
3) Monitor the system for new detections of invasive fish. 
4) Use existing or establish new guidelines as needed for implementing 

management actions. 

5) Respond to new detections if the action can be effective and limit 
establishment until a more long-term action can be taken. 

6) Monitor the effectiveness of management actions and determine whether 
additional actions are necessary. 

3 The integrated pest management framework is widely used for invasive species management and is promulgated by 
the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency and the Office of Pest Management Policy. Please refer to the preamble for 
more information on cultural considerations. 

6 

https://www.doi.gov/sites/doi.gov/files/elips/documents/so-3403-joint-secretarial-order-on-fulfilling-the-trust-responsibility-to-indian-tribes-in-the-stewardship-of-federal-lands-and-waters.pdf
https://www.doi.gov/sites/doi.gov/files/elips/documents/so-3403-joint-secretarial-order-on-fulfilling-the-trust-responsibility-to-indian-tribes-in-the-stewardship-of-federal-lands-and-waters.pdf
https://www.doi.gov/sites/doi.gov/files/doi-invasive-species-strategic-plan-2021-2025-508.pdf
https://www.doi.gov/sites/doi.gov/files/doi-invasive-species-strategic-plan-2021-2025-508.pdf
https://www.doi.gov/sites/doi.gov/files/elips/documents/524-dm-1-508.pdf
https://www2.ipm.ucanr.edu/What-is-IPM/


 

 

  
    

 
   

 
   

 
  

             
   

   
   

          

 
  

   
 

  
   

   
  

 
  

    
  

    
   

  
  

 
    

   

     

    
  

3.1 Invasive Fishes of Concern 
An invasive species is defined by Executive Order 13112 as “non-native (or- alien) to the 
ecosystem under consideration, and whose introduction causes or is likely to cause economic or 
environmental harm or harm to human health.” Furthermore, species considered invasive in this 
Plan are only considered invasive within the bounds of the geographical context defined as the 
CRe (Figure 2). Fishes upstream of GCD and in Lake Powell are outside the scope of this Plan 
and consequently are not discussed even though they may affect the CRe. For example, Lake 
Powell is actively managed for recreational fishes including smallmouth bass and striped bass, 
which are considered invasive in the CRe below Glen Canyon Dam. This Plan focuses on fish 
species that would be considered invasive if found below GCD. Actions in this Plan are focused 
on fish passing through GCD and do not necessarily apply to fish movement upstream from 
Pearce Ferry rapid or down the tributaries. However, select actions, such as short-term rapid 
response, may need to be modified to address other sources of invasion. This Plan is based on the 
best available scientific knowledge and understanding of the CRe and is intended to be adaptive 
to allow modifications as new information becomes available. 

The Expanded Non-Native Aquatic Species Management Plan Environmental Assessment was 
developed by NPS for Glen Canyon National Recreation Area and Grand Canyon National Park 
and includes actions to address non-native aquatic species. Appendix F-1 of the NPS Plan 
includes the risk levels of various non-native fish species present and potentially present in the 
system. The most recent data assessments are available on the NPS Expanded Non-Native 
Aquatic Species Management Plan Document List webpage. This Plan refers to the Appendix 
F-1 Risk Levels of Non-Native Aquatic Species table as the foundation when analyzing the 
threat to native species and the Lees Ferry rainbow trout fishery. The risk levels are assessed 
annually and subject to change following a peer-review and concurrent technical assessment of 
new information. Risks from existing and newly detected invasive species will continue to be 
discussed amongst the cooperating fisheries agencies, consisting of management agencies and 
science providers, who may provide updates to the risk levels as necessary (see Attachment A, 
Figure 1). The list of invasive fishes grouped by risk includes consideration of risks when new 
detections are made. If a new fish is detected, short-term rapid response actions may be 
implemented by management agencies as described and identified in Attachment A, while other 
actions may be recommended. 

Smallmouth bass have been identified as the invasive fish species of most concern to native fish, 
particularly humpback chub, and the health of the rainbow trout fishery as of fall 2022. 
Smallmouth bass have had detrimental effects to chub species in adjacent regions (e.g., the 
Yampa River; Johnson, 2008), resulting in increased concern for humpback chub in the Grand 
Canyon. To date, short-term rapid response actions have been implemented to address the 
existing threat of smallmouth bass below GCD. The October-December 2022 activities (e.g., 
mechanical removal) to target smallmouth bass below GCD are expanded upon in Attachment 
B. If invasive species other than smallmouth bass become a concern, actions and strategies 
presented in this Plan (and attachments) may be modified to best address each new threat. 

7 

https://www.invasivespeciesinfo.gov/executive-order-13112#details--section-1-definitions
https://parkplanning.nps.gov/document.cfm?documentID=90478
https://parkplanning.nps.gov/document.cfm?parkID=62&projectID=74515&documentID=117125
https://parkplanning.nps.gov/documentsList.cfm?parkID=62&projectID=74515


 

 

 

  
             

    
  

  

 
     

   
 

   
 

    
   

  
 

          
   

   

  
 

 
 

  
    

  
            

             

   
 

 
  

  
  

   
  

    
   

3.2 Monitoring for Presence of Invasive Fish 
Early detection and monitoring is imperative to identify locations of invasive fish species so that 
actions can be taken to prevent establishment. Regular and recurring monitoring facilitates 
(1) identifying emerging threats, (2) deploying short-term rapid response management activities 
during the initial stages of an invasion, (3) tracking relative abundance and distribution of 
invasive species, and (4) evaluating the success of mitigation measures. Existing fish monitoring 
protocols target locations in the CRe but have very specific objectives and are not designed to 
allow time for targeted sampling and/or removal of invasives. A detailed list of river trips 
conducted in 2022 that are part of the GCDAMP is provided in Attachment C. This list is 
updated annually as research and management trips vary slightly each year. These recurring trips 
also provide some monitoring of the presence of invasive fish. 

Entrainment through GCD is considered a primary source of potential invasion of invasive 
fishes, and the Lees Ferry reach is expected to be an initial point of establishment. However, 
invasive fish may be introduced via several other locations such as the Little Colorado River 
(and its tributaries), Shinumo Creek, Kanab Creek, Havasu Creek, Bright Angel Creek, and  
Lake Mead. Monitoring for invasives should include the tributaries listed above. Hot spots where 
invasive fishes are most likely to be found have been identified by cooperating fisheries agencies 
from GCD to above Pearce Ferry and are included in Attachment D. This can guide future 
monitoring efforts. While probable infestation locations should be monitored adequately, 
mainstem monitoring is also essential to determine distribution of invasive species. 

To detect new and invasive fish species in the CRe, it is recommended to (1) expand upon 
existing monitoring efforts with flexibility to add additional days and survey locations and  
(2) conduct additional, targeted monitoring trips. These recommendations are further expanded 
upon in Attachment E to allow for specific recommendations and the ability to update as needed. 
Proposed modifications to monitoring and research should be coordinated with the GCMRC 
Triennial Work Plan projects and may include additional work outside of the Work Plan. 
Additional activities to address invasive fish species in the CRe would require additional and/or 
separate funding. 

3.3 Prevention and Response Actions 
The preference for invasive species management is prevention. Prevention actions, such as the 
fish exclusionary device(s) described below, provide long-term solutions and limit the potential 
taking of life. To prevent the establishment of invasive fish species in the CRe, a combination of 
long-term, mid-term, and short-term actions are required. If an invasive species becomes 
established, eradication will likely not be possible and attempts could come at the cost of other 
programs or resources in the CRe. On the other hand, “functional eradication” or suppression of 
a species population is difficult to achieve in a large system such as the CRe (Green, 2020. & 
Klein, 2022). If invasive fishes become established in the CRe, the costs of extended suppression 
attempts could come at the expense of other CRe programs and resources. Thus, long-term 
preventative actions (identified below) should be prioritized, with impacts and trade-offs 

8 



 

 

   
 

 

 
  

  
 

  
   

 
 

  
   

     
 

 
  

  
 

  
 

  
    

  
 

  
  

   
    

 
 

    
   

 
   

   
 

   

   
 

 
 

 

considered. While long-term, more permanent action(s) are being prepared and implemented, a 
combination of mid-term, and short-term actions are required. Prevention and response actions 
identified in this Plan and attachments should use monitoring data to determine their success. 
Monitoring for effectiveness is expanded below in Section 3.4. 

Long-term management is focused on prevention. The two approaches to prevention within the 
CRe are (1) the prevention of fish from passing through GCD (entrainment), and (2) the 
prevention of establishment in the reach(es) below GCD if entrainment occurs. To address the 
source of invasive fish in Lake Powell, the use of a barrier or modification to GCD could reduce 
entrainment. If reservoir elevations remain low, entrainment risk will continue to be high, which 
translates to an increased likelihood of the establishment of invasive fish. Reducing entrainment 
will address the source of new fishes and be a proactive and preventative approach to invasive 
fish in the CRe. Therefore it is recommended that Reclamation implement the most effective and 
feasible option(s) from the Glen Canyon Dam Fish Escapement Options Report as quickly as 
possible. This long-term action is consistent with LTEMP goals to protect native fish, the 
rainbow trout fishery, and tribal values protecting life. Fish exclusion devices reduce entrainment 
but are unlikely to entirely eliminate fish passage through the dam. A combination of a fish 
exclusionary device(s) and other measures, including actions outside of the GCDAMP 
(Attachment F), maximize the possibility of long-term prevention of invasive fish establishment. 
Other actions to address invasive fish below GCD should also be utilized in the interim and may 
be required after the placement of these long-term actions, dependent upon the efficacy of the 
preventative methods. Monitoring should be continued to inform adaptive management to 
address the remaining threat past GCD. If prevention is unattainable and establishment occurs, 
continuous suppression efforts or maintenance actions may be warranted and considered. This is 
further expanded upon below under Short-term actions. 

Mid-term management actions are those actions that are of limited time and duration, such as 
targeted flow and temperature changes, that may discourage and disrupt invasive fish from 
spawning within certain reaches of the Colorado River, specifically from Lees Ferry to the 
confluence of the Little Colorado River. Priority should be given to the operations that have the 
highest level of predicted effectiveness, while minimizing trade-offs and impacts to other 
LTEMP resources, where possible. Effectiveness should factor in the geographical extent of 
impacts, as well as targeted species. For example, dam operations will likely only affect the 
mainstem of the river to the Little Colorado River. Other actions will be necessary to protect the 
tributaries, as well as downstream reaches. When possible, predictive modeling should be used 
as a tool to compare and contrast the efficacy of different suppression scenarios particularly 
under various reservoir elevation scenarios that may occur with climate change and aridification. 

If more effective alternatives are identified outside of existing compliance that have a higher 
likelihood of success, additional compliance should be pursued. If impacts are unavoidable, 
mitigation measures must be identified. For example, if alternatives include the extended use of 
bypass tubes, it may be possible to mitigate significant impacts to hydropower by adding 
generation to the bypass tubes, see Attachment F. 

The mid-term flow actions described above are not specific to smallmouth bass, but provide the 
framework for the consideration of potential future actions. The flow options being considered 

9 

https://www.usbr.gov/uc/progact/amp/twg/2022-10-13-twg-meeting/20221013-GlenCanyonDamFishEscapementOptions-508-UCRO.pdf


 

 

 

 
 

   
   

   
 

 
 

   
 

  
   

 
  

 
    

 
  

 
 

  
 

 
  

 
  

    

   

   
 

   
 

  
  

   
  

   
  

 

under Reclamation’s current Environmental Assessment for Glen Canyon Dam Operational 
Flexibilities in Response to Warmwater Invasive Fish are considered a temporary, mid-term 
action to respond to smallmouth bass. Flow and non-flow actions may still be needed to address 
invasive fish species remaining below the dam. 

Short-term actions will be required while compliance and implementation for long- and mid-
term actions are completed. These short-term actions are described more fully in Attachment A. 
Those details are intended to provide recommended approaches to modify current or initiate new 
AMP-funded trips, to share new detection information, to recommend new actions, and the 
incorporation of a science plan. 

Additional surveillance may also be necessary, as well as coordination amongst appropriate 
agencies. Management agencies may respond immediately per their existing planning and 
compliance but for actions funded by the AMP, the framework would be used as described in 
Attachment A to recommend further courses of action. A response may be triggered based on the 
specific detection, as responses may vary based on species, number of individuals, and location. 
For AMP-funded actions, this Plan recommends that a risk assessment, management actions, and 
offramps will be discussed. An example short-term rapid response is provided through the 
smallmouth bass science plan for the fall of 2022 that provides a framework for the assessment 
and evaluation of actions (Attachment B). Additional actions that have compliance for non-
native aquatic invasive species removals can also be found in the National Park Service’s 
Expanded Non-Native Aquatic Species Management Plan and are detailed in Attachment C. 
Inclusion of actions described in National Park Service’s 2019 Expanded Non-Native Aquatic 
Species Management Plan does not indicate that resources are available to implement these 
actions. 

Short-term rapid response actions may be successful in the short-term to prevent widespread 
dispersal and establishment but differ from long-term responses that may require continuous 
suppression (Breton et al., 2014). However, the costly and relatively less effective nature of 
continuous suppression efforts and potential impacts to other resources, underscores the need to 
implement the proposed mid-and long-term actions as soon as possible. Cooperating fisheries 
agencies should be prepared to continue, amend or stop short-term rapid response actions based 
on the likelihood of success, cost-effectiveness, and changing environmental conditions. 
Although results will vary, preventative measures are often cheaper and more effective than 
mitigation once an invasive species is established (Lovell et al 2006; Simberloff et al 2013). 
Ongoing interagency coordination and evaluation will be necessary to provide adequate 
information and decision making for invasive species management in the CRe. 

Educational outreach is a necessary component to invasive species management. By identifying 
invasive fish, citizen scientists and anglers can help expand early detection efforts and 
supplement observational data collected by management agencies. Educating the public and 
encouraging anglers to report and remove invasive fish species when caught assists with 
management actions to prevent establishment of invasive species. Educational outreach may 
include materials provided with permits, personnel on the ground talking to the public 
(interpretation guides, creel surveys), informational signs, press releases, and/or social media 
campaigns. Some educational actions could be short-term, while some will be needed long-term 

10 



 

 

  
  

 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

  
  

  
      

  
    

  
    

 
  

    
  

    
 

  
  

  
   

   
 

 
  

 
 

 
   

 
  

to ensure continued education of new recreationalists. Additional outreach considerations are 
discussed in Attachment A (short-term rapid response focused) and Attachment F (long-term 
program considerations). 

3.4 Monitoring the Effectiveness of Actions 
Existing monitoring is outlined in the 2021-2023 Triennial Work Plan and discussed in Section 
3.2. Monitoring trips should be designed to include an assessment of the effectiveness of all 
actions (prevention and response). Actions should be implemented experimentally to allow 
proper evaluation. Continued evaluation is recommended for all actions described in this plan, 
including the fish exclusionary device(s), operational alternatives, and short-term rapid response 
actions. 

Implementation and continuation. Focused monitoring and research efforts should be adapted if 
a new detection of an invasive species is made that requires further information to facilitate 
management decisions. Monitoring and increased surveillance will also provide information to 
consider if a response is indicated, such as the number of fish and the river mile at which those 
fish were detected. The cooperating fisheries agencies will regularly meet to assess and 
determine if a response is needed for potential short-term rapid response actions, and will 
provide recommendations on the implementation, continuation, and offramping of actions as 
outlined in Attachment A. Response criteria and actions allowed under current compliance are 
described in the NPS Expanded Non-native EA (2019), and summarized in Attachment C. If the 
action is not covered under existing compliance, the recommended action may then require 
stakeholder input and additional processes prior to implementation. Some actions, such as the 
fish exclusionary device(s) and operational alternatives may require a different process for 
considering next steps which is currently outside the scope of this Plan. 

Offramps (e.g., potential discontinuation) of any short-, mid-, and long-term action should be 
considered if the specified action(s) are successful and no longer needed, are no longer effective, 
or if the action(s) are deemed cost prohibitive after a certain length of time. Offramps should 
consider, but are not limited to: (1) the distribution of an invasive fish (by river miles), 
(2) population numbers and evidence of spawning, (3) effectiveness of the action(s), (4) the 
associated costs if such action(s) were continued, (5) consideration of the time and resources that 
have been dedicated to existing actions, (6) shifting to more appropriate actions if deemed 
necessary, and (7) the current stage and location in the DOI’s Phases of the Invasion Curve 
(Figure 1). Regular reporting is one means by which managers could assess the situation for 
triggering the discontinuation of actions. A proposed framework to facilitate this process for 
short-term rapid response actions is further defined in Attachment A, Figure 1. Potential triggers 
for discontinuing actions specific to mid- and long-term actions have yet to be identified and 
would require additional considerations and processes which would include GCDAMP 
stakeholders and appropriate agencies. 

11 



 

 

     
 

          
         

                
         

  
 

 
 

  
            

 
   

          
 

  
  

  
           

           
    

  
  

  
 

 
   

            
  

 

 
 

  
              

   
 

   
  

 
 

 

4.0 Concluding Statement and Implementation 
Recommendation 

This Plan incorporates management strategies included in NPS and AZGFD plans and identifies 
additional elements that, in combination, could achieve the Secretary’s Designee’s Directive and 
protect the resources described in the LTEMP BO. This Plan is intended to be a living document 
and should be periodically re-evaluated and/or updated by the GCDAMP, to account for ongoing 
changes in the CRe. 

During the development of this Plan, smallmouth bass young-of-year were discovered in  
Lees Ferry (initial discovery on June 30, 2022). The seasonal timing, size and location of the 
smallmouth bass suggest spawning may have occurred in Lees Ferry. Further otolith analysis 
will be necessary to confirm this (Attachment B). Smallmouth bass spawning typically begins in 
June but could potentially begin earlier or later depending on lake elevations and release 
temperatures, as the timing of spawning is directly correlated with temperature (Cantin, 1994). 
Research in the Upper Colorado River Basin showed spawning was triggered at approximately 
16°C (Breton et al. 2015). Temperatures in Lees Ferry reached 16°C in early June of 2022, 
indicating the need for implementation of actions designed to disrupt spawning to be 
implemented by late spring/early summer of 2023. In the Upper Basin, long-term mechanical 
removal efforts targeting smallmouth are costly and are only effective when uncontrolled, 
environmental conditions are unfavorable to smallmouth (Breton et al 2014). Previous research 
has estimated that long-term reductions in smallmouth populations require nearly 70% removal 
of young of year for at least ten consecutive years (Loppnow & Venturelli, 2014). This type of 
intensive, long-term smallmouth bass management, or “functional eradication” as described in 
Section 3.3, is likely not physically possible in the CRe, and associated economic costs to 
attempt such an eradication could be orders of magnitude greater than prevention or early 
eradication. 

While actions to meet the direction of the Secretary’s Designee have potential trade-offs and may 
need additional compliance and consultation with Tribes before they can be implemented, it is 
imperative that (1) future fish entrainment is limited to the greatest extent possible (long-term 
prevention), (2) dam operations create an inhospitable environment for invasive fish already 
below GCD (mid-term prevention), and (3) short-term rapid response actions be conducted to 
address ongoing expansions of existing non-native species and newly detected individuals. 
These actions must be implemented in a cohesive way to succeed in preventing the establishment 
of smallmouth bass and other invasive fish. Additional compliance and experimental 
implementation will be required for actions in this Plan that are not covered by LTEMP or 
NPS compliance. A compliance process has been initiated by Reclamation to implement 
operational alternatives by a target date of March 2023 for smallmouth bass (Bucklin et al., 
2022). While potential management actions are presented in this document, many resource gaps 
(e.g., personnel, equipment, funding) have been identified as barriers to successfully implement 
these actions. Additional funding, other than power revenues, and beyond that provided by 
GCDAMP and the Native Fish Conservation Contingency Fund, are necessary to implement the 
actions outlined in this Plan. The actions presented in this plan do not supersede the need to 
acquire compliance with federal laws and conduct intergovernmental consultation with Tribes. 

12 



 

 

  
   

 
        

       
 

  
             

 
    

 
     

         
  

            
            

 
 

          
  

      
 

 
            

    
    

  
 

   
         

   

 
      

 
 

  
         

 
 

          

Beneficial use of removed invasive fish is recommended when possible, as are approaches to 
limit the taking of life. This document is focused on the technical strategies available for 
consideration in response to invasive fish species. In order for the strategies included in this Plan 
to be successful, an agency or agencies will need to serve as the lead for specific actions in this 
Plan. Defining roles in an agreement should be accomplished as soon as possible. 

Members of the GCDAMP have provided various options and support for the prevention of 
invasive fish establishment below GCD in an effort to uphold the program’s mission as provided 
by the Grand Canyon Protection Act of 1992. Reservoir storage decisions, as well as system 
conservation efforts, that are outside the scope of this Plan and the GCDAMP could provide a 
long-term solution by decreasing entrainment risks from Lake Powell through increasing 
reservoir elevation (Bruckerhoff et al., 2022 & Dibble et al., 2021; Attachment F). During this 
time of unprecedented drought and hydrologic conditions on the Colorado River, we encourage a 
swift and adaptive approach to address and manage for the long-term prevention of invasive fish 
in the CRe. 

References Cited 
Breton, A. R., Winkelman, D. L., Hawkins, J. A., & Bestgen, K. R. (2014). Population trends of 
smallmouth bass in the upper Colorado River basin with an evaluation of removal effects. Final 
Rep., Upper Colorado River Endangered Fish Recovery Program, 95. 

Breton, A. R., Winkelman, D. L., Bestgen, K. R., & Hawkins, J. A. (2015). Population dynamics 
modeling of introduced smallmouth bass in the upper Colorado River basin. Final report to the 
Upper Colorado River Endangered Fish Recovery Program, Denver, Colorado. Larval Fish 
Laboratory Contribution, 186. 

Bruckerhoff, L. A., Wheeler, K., Dibble, K. L., Mihalevich, B. A., Neilson, B. T., Wang, J., 
Yackulic, C. B. & Schmidt, J. C. (2022). Water Storage Decisions and Consumptive Use May 
Constrain Ecosystem Management under Severe Sustained Drought. JAWRA Journal of the 
American Water Resources Association. 

Bucklin, S., Deppe, V., & Callister, K. (2022). National Environmental Policy Act Compliance 
for Glen Canyon Dam Operational Flexibilities in Response to Warmwater Invasives. DRAFT 
Dual Charter and Project Management Plan. Bureau of Reclamation, Compliance and Water 
Resources, UC-443. 

Cantin, M. C. (1994). Influence of temperature and photoperiod on ovarian development and 
spawning of smallmouth bass (Micropterus dolomieui). 

Dibble, K. L., Yackulic, C. B., Kennedy, T. A., Bestgen, K. R., & Schmidt, J. C. (2021). Water 
storage decisions will determine the distribution and persistence of imperiled river fishes. 
Ecological Applications, 31(2), e02279. 

Executive order No. 13112 - Invasive Species. Volume 64, Number 25. (Feb 8, 1999). 

13 



 

           
 

          
   

                
  

          
 

 

             
   

          

 
 

         
         
  

       
 

Green, S. J., and E. D. Grosholz. 2020. Functional eradication as a framework for invasive 
species control. Frontiers in Ecology and the Environment:98-107. 

Johnson, B. M., Martinez, P. J., Hawkins, J. A., & Bestgen, K. R. (2008). Ranking predatory 
threats by non-native fishes in the Yampa River, Colorado, via bioenergetics modeling. North 
American Journal of Fisheries Management, 28(6), 1941-1953. 

Klein, Z. B., Quist, M. C., & Guy, C. S. (2022). Suppression of Invasive Fish in the West: 
Synthesis and Suggestions for Improvement. North American Journal of Fisheries Management. 

Loppnow, G. L., & Venturelli, P. A. (2014). Stage-structured simulations suggest that removing 
young of the year is an effective method for controlling invasive smallmouth bass. Transactions 
of the American Fisheries Society, 143(5), 1341-1347. 

Lovell, S. J., Stone, S. F., & Fernandez, L. (2006). The economic impacts of aquatic invasive 
species: a review of the literature. Agricultural and resource economics review, 35(1), 195-208. 

National Park Service. 2019. Expanded Non-Native Aquatic Species Management Plan for Glen 
Canyon National Recreation Area and Grand Canyon National Park below Glen Canyon Dam. 
Environmental Assessment. Lakewood, CO. Accessed 01/06/2023 
http://npshistory.com/publications/grca/non-native-aquatic-mgt-plan-ea-2018.pdf 

Simberloff, D., Martin, J.L., Genovesi, P., Maris, V., Wardle, D.A., Aronson, J., Courchamp, F., 
Galil, B., García-Berthou, E., Pascal, M. and Pyšek, P., 2013. Impacts of biological invasions: 
what's what and the way forward. Trends in ecology & evolution, 28(1), pp.58-66. 

SVoboda, Connie. (2022). Glen Canyon Dam Fish Escapement Options. US Bureau of 
Reclamation. Hydraulic Laboratory Report HL-2022-02. 

14 

http://npshistory.com/publications/grca/non-native-aquatic-mgt-plan-ea-2018.pdf


 

 

 

 

  
           

    
  

Figures 

Figure 1. Phases of the Invasion Curve. United States Department of the Interior, Invasive Species 
Strategic Plan 2021-2025 (Adapted from Rodgers. 2010. Invasive Plants and Animals Policy Framework. 
State of Victoria, Department of Primary Industries). 

15 



 

 

       
  
Figure 2. Geographical extent of the CRe. Provided by David Rogowski, AZGFD. 

16 



 

 

 

 
  

   

    

 

  

  

  

 

Appendix: 
Attachment A: Short-Term Rapid Response 

Attachment B: GCMRC Science Plan - SMB 

Attachment C: Existing Actions & Monitoring 

Attachment D: Hot Spot Table 

Attachment E: Additional Monitoring 

Attachment F: Supplemental Actions 

Attachment G: Implementation Considerations 

Attachment H: Tribal Positions 

17 





 

 

   
 

  

     
  

  

             
   

     
 

  
  

        
  

   
  

 
          

 
 

    
  

  
         

 
  

          
 

  

 
               

 
 

 

4

Attachment A 

Short-Term Rapid Response Framework to 
Prevent Invasive Fish Species Establishment 
Below Glen Canyon Dam 
This document provides a preliminary framework for potential future short-term rapid response 
protocol and actions to respond to invasive fishes below Glen Canyon Dam (GCD). Rapid 
response is defined as “a process that is employed to eradicate the founding population of a non-
native species from a specific location before it becomes established or spreads so widely that 
eradication is no longer feasible” (DOI Department Manual 524 DM 1). Rapid response is 
further explained by DOI in the National Framework for Early Detection and Rapid Response, 
explaining the goal and focus of rapid response is the eradication of the targeted species. Thus, 
specific rapid response actions mentioned below focus on eradication. However, eradication is 
not always feasible and other management strategies may be implemented. This is intended to be 
a technical document focused on the rapid assessment1 and following rapid response actions, 
such as mechanical removal and chemical treatments. These actions will be coordinated and 
conducted by the cooperating fisheries agencies (identified below), which consist of both 
management and science provider agencies. Integration and notification to Glen Canyon Dam 
Adaptive Management Program (GCDAMP) stakeholders will include notification of new 
detections and potential actions to the GCDAMP Technical Work Group (TWG) Chair, who will 
provide updates through the Steering Committee Ad Hoc Group. This plan is not intended to 
curtail or restrict management agency actions already available under existing planning and 
compliance. A comprehensive summary of actions for which compliance has been obtained 
through existing management plans can be found in Attachment C: Existing Actions and 
Monitoring. 

Outreach and Reporting Protocol 
The purpose of this protocol is to inform the public, recreationalists, river guides, and biologists 
regarding invasive fish species of interest below GCD, and how to report detections of them to 
appropriate authorities. A designated coordinator of the short-term rapid response and detection 
efforts could develop and maintain past and present invasive fish detections. For example, an 
online database could be developed and regularly updated to represent the status of invasive fish 
detections. This database could include the reported capture and/or detection details and an 
associated map. This information could be posted on an NPS webpage or the GCDAMP Wiki 
webpage. 

1 Rapid assessment: Determines the distribution and abundance of the species occurrence, if possible, and 
evaluates its potential risks with regard to environmental, health, and economic impacts. It also identifies 
options for rapid response based on the particular circumstances associated with the occurrence of the 
species (e.g., species type, specific location, extent of spread, relevant jurisdictions/ authorities) (DOI 2016). 

A-1 



 

 

 
 

             
 

           
 

         

        

          
             

 
          

  
 

       
       

   

             

      

             

     

         

      

       
    

  
  

  
   

  
  

 
   

         
 

 
  

Attachment A 

Outreach: 

• Post informative flyers to relevant public information boards at boat launches below 
GCD. 

• Post and share information regarding invasive species of concern on websites hosted by 
NPS, AZGFD, USFWS, and other stakeholders. 

• Provide informational flyers to recreators when obtaining permits. 

• Utilize media to share information as appropriate. 

• Develop a 24/7 call-in report number, email address, and/or NPS-hosted form on the Non-
Native Aquatic Species EA webpage for anyone to report detections of invasive fishes of 
concern. 

o Detailed instructions on how and what to report should be widely distributed and 
shared via the outreach mechanisms described above.  

Detection and Reporting of Invasive Fish Sightings: 
Details needed for detection reporting may include: 

• Species identified 

• Location of detection (i.e., RM, local place name, side of river, GPS coordinates) 

• Number and size of fish 

• Behavior and other pertinent details (e.g., sitting on a nest, under a rock wall, etc.) 

• Time and date of observation 

• Assessment of certainty in species identification and count 

• Picture for visual confirmation, if possible 

Addressing New Detections and Identifying Next Steps: 
Once cooperating fisheries agencies are made aware of a detection, they evaluate the credibility 
of the detection, assess the situation, and recommend a response (if needed) per their existing 
planning and compliance. An assessment and response process is outlined in Figure 1 which may 
be used by agencies upon detecting new species or locations. Detection reports should be 
received centrally (e.g., via call-in number, email address, or web form) and distributed to a 
contact list composed of the following management and science agencies, defined as the 
“cooperating fisheries agencies” throughout the plan: National Park Service, Arizona Game and 
Fish Department, US Geological Survey, US Fish and Wildlife Service, and the US Bureau of 
Reclamation. This contact list should prioritize and identify key contacts who can assess reported 
information and coordinate a response. A coordinator for this action needs to be identified to 
ensure timeliness and effectiveness of the emergency notification process. 

A-2 



 

 

            
 

    
 

 
    

           
   

    
  

 

  
     

  
 

 
     

          
   

  
   

 
        

     
 

     
      

 
    

  
  

     
    

    
         

  
 

     
  

   
   

Attachment A 

If deemed necessary, subsequent actions required to facilitate a short-term rapid response will 
depend on the available resources at the time (i.e., staffing, equipment, funding), and remain at 
the discretion of the cooperating management agencies. 

Short-term Rapid Response Options: 
For GCDAMP funded activities, the initiation, evaluation and offramping process of rapid 
response actions has been developed by the GCDAMP cooperating fisheries agencies and is 
outlined in Figure 1. The cooperating fisheries agencies should come to a consensus, if possible, 
then provide the recommended actions to the GCDAMP stakeholders in the processes identified 
above. The recommendation process and suggested actions will be dependent upon whether the 
source of funding is provided through the program. All proposed actions will require flexible use 
of available staffing and equipment from the cooperating fisheries agencies. Until additional 
resources are identified, personnel costs will need to be covered from within each responding 
agency and staff/equipment availability may be limited. Additional compliance, consultation, 
and/or permitting may be required for specific actions outside of existing management plans (see 
Attachment C: Existing Actions and Monitoring). These responsibilities will fall to the lead 
agency who will have ownership of the actions. A brief summary of the proposed short-term 
rapid response options to date are listed below. 

1) New river trip(s) should be developed to address the detection of the invasive 
species of concern. For example, in the fall of 2022, management agencies, in 
coordination with the Grand Canyon Monitoring and Research Center (GCMRC), 
developed a 6-week rapid response protocol and science plan to address smallmouth 
bass (SMB) below GCD (Attachment B). 

2) Modifying and/or repurposing existing monitoring trip(s) should be considered. 
For example, it may be possible to add 1-2 biologists (and necessary equipment) to an 
existing trip which has the capacity to add a stopover at the reported site. In 
September 2022 the USFWS was able to repurpose an existing Western Grand 
Canyon monitoring trip to address new detections of SMB by conducting backwater 
seining for young of year fish from Lees Ferry to Diamond Creek. 

3) Develop a citizen scientist program through a partnership between the commercial 
guided trips and fisheries biologists. Identify potential opportunities for biologists 
from coordinating management agencies to join existing commercial trip(s) to 
respond to the detected invasive species of concern. Coordination of equipment and 
personnel as well as agreement from the guide company will be required. This could 
allow those on commercial trips to learn about the biology of the CRe and have an 
additional memorable experience. This could be offered on select trips for those 
interested in the experience and/or volunteering. Special permitting may be required 
and further detailed planning necessary. 

4) Maximize participation from the angler community. Alert anglers via flyers, 
word of mouth, webpages, and bulletins of the new invasive fish detection(s) and 
request assistance. Management agencies may be able to provide gear and 
equipment for select anglers/guides who will volunteer to fish for, and report on the 

A-3 



 

 

 
 

   
   

         
  

 
             

  
       

    
  

   
 

  
    

   
 

    
  

    
             

   
        

   
   

  
           

 
 

  
  

   
   

 
 

  
  

        
   

            
   

  

Attachment A 

targeted invasive species, if observed while on the water. This may require 
regulation exemption through a permit or other authorization for specific anglers and 
actions. If funding is available, consider hiring and/or funding one or more local 
guide(s) (such as a skilled bass angler) to actively fish for and remove targeted 
invasive fish during vulnerable periods (spawning season). If determined to be 
feasible and appropriate, this task will require further development and agreements. 

5) While the actions provided in this document are described as short-term, the 
techniques used in these actions could be adapted and utilized in mid- to long-term 
efforts to suppress an established population. Should a change from rapid response 
actions intended to suppress high risk non-native species be needed, additional 
analysis and assessment of cost, impacts to resources, and other policy considerations 
should be conducted. Additionally, a shift to suppression efforts would no longer be 
considered short-term, and further management of an established species should be 
informed by the stage of the invasion curve, and other external factors, such as the 
ability to implement the preventative mid- and long-term actions described in the 
Plan. This does not prohibit an agency from conducting reoccurring rapid response 
actions within their existing plans and compliance in response to new threats or 
changes in the status of existing species, but acknowledges that the Plan currently 
does not address long-term management of an established population. 

Implementation Challenges and Considerations: 
Although a short-term rapid response action must happen quickly to be most effective, it may be 
difficult for agencies within the GCDAMP to mobilize given staff and resource constraints. 
Management agencies working through a third-party contractor (i.e., supplemental experienced 
boat operators) may be better suited to mobilize within the recommended time frame and 
increase likelihood of success. This could allow for more extensive response actions without 
affecting existing and future GCDAMP project trips and resources. However, permits to cover 
actions conducted by a third-party contractor may introduce additional hurdles, and may require 
interagency discussions amongst management authorities. When possible, it is recommended to 
use existing management agencies and science providers who may be best positioned to integrate 
data and new information. A designated funded coordinator position may also be necessary to 
quickly and functionally utilize the rapid response contact list and organize logistics. Depending 
on the development of the actions outlined here, and the level of support for such actions, this 
could be a full-time position supported through one of the cooperating fisheries agencies or 
added to the role of a current position. 

Rapid Response Assessment: 
Below is the general process and consideration of AMP Funded actions. This does not supersede 
any agency’s given authority and responsibilities, as the process presented may also be altered 
depending on who has ownership of this Plan and how it is implemented. This was provided to 
meet a component of the Secretary’s Designee’s Directive to determine triggers and offramps, as 
those contain much complexity, a general framework to assess and consider actions is provided. 

A-4 

https://www.usbr.gov/uc/progact/amp/amwg/2022-08-18-amwg-meeting/20220818-AMWG-ActionItemTrackingSheet-508-UCRO.pdf


 

 

 
   

  
              

 
 

  
 

 
  

 
        

  

 
  

             
 

 
     

 
                 

  
 

 
  

              
  

              
  

 
  

           
 

Attachment A 

Ideally, a small group with the technical expertise to properly assess potential actions must 
weigh each situation/circumstance and make the determination – documenting how they 
determined 1) risk level, 2) action feasibility, and 3) action effectiveness. Refer to Figure 1 and 
Table 1 below for decision making guides. 

Risk framework: 
Given an invasive fish detection and subsequent monitoring and using information including 
species, known or likely abundance, life stage, behavior, location, and timing, agencies will 
make a determination of the associated risk. The cooperating fisheries agencies will discuss and 
evaluate the risk presented to the Grand Canyon ecosystem, including federally listed species, 
using consequence severity and consequence likelihood as a guiding framework (Table 1). A 
determination of no significant risk results in continued monitoring or offramping, and a 
determination of significant risk continues rapid response consideration. 

Feasibility framework: 
Estimate the probability of capture of the invasive species with a given gear type(s). Probability 
of capture is based on published literature and previous observations/testing. For example, based 
on an estimated probability of capture, consideration of actions should include if eradication is 
likely feasible given the information provided by initial detection and follow-up monitoring. 

It is important to note that a management action may be feasible, but may not be the right 
decision for implementation due to cost, impacts to resources, and/or other policy driven 
decisions. This flow chart does not account for that potential split. 

Effectiveness framework: 
To determine effectiveness of actions, the probability of capture determined during feasibility 
assessment will be used. If the catch rates equal or exceed the estimated probability of capture 
associated with eradication, then the action may be considered effective. If not, the action was 
likely not effective, and reevaluation of actions ensues. This can result in a new rapid response 
strategy or long-term management actions and continued monitoring. 

[Note: the most effective way to estimate population size and capture rates is to do a first pass of 
mark/release with subsequent removal passes. However, releasing invasive species will likely be 
contentious.] 

A-5 



 

 

 
                   

    
  

Attachment A 

Figure 1. Flow chart describing the Rapid Response Assessment and Response Process. Developed by Drew Eppehimer, GCMRC with input from 
USFWS, NPS, & AZGFD. 

A-6 



 

 

         
    

  

     

 
    

 
    

     

     

     

 

 

   

    

    

 
 

    
 

 

  

   

    

   

      

        

 

Attachment A 

Table 1: Rapid response risk framework developed by Kirk Young, (former USFWS employee) with input 
from GCMRC & AGFD 

Severity 

Likelihood Negligible Marginal Critical Catastrophic 

Frequent 

Probable 

Occasional 

Remote 

Improbable 

Severity Definitions 

Catastrophic Loss of the system 

Critical Major system damage 

Marginal Minor system damage 

Negligible 
Less than minor system 
damage 

Likelihood Definitions 

Frequent Likely to occur often 

Probable Will occur several times 

Occasional Likely to occur sometime 

Remote Unlikely to occur, but possible 

Improbable Very unlikely, assumed it will not occur 

A-7 



 

 

      
        

  

 
 

 

  
 

    
      

      
  

     
  

  
 

 
   

  
         

    
  

      

 
  

   

      
  

   
 

            
  

    
    

  
 

  

Attachment B 

Science Plan to Support Management of 
Smallmouth Bass in the Glen Canyon Reach of the 
Colorado River, Lees Ferry to Glen Canyon Dam 

Background: 
Smallmouth bass (Micropterus dolomieu, hereafter SMB) are a high-risk, nonnative species 
within the Colorado River Basin that is established in Lake Powell. SMB are a highly valued 
sport fish that have been introduced throughout the globe and have often spread extensively 
beyond their initial point of introduction (Loppnow et al., 2013). SMB invasion into rivers 
throughout the globe have been associated with substantial population declines, and in many 
instances, extirpations of native fish species (Brown et al., 2009; Loppnow et al., 2013). In the 
upper Colorado River basin, SMB are considered the greatest threat to the persistence of 
threatened and endangered fish species (Johnson et al. 2008). SMB are fecund, adaptable to a 
substantial range of environmental conditions, and extremely capable predators able to consume 
many size classes of the federally listed humpback chub (Gila Cypha) (Edwards et al., 1983; 
Johnson et al., 2008; Ward & Vaage, 2019). These traits have allowed SMB to quickly increase 
in abundance and exert negative population level impacts to species that did not co-evolve with 
them. 

SMB have rarely been observed in the Colorado River ecosystem below Glen Canyon Dam 
(hereafter the CRe) during the last two decades (USGS, unpublished data), however, 
reproduction was identified for the first time in 2022 (NPS, unpublished data). Historically low 
reservoir elevations in Lake Powell have contributed to dramatic warming of water release 
temperatures making the river more suitable for SMB reproduction, while lowered reservoir 
elevations have likely led to more entrainment of adult SMB that occupy the shallower parts of 
the water column in Lake Powell. The first reported CRe SMB capture was in 2003, and through 
2021, a total of twenty-two SMB were captured with no more than five individuals caught per 
year (USGS, unpublished data). More than 50% of these SMB were captured in the Glen Canyon 
reach of the CRe (Fig. 1: the reach from Glen Canyon Dam to the confluence of the Colorado 
River and the Paria River) indicating likely passage of fish through Glen Canyon Dam. 
Historically cool river temperatures, particularly in Lees Ferry, have likely mitigated SMB 
reproduction and population establishment. Previous work in North America has identified 15°C 
as a threshold for SMB spawning initiation (Shuter et al., 1980; Lawrence et al., 2015). In the 
Upper Basin, this thermal threshold has been estimated to be 16°C (Breton et al., 2015; Bestgen 
& Hill, 2016). While temperatures have exceeded 16°C for brief periods in the Lees Ferry reach 
during September and October of a few years (e.g., 2005, 2021) in the last half of a century, they 
had never reached these thresholds in earlier months and had not exceeded 17°C in over 50 years 
(Voichick & Wright, 2007; USGS gage 09380000). In 2022, river temperatures exceeded 16°C 
by June 8th and have hovered around 19-21°C for multiple months. 

B-1 



 

 

  
  

   
    

  
   

 
    

  
   

        
         

 

 
            

  

            
   

  
  

  
 

      

             
  

          
  

 
  

 
   

   
       

       
 

 
  

Attachment B 

In 2022, >45 SMB have been captured in Lees Ferry including 30 young of year individuals 
captured in the mainstem river during regular monitoring in September by USGS (USGS & NPS, 
unpublished data). Twenty-seven of these fish were captured during two electrofishing passes in 
a river segment located nearer to the dam (segment B in Fig. 1), while three were captured 
during two electrofishing passes in a river segment located further downriver (segment F). All 30 
SMB were removed from the river and preserved in accordance with permitting requirement and 
for the purpose of future analysis of otoliths to identify hatch dates. Following these findings, 
multiple Federal and State agencies have requested additional research to identify whether 
electrofishing sampling targeted at SMB has potential as a management tool to significantly 
lower the abundance of young of year and/or adult SMB. Here we describe a study plan to be 
implemented jointly by USGS, National Park Service (NPS), US Fish and Wildlife Service 
(FWS), Bureau of Reclamation (Reclamation), and Arizona Game and Fish Department 
(AZGFD) to address questions raised by management agencies. 

Hypotheses: 
Hypothesis 1 – Mechanical removal via electrofishing can cause a significant depletion in catch 
of young of year SMB. 

Hypothesis 2 – At present, SMB young of year are primarily distributed in the upper portions of 
the Glen Canyon reach. This hypothesis is based on the distribution of catch from the two sites 
used in GCMRC’s Trout Reproductive and Growth Dynamics (TRGD) study, anecdotal reports 
of adult SMB near the Dam (RM -15.6; where Lees Ferry is designated as RM0) and detection of 
juvenile SMB in a side habitat located near -12 RM that is often referred to as the “slough” since 
early July 2022. This hypothesis assumes that a nest, or nests, were located either near the dam 
or in the slough and there has been limited dispersal over the last few months. 

Hypothesis 3 – Young of year SMB present in the system in 2022 were hatched from one or a 
few nests with a hatch date in June. 

Hypothesis 4 – Electrofishing will be less cost-effective for removing adult SMB than other 
gears. 

Study Plan: 
Objective. To address Hypotheses 1-4 and inform both current management (i.e., the National 
Park Service has compliance and a desire to remove SMB) and future management (e.g., the 
Bureau of Reclamation is currently considering changes to operations to prevent SMB 
reproduction and seeking compliance that could be informed by addressing Hypothesis 3), we 
suggest the following phased approach to study. Hypothesis 3 will require additional analysis of 
otoliths from young of year SMB captured during all sampling efforts. Hypothesis 4 will be 
addressed by comparing capture of adult SMB captured during electrofishing to captures of adult 
SMB via other methods (e.g., angling, trammel netting), which will be undertaken concurrent 
with the phased approach described below specifically to address hypothesis 4. 

B-2 



 

 

              
   

      
  

 
 

 
  

  
  

           
            

  
    

   
   

  
   

    

  
         

 
         

  
     

           
             

        
              

 
    

  
  

 
 

             
       

 
  

  
 

  

Attachment B 

Elements common to all Phases. Research will adopt some features of the TRGD project 
described in the FY2021-23 Triennial workplan of the Glen Canyon Dam Adaptive Management 
Program but will modify methods to maximize the efficiency of SMB depletions and minimize 
impacts to salmonids. 

Important features of this project to be include: 1) electrofishing of pre-defined 250-m sections 
established throughout Glen Canyon and used by USGS and its cooperators to facilitate 
comparisons among different sampling programs and to ensure that the location of all specimens 
can be identified to this resolution, 2) a relatively slow rate of shocking (i.e., roughly 15 minutes 
per 250-m section) which increases capture of smaller bodied fish, and 3) sampling of adjoining 
river sections on both sides of the river to iteratively sample a larger area (typically 3 km in 
length) over the course of one night of sampling (referred to as a pass). In contrast to TRGD, this 
study will focus on collecting smallmouth bass and minimizing handling of, and impacts to, 
salmonids. During electrofishing, all fish within the electrical field will be removed from the 
river to minimize exposure to the electrical field and placed in buckets equipped with both an 
aerator and oxygen stone. After a section has been sampled, technicians will sort through the 
buckets, returning nontarget species including salmonids, carp, and flannelmouth sucker as 
quickly as possible to the center of the segment from which they were taken. Counts by species 
of fish released alive will be kept and any incidental mortalities will be retained and counted. 

Data collection. The fork length (to nearest mm) of each SMB will be measured, attributed to 
the appropriate 250-m segment, and preserved in ethanol for future analyses focused on 
Hypothesis 3. 
A) Phase 1. Initial efforts will focus on testing Hypothesis 1. To operationalize Hypothesis 1, we 

begin by defining a metric based on the formula for estimating capture probability from two 
passes of depletion under the assumption of a constant capture probability. The criteria for 
judging effectiveness of depletions is the difference in catch between two successive passes 
divided by the catch in the first of the two passes (i.e., 𝐶𝐶𝐶𝐶−𝐶𝐶𝐶𝐶+1𝐶𝐶𝐶𝐶 where 𝐶𝐶𝐶𝐶 is the catch in the ith 

pass and 𝐶𝐶𝐶𝐶+1 is the catch in the following pass). If this metric (capture probability) is 0.1 or 
greater for the majority of passes it will be taken as evidence of a significant depletion effect. 

B) Sampling will begin with one pass of electrofishing in river segment A on both sides of the 
river (Fig. 1). If fewer than five young of year SMB are caught in the first pass of river 
segment A, the next night’s efforts will occur in river segment C. If fewer than five SMB 
are caught in the first pass of river segment C, the next night’s effort will occur in river 
segment D. If fewer than five SMB are caught in the first pass of river segment D, the next 
night’s effort will occur in river segment E. If fewer than five SMB are caught in the first 
pass of river segment E, the next night’s effort will occur in river segment B. If fewer than 
five SMB are caught in the first pass of river segment B, it will be assumed that Hypothesis 
1 has been rejected under current conditions (e.g., current temperature and size of young of 
year are two factors that may lead to declining capture probabilities over the course of a 
season) and the study will be halted. Note that segment B is being delayed during Phase 1 
because 27 SMB were removed from this segment during the TRGD trip in September and 

B-3 



 

 

 
  

   
 

 
    

   
  

    
         

   
  

   

           

            
 

 
 

            
    

 
 

 
      

 
    

        
            

    
 

  
              

   

  
           

 
  

   

Attachment B 

neighboring reaches may provide better conditions for testing hypothesis 1. Segments F – H 
will not be sampled during Phase 1 as we expect abundances are lower in these segments 
and higher abundances will lead to a better test of hypothesis 1. All Segments will be 
sampled during Phase 2 and 3 if these Phases occur. 

C) If five or more SMB are caught within a river segment, additional passes will be undertaken 
in the same river segment until fewer than five smallmouth bass are caught in a pass or a 
total of five passes has occurred. If analysis of data from these successive passes indicates 
evidence of significant depletion in catch (defined in part A above), it will trigger Phase 2 of 
the study. If there is insufficient evidence of a depletion effect, efforts will shift to the next 
river segment (according to part B above) and undertake a second set of depletion passes 
(provided five or more SMB are caught) and analyze data from this second set of passes. If 
this second set of passes shows evidence of depletions the study will move to Phase 2. If it 
does not the study will be halted. 

Phase 2. Efforts will focus on determining the distribution of SMB (Hypothesis 2). 

A) Sampling will continue in river segments not sampled during Phase 1 applying the same 
criteria to determine whether additional passes are warranted (i.e., stopping when a pass 
produces less than five SMB). 

B) After all river segments (A – H) have been sampled, representatives from cooperating 
agencies will meet to assess potential negative impacts to the rainbow trout fishery, the 
availability of additional resources, and results from phases 1 and 2 to determine whether 
the study should proceed to Phase 3. 

Phase 3. Additional examination of Hypotheses 1 and 2. 

A) Sampling will focus on river segments from which the largest numbers of individuals have 
already been removed. If there is clear evidence of smaller scale hotspots sampling will 
focus on these areas. Similar offramps to those outlined in Phase 1 (i.e., total catch scaled by 
site length of approximately 5 SMB per 3 km and continued effectiveness of depletions) will 
apply. 

Supplemental Work: 
Hypothesis 3: Otoliths will be collected from all SMB during all phases. These will be analyzed 
in the future to address Hypothesis 3. 

Hypothesis 4: This hypothesis will be tested by comparing catch data of adult SMB from 
electrofishing efforts described above and that of additional capture methods that have been, or 
will be, employed (e.g., trammel netting, fyke netting, hoop netting, angling) by cooperating 
agencies. Comparison of these data will be conducted by scientists from the cooperating agencies 
at the annual fish cooperators meeting in December 2022. 

B-4 



 

 

 
    

       
   

 
 

 
 

     
            

      
  

Attachment B 

Products: 
The results of this study will be distributed as an USGS Open File Report or similar peer 
reviewed outlet and will be coproduced by cooperating agencies including USGS, NPS, USFWS, 
Bureau of Reclamation, and AZGFD. 

Figures: 

Figure 1. Colorado River sampling segments from Glen Canyon Dam downstream to the Paria River 
confluence to monitor for smallmouth bass (Micropterus dolomieu) distribution and relative abundance 
and test the effectiveness of depletions via multi-pass electrofishing surveys. 

B-5 



 

 

 

  
           

 
 

 

 
           

 

              
    

 

     
  

     

      
          

 

         
   

           
   

 

 
          

  

 
     

 
              

 
 
 
 
 

Attachment B 

Literature Cited 
Bestgen, K. R., & Hill, A. A. (2016). River regulation affects reproduction, early growth, and 
suppression strategies for invasive smallmouth bass in the upper Colorado River basin. Final 
report submitted to the Upper Colorado River Endangered Fish Recovery Program, Denver, 
Colorado. Department of Fish, Wildlife, and Conservation Biology, Colorado State University, 
Fort Collins. Larval Fish Laboratory Contribution, 187. 

Breton, A. R., Winkelman, D. L., Bestgen, K. R., & Hawkins, J. A. (2015). Population dynamics 
modeling of introduced smallmouth bass in the upper Colorado River basin. Final report to the 
Upper Colorado River Endangered Fish Recovery Program, Denver, Colorado. Larval Fish 
Laboratory Contribution, 186. 

Brown, T. G., Runciman, B., Pollard, S., Grant, A. D. A., & Bradford, M. J. (2009). Biological 
synopsis of smallmouth bass (Micropterus dolomieu). Canadian Manuscript Report of Fisheries 
and Aquatic Sciences, 2887(1), 1-58. 

Edwards, E.A., Gebhart, G., and Maughan, O.E. 1983. Habitat suitability information: 
smallmouth bass. 
U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service FWS/OBS-82/10.36. 

Johnson, B. M., Martinez, P. J., Hawkins, J. A., & Bestgen, K. R. (2008). Ranking predatory threats 
by nonnative fishes in the Yampa River, Colorado, via bioenergetics modeling. North American 
Journal of Fisheries Management, 28(6), 1941-1953. 

Lawrence, D. J., Beauchamp, D. A., & Olden, J. D. (2015). Life‐stage‐specific physiology 
defines invasion extent of a riverine fish. Journal of Animal Ecology, 84(3), 879-888. 

Loppnow, G. L., Vascotto, K., & Venturelli, P. A. (2013). Invasive smallmouth bass 
(Micropterus dolomieu): history, impacts, and control. Management of Biological Invasions, 
4(3), 191. 

Shuter, B. J., MacLean, J. A., Fry, F. E. J., & Regier, H. A. (1980). Stochastic simulation of 
temperature effects on first‐year survival of smallmouth bass. Transactions of the American 
Fisheries Society, 109(1), 1-34. 

Voichick, N., & Wright, S. A. (2007). Water-temperature data for the Colorado River and 
tributaries between Glen Canyon Dam and Spencer Canyon, northern Arizona, 1988-2005 (Vol. 
251). Washington, DC: US Geological Survey. 
Ward, D. L., & Vaage, B. M. (2019). Journal of Fish and Wildlife Management, 10(1), 196-205. 

B-6 

https://FWS/OBS-82/10.36


 
 

 
 

 
       

                  

   
  

   
 

 
 

 

 
 

        

    
 

       
      

     
       

      
         

  
       

    
          

         
 

 
   

 
  

 
  

 
 

 
 
 

        

       
 

              
       

     

 
 

   

 
 

   

 
    

   
 

  
 

 

 
 

 
 

      
     

    
 

           
     

   
  

  

 
  

  

 
  

  

  
 

 
 

               
        

 
  

 
 

  
 

 
 

 
 
 

    
      
 

       
         

 
  

  
 

 
 

 

      
                   

   

   
  

 
  

 
  

  

          
 

    
 

 

            
  

  
    

    
 

 

         
             

    

 
     

  
       

  

          
        

    
    

  
     

  
  

 

  
  

  

  
  
  
  
 

  
 

Attachment C 

Table 1: Fisheries Actions within Current Compliance 

ACTION (grouped by common themes) Brief summary (including any required consultation & coordination) Target Species Target Habitat Location 

Tier level (NPS 
documents only, 
based on tribal 
consultation) 

Lead 
management 

agency 

Compliance 
document 

Mechanical 

Emergency Response to New/expanded 
Introduction 

Allows for temporary, short-term, targeted removal effort to treat known 
occurrences of the new threat using mechanical methods including angling, 
electro-fishing, and passive (e.g. .. trap nets) or active (e.g., seining) netting. 
Discovery of an expansion in distribution or abundance of an existing high risk 
non-native species or the new detection 
of a rapidly spreading AIS or non-native fish species. 

New non-native 
species all entire project area 1 NPS CFMP 

Mechanical Removal: Species Selective 
This is mechanical removal of an on-going nature in the 
sloughs. Any rapid response mechanical removal is allowed here also under the 
CFMP rapid response mech action. Any harmful NNAS RM -12 Both Sloughs 1 NPS Expanded 

NNASMP 
Harvesting/Angling 

Incentive Harvest (Not Brown Trout or RM -12 
sloughs) 

tier I - this could be used for species other than brown trout but we would 
evaluate risks before opening for other species. This may not be useful for rare 
non-natives for a number of reasons. NNAS, (Not BNT) All, not sloughs 

Glen Canyon NRA (not 
RM-12 Sloughs or 
BRT) 

1 NPS Expanded 
NNASMP 

Coordinate Trips to Harvest Catfish and 
other Warm-water Species using Angler 
Volunteers from Below Diamond Creek to 
LAKE 

For Alternative 1 and 2, not done. Alternative 3 shows "Catfish angling 
opportunity coordinated with Hualapai Tribe below Diamond Creek" 

Catfish and other 
Warm- water non-
native fish 

Lower Colorado 
River FMZ 

Grand Canyon 
National Park 1 NPS CFMP 

Brown Trout Incentivized Harvest tier I - encouraging human consumption by the public - NPS 
committed to trying this action for 3 years Brown Trout All 

Glen Canyon 
Reach 1 NPS Expanded 

NNASMP 
Targeted Volunteer Angling-facilitated River 
Trips with Mandatory Harvest of Rainbow 
Trout 

Non-commercial Trips in Marble Canyon and Downstream 
(Paria Riffle to RM 60) Rainbow Trout Marble Canyon 

FMZ 
Grand Canyon 
National Park 1 NPS CFMP 

Anglers encouraged to remove Brown Trout 
when caught Anglers will be encouraged to remove Brown Trout when they are caught. Brown Trout All Lees Ferry 

Fisheries region (?) 

All Lees Ferry 
Fisheries region 
(?) 

N/A AZGFD 
Lees Ferry 
Fisheries ma 

Electrofishing, Angling, Netting 
Mainstream/Inflow Non-native Fish Control 
(Boat Electrofishing/angling) for Striped 
Bass, 
Catfish 

Only as Needed per Established Criteria Striped Bass, Catfish Havasu Creek and 
Inflow FMZ 

Grand Canyon 
National Park 1 NPS CFMP 

Non-native Control Mechanical (netting, 
angling, 
electro-fishing) 

Only if Emergency Response is Triggered or Pending Further 
Section 106, NEPA, and ESA Planning and Compliance Other Tributaries Grand Canyon 

National Park 1 NPS CFMP 

Mechanical removal: Species Selective 
Electrofishing and Trapping, with Beneficial 
Use Where Possible, for Long-term Control 
(live capture and relocation would not be 
logistically practical in this location) 

This is mechanical removal of an on-going/larger scale that occurs in Grand 
Canyon. This was setup as a tier 1 action under the CFMP. Any rapid response 
mechanical removal targeting SMB or other high priority new fish that hasn't 
occurred for 3 consecutive years or 5 total does not fall under this action but is 
allowed in this location under the 
CFMP rapid response mech action. 

Any Harmful Non-
native Aquatic 
Species 

Small localized 
spawning and 
congregation areas 

Grand Canyon 
National Park: 
Colorado River 
Mainstem and 
Tributaries 

1 NPS Expanded 
NNASMP 

C-1 



 
 

 
 

       

   
   

     
     

    
   

 

 
  

  
 

 
  

  
 

 
    

   
 

  
 

 
 

   
 

   
   

               
  

 
  

 
 

 
   

 
 

 
 
 

    
 

       
       

   
  

  
 

 
 

 

             
   

  
  

 
 

 
 

    
 

   

          
    

 
 

   
  

  
  

 
 

 
 

    
         

  
  

    

      
  

             
 

            
 

 

      
      

  

         
      

         
       

 

 
      

 
      

  
  

 

  
   

   
  

 

    
   

 
  

 

 
     

     
 

      
  

  
 

   
   

   
 

 

  
  
  
  
 

  
 

      
  

 
      

  
       

 

    
          

  
  

 

  
   

   
  

 

    
   

 
  

 

 
    

    
     

      
  

  
 

  
   

   
  

 

  
  
  
  
 

  
 

         

Attachment C 

Table 1: Fisheries Actions within Current Compliance 

Mechanical removal: Species Selective 
Electrofishing and trapping 

This is mechanical removal of an on-going/larger scale that targets species brown 
trout. Any rapid response mechanical removal targeting SMB or other high 
priority new fish that hasn't occurred for 3 consecutive years or 5 total does not 
fall under this action but is allowed in this location under the CFMP rapid 
response mech action. 

Any Harmful Non-
native Aquatic 
Species 

Spawning and 
congregation areas 
only 

Glen Canyon NRA (not 
RM-12 Sloughs or 
BRT) 

2 NPS 
Expanded 
NNASMP 

Brown Trout Mechanical Removal and 
Electrofishing in Glen Canyon Reach 

This is mechanical removal of an on-going/larger scale nature that targets brown 
trout. Any rapid response mechanical removal targeting SMB or other high 
priority new fish does not fall under this action but is allowed in this location 
under the CFMP rapid response mech action. 

Brown Trout All Glen Canyon Reach 3 NPS Expanded 
NNASMP 

Tributary Non-native Fish Control 
Electrofishing 

NPS 2006c Experimental Actions Extended Additional Five 
Plus Years non-native fish Bright Angel Creek 

and Inflow FMZ 
Grand Canyon 
National Park 1 NPS CFMP 

Boat-Electrofishing Trout Control One Trip per Year in November Trout Bright Angel Creek 
and Inflow FMZ 

Grand Canyon 
National Park 1 NPS CFMP 

Tributary Non-native Fish Control 
Electrofishing 
and or Angling 

Applied up to 2.5 miles (4km) of stream during 2-3 
Monitoring trips per year 

Non-Native 
Species 

Shinumo Creek and 
Inflow FMZ 

Grand Canyon 
National Park 1 NPS CFMP 

Tributary Non-native Fish Control 
(netting/angling) Incidental to Monitoring Non-Native Fish Havasu Creek and 

Inflow FMZ 
Grand Canyon 
National Park 1 NPS CFMP 

Remove Brown Trout if captured during 
regular monitoring 

Other trout species are not desirable in this reach and will not be purposefully 
managed there. 
Brown Trout are known predators of native fish and will be removed during 
regular fisheries 
monitoring. 

Brown Trout Lees Ferry Any AZGFD 
monitoring location N/A AZGFD Lees Ferry 

Fisheries ma 

Selective and Non-Selective Barriers 
Placement of Selective Weirs to disrupt 
spawning Placing of barriers where useful allowed Any harmful 

NNAS RM -12 Both Sloughs 1 NPS Expanded 
NNASMP 

Placement of Selective Weirs to Disrupt 
Spawning or New Invasions of Tributaries, 
Backwaters and Off-Channel Areas. 

Placing of barriers where useful allowed 
Any Harmful Non-
native Aquatic 
Species 

Backwaters, Off-
channel ponds and 
Low Velocity Areas 
<5 acres; 
Tributaries 

Glen Canyon NRA (not 
RM-12 Sloughs or 
BRT) 

1 NPS Expanded 
NNASMP 

Placement of Selective Weirs to Collect or 
Restrict Non-native Aquatic Species Passage 
to Tributaries, Backwaters, and Off-Channel 
Areas 

Placing of barriers where useful allowed 
Any Harmful Non-
native Aquatic 
Species 

Small backwaters, off 
channel ponds, and 
low velocity areas < 
0.5 ac: 
Tributaries 

Grand Canyon 
National Park: 
Colorado River 
Mainstem and 
Tributaries 

1 NPS Expanded 
NNASMP 

Non-Selective Barriers to Restrict access to 
Tributaries, etc. Placing of barriers where useful allowed 

Any harmful 
NNAS RM -12 Both Sloughs 1 NPS Expanded 

NNASMP 

Placement of Non-Selective Barriers 
Restricting Non-native Aquatic Species Placing of barriers where useful allowed 

Any Harmful Non-
native Aquatic 
Species 

Backwaters, Off-
channel ponds and 
Low Velocity Areas 
<5 acres; 
Tributaries 

Glen Canyon NRA (not 
RM-12 Sloughs or 
BRT) 

1 NPS Expanded 
NNASMP 

Placement of Non-selective Barriers 
Restricting Non-native Aquatic Species 
Access to Tributaries, Backwaters, and Off-
channel Habitat Areas and Out-migration 

Placing of barriers where useful allowed 
Any Harmful Non-
native Aquatic 
Species 

Backwaters, Off-
channel ponds and 
Low Velocity Areas 
<5 acres; 
Tributaries 

Grand Canyon 
National Park: 
Colorado River 
Mainstem and 
Tributaries 

1 NPS Expanded 
NNASMP 

Dewatering, dredging 

C-2 



 
 

 
 

       

                 
        

  
     

   
 

     
 

              
     

  
  

 

   
   

   
 

 

    
   

 
  

 

    
 

 

              
     

  
  

 

   
   

   
 

 

  
  
  
  
 

  
 

      
  

             
       

 
          

 

          
      

   
  

    

          
       

 
           

    
  

       
 

      
    

           
 

  
  

 

  
   

   
  

 

  
  
  
  
 

  
 

      
   

           
 

  
  

 

   
   

   
 

 

    
   

 
  

 

           

  
     
    

    

          
  

  
 

   

  
  
  
  
 

  
 

      
                

      
 

               
  

  
     

   
 

  
    
   

 
 

          
  

  
 

  
  

    
   

 
  

 

        

     
   

           
 

   
 

  
  

  

    
     

 

Attachment C 

Table 1: Fisheries Actions within Current Compliance 

Dewatering Using High Volume Pumps Tier 1 - potential for Incidental taking of life, if any fish 
collected beneficial use would be attempted if possible 

Any harmful 
NNAS RM -12 Upper Slough 

only 1 NPS Expanded 
NNASMP 

Dewatering Off-Channel Ponds and Small 
Backwaters Using High Volume Pumps 

Tier 1 - potential for Incidental taking of life, if any fish collected beneficial use 
would be attempted if possible 

Any Harmful Non-
native Aquatic 
Species 

Small backwaters, off 
channel ponds, and 
low velocity areas < 
0.5 ac: 
Tributaries 

Glen Canyon NRA (not 
RM-12 Sloughs or 
BRT) 

1 NPS Expanded 
NNASMP 

Dewatering off-Channel Ponds or 
Backwaters Using High-Volume Portable 
Pumps 

Tier 1 - potential for Incidental taking of life, if any fish collected beneficial use 
would be attempted if possible 

Any Harmful Non-
native Aquatic 
Species 

Small backwaters, off 
channel ponds, and 
low velocity areas < 
0.5 ac: 
Tributaries 

Grand Canyon 
National Park: 
Colorado River 
Mainstem and 
Tributaries 

1 NPS Expanded 
NNASMP 

Dredging to Connect Upper Slough to 
Lower Slough 

This would connect the upper and lower slough only - does not include 
dismissed options of trying to channelize both 
sloughs. 

Any harmful NNAS RM -12 Upper Slough only 4 NPS Expanded 
NNASMP 

Weir Operations (Fall/Winter) NPS 2006c Experimental Actions Extended Additional Five 
Plus Years 

Bright Angel Creek 
and Inflow FMZ 

Grand Canyon 
National Park 1 NPS CFMP 

Sonic guidance devices 
Sonic Guidance Devices in Backwater and Off-
channel 

Tier 1 action - no taking of life anticipated. Does not 
necessarily require additional consultation. 

Any harmful 
NNAS RM -12 Both Sloughs 1 NPS Expanded 

NNASMP 

Sonic Guidance Devices Used in Backwater 
and Off-channel Habitat Areas 

Tier 1 action - no taking of life anticipated. Does not necessarily require 
additional consultation. 

Any Harmful Non-
native Aquatic 
Species 

Backwaters, Off-
channel ponds and 
Low Velocity Areas 
<5 acres; 
Tributaries 

Grand Canyon 
National Park: 
Colorado River 
Mainstem and 
Tributaries 

1 NPS Expanded 
NNASMP 

Sonic Guidance Devices in Backwater and 
Off- channel areas 

Tier 1 action - no taking of life anticipated. Does not necessarily require 
additional consultation. 

Any Harmful Non-
native Aquatic 
Species 

Small backwaters, off 
channel ponds, and 
low velocity areas 
<5 ac: 
Tributaries 

Glen Canyon NRA (not 
RM-12 Sloughs or 
BRT) 

1 NPS Expanded 
NNASMP 

Disrupt early life stages 

Mechanical Disruption of Early Life Stage 
Habitats at Specific Spawning Sites, 
including High-pressure Water Flushing 
and Mechanical Gravel Displacement 

tier 2 - this would involve disrupting spawning using mechanical means. 
Any Harmful Non-
native Aquatic 
Species 

Spawning areas only 

Grand Canyon 
National Park: 
Colorado River 
Mainstem and 
Tributaries 

2 NPS Expanded 
NNASMP 

Brown Trout Mechanical Disruption of Early 
Life Stages tier 2 - this would involve disrupting spawning using mechanical means. Brown Trout Spawning Areas 

Only Glen Canyon Reach 2 NPS Expanded 
NNASMP 

Mechanical Disruption of Early Life Stages tier 2 - this would involve disrupting spawning using 
mechanical means. 

Any harmful 
NNAS RM -12 Lower Slough 

Only 2 NPS Expanded 
NNASMP 

Mechanical Disruption of Early Life Stages at 
specific spawning sites, including high-
pressure water flushing and mechanical 
gravel 
displacement 

tier 2 - this would involve disrupting spawning using mechanical means. 
Any Harmful Non-
native Aquatic 
Species 

Identified spawning 
areas only 

Glen Canyon NRA (not 
RM-12 Sloughs or 
BRT) 

2 NPS Expanded 
NNASMP 

Chemical 

Application of Mollusk Repellents and Non-
toxic Anti-fouling Paint 

Tier 1 action - no taking of life anticipated. Does not necessarily require 
additional consultation. 

Harmful Non- native 
Mollusks 

Boat Hulls, 
Equipment and 
Water Infrastructure 

Glen Canyon NRA and 
Grand Canyon NP 1 NPS Expanded 

NNASMP 

C-3 



 
 

 
 

       

 

     
  

           
 

   
    

    
 

  
   

   
  

 

    
     

 

 
  

    
      

         
   

  
  

 

  
   

  
  
  
  
 

  
 

     
     

  

      
             
    

  
  

 

   
   

   
 

 

    
   

 
  

 

  
 

        
   

 
  

         
   

   
   

   

   
   

   
 

 

    
   

 
  

 

  
   

   

         
        

    

  
  

 

   
   

   
 

 

  
  
  
  
 

  
 

      
     

   
  

 
  

         
   

   
   

   

  
   

   
  

 

  
  
  
  
 

  
 

  
   

      
             
       

   

     
   

  
 

  
 

     
 

   
         

        
         

   
          

 

     
      

       
  

         
   

  
  

    
  

  
   

   
  

 

  
  
  
  
 

   
 

      
  

         
 

    

    
         

 

Attachment C 

Table 1: Fisheries Actions within Current Compliance 

Only 

Application of Herbicides and Non-toxic Dyes 
to Backwaters 

Tier 1 action - no taking of life anticipated. Does not necessarily require 
additional consultation. 

Harmful Non- native 
Plants or Algae with 
High to Very High 
Risk 

Backwaters, Off-
channel ponds and 
Low Velocity Areas 
<5 acres; 
Tributaries 

Glen Canyon NRA and 
Grand Canyon NP 1 NPS Expanded 

NNASMP 

Application of Registered Piscicides for 
Fishery Renovation of Tributary Streams 
with Natural Barriers (with mechanical 
removal and beneficial use in advance) 

Higher Tier Actions require initiation of tribal consultation and this action would 
also require coordination with USFWS, AGFD and AZDEQ. 

Any Harmful Non-
native Aquatic 
Species 

Tributaries with 
natural barriers only 

Grand Canyon 
National Park: 
Colorado River 
Mainstem and 
Tributaries 

2 NPS Expanded 
NNASMP 

(ammonia, oxygen, carbon dioxide, pH, 
etc.) (ammonia, oxygen, carbon dioxide, 
pH, etc.) 

Higher Tier Actions require initiation of tribal consultation and this action would 
also require coordination with USFWS and AGFD and GCMRC and would need to 
have an approved study plan and research value. 

Any Harmful Non-
native Aquatic 
Species 

Small backwaters, off 
channel ponds, and 
low velocity areas < 
0.5 ac: 
Tributaries 

Glen Canyon NRA (not 
RM-12 Sloughs or 
BRT) 

3 NPS Expanded 
NNASMP 

Rapid Response Application of Registered 
Piscicides for New Invasive Non-native Fish 
(medium to very high risk) that Begin to 
Produce in Very Localized and Primarily 
Backwater or 
Off-channel Areas 

Higher Tier Actions require initiation of tribal consultation and this action would 
also require coordination with USFWS, AGFD and AZDEQ. 

Any new harmful 
NNAS rated medium 
to high risk 

Small backwaters, off 
channel ponds, and 
low velocity areas 
<5 ac: 
Tributaries 

Glen Canyon NRA (not 
RM-12 Sloughs or 
BRT) 

3 NPS Expanded 
NNASMP 

Overwhelm Ecosystem-cycling Capabilities 
of Small Backwaters and Off-channel Areas 
(ammonia, oxygen, carbon dioxide, pH etc.) 

Higher Tier Actions require initiation of tribal consultation and this action would 
also require coordination with USFWS, AGFD, ADEQ and GCMRC and would need 
to have an approved study plan and research value. 

Any Harmful Non-
native Aquatic 
Species 

Small backwaters, off 
channel ponds, and 
low velocity areas < 
0.5 ac: 
Tributaries 

Grand Canyon 
National Park: 
Colorado River 
Mainstem and 
Tributaries 

3 NPS Expanded 
NNASMP 

Rapid Response Application of Piscicides for 
New Invasive Non-native Aquatic Species 
(medium to very high risk) that Begin to 
Reproduce in Very Localized, and Primarily 
Backwater or Off-
channel Areas 

Higher Tier Actions require initiation of tribal consultation and this action would 
also require coordination with USFWS, AGFD and AZDEQ. 

Any new harmful 
NNAS rated medium 
to high risk 

Backwaters, Off-
channel ponds and 
Low Velocity Areas 
<5 acres; 
Tributaries 

Grand Canyon 
National Park: 
Colorado River 
Mainstem and 
Tributaries 

3 NPS Expanded 
NNASMP 

Overwhelm Ecosystem-cycling Capabilities 
of Upper Slough 

Higher Tier Actions require initiation of tribal consultation and this action would 
also require coordination with USFWS and AGFD and GCMRC and would need to 
have an approved study plan and research value. Note that this would not be 
used for Green sunfish per Expanded Errata notes (AGFD request). 

Any harmful NNAS RM -12 
Upper Slough and 
possibly, Lower 
Slough 

3 NPS Expanded 
NNASMP 

Rapid Response Application of Registered 
Piscicides for New NNAS 

Higher Tier Actions require initiation of tribal consultation and this action would 
also require coordination with USFWS, AGFD and AZDEQ. Note that this would 
not be used for green sunfish in this location since it is no longer considered a 
rapid response in this location - per Expanded Errata notes (AGFD request). 

Any NEW harmful 
NNAS but not GSF RM -12 Both Sloughs 3 NPS Expanded 

NNASMP 

Application of Registered Piscicides for 
Long- term Control in Backwaters and Off-
channel Areas for High or Very High-Risk 
Species Only 

Higher Tier Actions require initiation of tribal consultation and this action would 
also require coordination with USFWS, AGFD and AZDEQ. 

Any harmful non-
native Aquatic 
Species rated high to 
very high 

Backwaters, Off-
channel ponds and 
Low Velocity Areas 
<5 acres; 
Tributaries 

Grand Canyon 
National Park: 
Colorado River 
Mainstem and 
Tributaries 

4 NPS Expanded 
NNASMP 

Application of Registered Piscicides for High 
and Very High Risk NNAS 

Higher Tier Actions require initiation of tribal consultation and this action would 
also require coordination with 
USFWS, AGFD and AZDEQ. 

High and Very High 
Risk NNAS RM -12 Lower Slough Only 4 NPS Expanded 

NNASMP 

C-4 



 
 

 
 

       

     
   

    
 

        
   

  
  

    
  

   
   

   
 

 

    
   

 
  

 

        

           
   

    
 

         
 

 
    

   

              
      

    
 

  
             

  
  

   
 

  
  
  
  
 

   
 

        
   
  

         
   

   
   

  

  
  
  
  
 

   
 

       
   

       
  

 

         
   

   
   

 
    

   
 

   
 

   

            
           

   
   

       

   
  

          
         

  
  

    

     
  

           
 

   
   

  
   

   
  

 

    
     

 

 
  

Attachment C 

Table 1: Fisheries Actions within Current Compliance 

Application of Registered Piscicides for 
Control in Backwaters and Off-channel 
Areas for High and Very High-Risk Species 
Only 

Higher Tier Actions require initiation of tribal consultation and this action would 
also require coordination with USFWS, AGFD and AZDEQ. 

Any harmful non-
native Aquatic 
Species rated high to 
very high 

Small backwaters, off 
channel ponds, and 
low velocity areas 
<5 ac: 
Tributaries 

Glen Canyon NRA (not 
RM-12 Sloughs or 
BRT) 

4 NPS Expanded 
NNASMP 

Other 

Outreach/AIS prevention Education public about non-native species AIS All entire project 
area 1 NPS CFMP 

Expanded Non-Native Species Detection 
Monitoring 

Expanded to Lower Colorado River, and Kanab and Havasu 
Creeks 

Non-native 
species all entire project 

area 1 NPS CFMP 

Introduction of YY Male Brown Trout Experimental - many steps before implementation would be 
considered Brown Trout All Glen Canyon 

Reach Experimental NPS Expanded 
NNASMP 

Produce Small Scale Temperature Changes 
using a Propane Heater Experimental - many steps before implementation would be considered 

Any Harmful 
coldwater Non-
native Aquatic Plants 

Tributaries 

Grand Canyon 
National Park: 
Colorado River 
Mainstem and 
Tributaries 

Experimental NPS Expanded 
NNASMP 

Introduction of YY Males of Medium to Very 
High- R  i s  k  Species (may be considered if 
brood stock exists) 

Experimental - many steps before implementation would be considered 
Any new harmful 
NNAS rated medium 
to high risk 

Tributaries only 

Grand Canyon 
National Park: 
Colorado River 
Mainstem and 
Tributaries 

Experimental NPS Expanded 
NNASMP 

Introduction of YY Male Green Sunfish or 
YY Males of Other Medium to Very High-
Risk Species (may be considered if brood 
stock is 
available) 

Experimental - many steps before implementation would be considered 
Any new harmful 
NNAS rated medium 
to high risk 

All 
Glen Canyon NRA (not 
RM-12 Sloughs or 
BRT) 

Experimental NPS Expanded 
NNASMP 

Remove incidental captures 

I.e., when monitoring this allows removal of non-native fish, but lower threat 
species could be thrown back, med-higher threat species removed and beneficial 
use used by NPS to 
the extent practical 

all entire project area 1 NPS CFMP 

Fisheries Monitoring - USGS-GCMRC-AZGFD, 
USFWS, NPS 

Provides the compliance (NEPA and 106) for the fish handling actions related to 
the monitoring that agencies conduct on these projects. 

Colorado River 
Mainstem FMZ 

Grand Canyon 
National Park 1 NPS CFMP 

Mechanical Harvesting of Non-native Plants 
and Algae 

Tier 1 action - no taking of life anticipated. Does not necessarily require 
additional consultation. 

Harmful Non- native 
Plants or Algae 

Backwaters, Off-
channel ponds and 
Low Velocity Areas 
<5 acres; 
Tributaries 

Glen Canyon NRA and 
Grand Canyon NP 1 NPS Expanded 

NNASMP 

C-5 



 
 

 
 

 

          

    
  

  
 

    
  

      

         
    

           

      

         
    

      
           

          
 

         
    

      

     
    

  

          
 

        
   

         
    

          

          
      

         

            
  

         
    

       
    

   
 

 

        
    

          
      

          
 

          

              

       

          

           

          
      

          

           

          
 

             

            
   

      

          
 

          

  
          

      

          
 

         
   

             

            

        
    

          
  

Attachment C 

Table 2: Existing Fisheries Specific Monitoring Trips (last updated Dec. 2022) 

Months Lead agency Location/Trip 
Number of 
Trips (per 
month) 

Project Description Status: Active? 
(Y/N, Maybe) 

January 

GCMRC Lees BTELSS 2 Lees Ferry BTELSS- Juvenile 
Brown Trout Monitoring Y 

GCMRC Lees trout monitoring 1 Lees Ferry trout population monitoring Y 

February 

GCMRC Lees BTELSS 1 Lees Ferry BTELSS- Juvenile 
Brown Trout Monitoring Y 

March 
AGFD Lees fish monitoring 1 Lees Ferry fish population monitoring Y 

BIOWEST Grand Canyon Razorback seining trip 1 Maybe; check 2023 
status 

GCMRC Lees BTELSS 2 Lees Ferry BTELSS- Juvenile 
Brown Trout Monitoring Y 

April 

AGFD Grand Canyon Mainstem 
electrofishing/hoopnetting 1-2 Mainstem Fish, non-native (electro-

fishing)-AZGFD Y 

BIOWEST Grand Canyon Razorback seining trip 1 Maybe; check 2023 
status 

FWS LCR HBC 1 LCR HBC, camps at three locations on Little 
Colorado River Y 

GCMRC Lees BTELSS 1 Lees Ferry BTELSS- Juvenile 
Brown Trout Monitoring Y 

GCMRC Lees TRGD 1 Lees Ferry trout population monitoring Y 

NPS Lees -12 mi slough netting 2 Y 
May 

BIOWEST Grand Canyon Razorback seining trip 1 Y 

FWS Grand Canyon LCR hoopnetting [LCR ONLY] 1 LCR HBC, camps at 4 locations on Little 
Colorado River Y 

GCMRC Lees BTELSS 1 Lees Ferry BTELSS- Juvenile 
Brown Trout Monitoring Y 

GCMRC Grand Canyon Juvenile HBC monitoring 1 
Juvenile HBC monitoring-April 27 Launch 
downstream Lees Ferry. 4/23-27 Glen 
Canyon 

Y 

NPS Grand Canyon Havasu HBC monitoring [HAVASU 
ONLY] 1 Y 

NPS Lees -12 mi slough netting 2 Y 
June 

BIOWEST Grand Canyon Razorback seining trip 1 Maybe; check 2023 
status 

GCMRC Grand Canyon eDNA sampling 1 Environmental DNA Study Y 

GCMRC Grand Canyon LCR JCM [LCR ONLY] 1 LCR Juvenile HBC monitoring (3 camps) Y 

GCMRC Lees TRGD 1 TRGD Y 

GCMRC PIS (AQFB) 3 Grand Canyon Youth-"Partners in Science" Y 

NPS Grand Canyon Humpback Chub monitoring 1 N; starting 2023 

NPS Lees -12 mi slough netting 2 Y 
July 

NPS Lees -12 mi slough netting 2 Y 

GCMRC Grand Canyon Juvenile HBC monitoring 1 Juvenile HBC monitoring Y 

BIOWEST Grand Canyon Razorback seining trip 1 Maybe; check 2023 
status 

GCMRC PIS; Grand Canyon Mainstem fish monitoring 1 Grand Canyon Youth-"Partners in Science" Y 

AGFD Lees fish monitoring 1 Lees Ferry trout pop. monitoring & targeted 
high risk NNF detection Y 

August 

BIOWEST Grand Canyon Razorback seining trip 1 Maybe; check 2023 
status 

NPS Lees -12 mi slough netting 2 Y 

NPS Grand Canyon Humpback Chub monitoring 1 N; starting 2023 

September 

BIOWEST Grand Canyon Razorback seining trip 1 Maybe; check 2023 
status 

FWS Grand Canyon LCR hoopnetting [LCR ONLY] 1 LCR HBC, camps at three locations on Little 
Colorado River Y 

FWS Grand Canyon Mainstem fish monitoring 1 Mainstem Fish, HBC- aggregations (netting) Y 

GCMRC Lees TRGD 1 Juvenile HBC Monitoring in Glen Canyon Y 

NPS Grand Canyon Havasu HBC monitoring [HAVASU 
ONLY] 1 Y 

NPS Lees -12 mi slough netting 2 Y 

C-6 



 
 

 
 

      

            
   

       
        

          
   

          
    

      

           
  

          
      

      
      

Attachment C 

October 

AGFD Lees fish monitoring 1 Lees Ferry trout pop. monitoring & targeted 
high risk NNF detection Y 

FWS Grand Canyon Western GRCA HBC 
monitoring 1 HBC monitoring below Diamond Creek Y 

FWS Grand Canyon LCR hoopnetting [LCR ONLY] 1 LCR HBC, camps at three locations on Little 
Colorado River Y 

GCMRC Grand Canyon Juvenile HBC monitoring 1 Juvenile HBC monitoring- Launch 
downstream 9/28. 9/24-27 Glen Canyon Y 

November 

AGFD Grand Canyon Below Diamond HBC monitoring 1 HBC monitoring from Pearce Ferry 
upstream Y 

GCMRC Lees TRGD 1 Lees Ferry fish population monitoring Y 
December 

C-7 



 

 
 

      
  

 
 

  
 

  
     

  
   

     
   

           
      

   
  

 

Attachment D 

Proposed List of ‘Hotspot’ Locations for 
Additional Monitoring to Address Increased 
Concern of Invasive Fish 
Introduction: 
Additional targeted monitoring trips should focus on hotspots identified by the cooperating 
fisheries agencies as containing adequate habitat and spawning locations for invasive fish. These 
locations were compiled through observation of previous captures of invasive cool- and warm-
water fishes as well as local temperature and habitats. Table D.1. lists locations in Lees Ferry 
that are monitored two times per year by AGFD through electrofishing efforts. Additionally, 
given that water temperature in the Lees Ferry Reach were above 16C in 2022, and is forecasted 
to be above 16C from May to November in 2023 monthly mainstem monitoring in Lees Ferry 
may be necessary from March to November using a variety of methods including electrofishing, 
seining and trap netting. Table D.2. lists locations below the Paria River. The frequency of 
monitoring at the listed sites is variable. Several sites have historically been monitored twice a 
year by NPS but may be discontinued in 2023 due to lack of funding. It is recommended that 
monitoring of these sites, particularly high priority locations, continue. 

D-1 

https://www.usbr.gov/uc/progact/amp/twg/2022-10-13-twg-meeting/20221013-BasinHydrologyOperationsWaterQuality-508-UCRO.pdf
https://www.usbr.gov/uc/progact/amp/twg/2022-10-13-twg-meeting/20221013-BasinHydrologyOperationsWaterQuality-508-UCRO.pdf
https://www.usbr.gov/uc/progact/amp/twg/2022-10-13-twg-meeting/20221013-BasinHydrologyOperationsWaterQuality-508-UCRO.pdf


 

 
 

                  

     
 

   

        
           
           
         
          
         

         

       
  

         

      
  

         

       
            
          

         
          

         
           

 
  

Attachment D 

Table D.1. Likely locations to investigate for presence of warm water invasive species in Lees Ferry; aka. ‘hotspots’ 

RM/side Location or habitat type Priority 
Currently 
monitored? Agencies Frequency 

-15 to 0 mainstem LF Med Yes multiple multiple 
-15.73/R Below Dam Spillway High Yes AGFD 2/year, July and October 
-15.78/L Below Dam Spillway High Yes AGFD 2/year, July and October 
-14.34/L Spring High Yes AGFD 2/year, July and October 
-14.29/L Rocky Shoreline High Yes AGFD 2/year, July and October 
-13.72/R Spring High Yes AGFD 2/year, July and October 
-13.5/L Spring High Yes AGFD 2/year, July and October 

-12.07/L Slough: inside, along bar High Yes 
AGFD, NPS, 
GCMRC AZGFD 2/year July plus NPS multiple, GCMRC multiple 

-12.07/L Slough: along shore High Yes 
AGFD, NPS, 
GCMRC AZGFD 2/year July plus NPS multiple, GCMRC multiple 

-12.2/L Upper Slough High Yes NPS multiple plus pumpout 
-11.02/R Below Ferry Swale Bar High Yes AGFD 2/year, July and October 
-10.85/L Rocky Shoreline High Yes AGFD 2/year, July and October 
-6.9/L Backwater High Yes AGFD 2/year, July and October 
-3.32/L Warm Spring High Yes AGFD 2/year, July and October 
-1.5/L Backwater High Yes AGFD 2/year, July and October 
0-1/R Mouth of Paria River Low No AGFD no targeted sampling, not good habitat 

D-2 



 

 
 

 
                       

      
   

        
         
       

       
       

    
  

      
   

       
  

      
   

      
  

      
 

     
 

      
  

    
    

    

      
  

     
  

          

      
  

Attachment D 

Table D.2. Likely locations to investigate for presence of warm water invasive species in the Grand Canyon below the Paria River; aka. ‘hotspots’ 

RM/side Location or habitat type1 Priority Currently 
monitored?2 Agencies Frequency 

30/L 30-mile spring Med Unknown FWS HBC aggregation monitoring? 
61/L LCR and LCR inflow area High Yes multiple multiple 
85/R Clear Creek Med No 

88/R Bright Angel Creek* Med Yes NPS, FWS 
Oct-Feb NPS weir and backpack, NPS June 
hoopnetting, NPS or FWS mainstem 
hoopnetting in summer 

99/R Crystal Creek* Low Yes NPS HBC 
monitoring Visual, 2/year 

108.7/R Shinumo Creek inflow* High Yes NPS HBC 
monitoring 2/year 

116.5/L Elves Chasm* Med Yes NPS HBC 
monitoring Visual, 2/year 

143.5/R Kanab Creek* High Yes NPS HBC 
monitoring 2/year 

156.7/L Havasu Creek inflow* High Yes NPS HBC 
monitoring 

4/year (2 creek trips, 2 mainstem 
aggregation) 

183.5/R below lava backwater* Med Unknown NPS HBC 
monitoring once/year 

180-277 Western Grand Canyon Random 
Stratified sites High Yes NPS/BioWest RZ 

monitoring 6/yr in spring/summer 

204/R Spring Creek* Low Yes NPS HBC 
monitoring once/year 

209/L 209 Slough* Med Yes NPS HBC 
monitoring once/year 

212/L pumpkin springs Low Unknown NPS or FWS Visual, 2/year 

225/L Diamond Creek* Med Yes NPS HBC 
monitoring once/year 

D-3 



 

 
 

 
 
 

 
    

   
      

 
 

   
 

   

 
 

   
     

 
  

   
     

 
 

   
     

 
   

  
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Attachment D 

229&231 
Travertine and Travertine Falls* 

Low Unknown NPS HBC 
monitoring visual occasionally when takeout at PF 

243/R 
RM243 backwater 

High Yes NPS/BioWest RZ 
monitoring 

6/yr in spring/summer 

246/L 
Spencer* 

Med Yes NPS HBC 
monitoring occasionally when takeout at PF 

249/R 
Surprise Canyon* 

Med Yes NPS HBC 
monitoring occasionally when takeout at PF 

275/L 
Columbine* 

Low Unknown NPS HBC 
monitoring occasionally when takeout at PF 

1 These sites with an asterisk (*) have been monitored by NPS during translocation monitoring trips. These monitoring trips are scheduled to end due to loss of 
funding in 2023. These sites should be monitored periodically by restoring funding, or by another agency, and wrapped into existing trips if possible. 
2 Status unknown as of January 2023 or dependent on funding availability. 

D-4 



 

 
 

   
      

   

 
               

     
 

  
         

   
       

 
    

 

 
        

 
 

     

 
  

 
               

   
     

  
    

  
 

  
 

    
 

          
          

  

Attachment E 

Proposed Additional Monitoring to Address 
Increased Concern of Invasive Fish Species Below 
Glen Canyon Dam 

Introduction 
Invasive fish have been and will continue to be a challenge to the management of the Colorado 
River ecosystem (CRe) below the Glen Canyon Dam (GCD), and of special concern to listed 
species. Poor hydrologic conditions and warming temperatures exacerbate these challenges. For 
example, warming river temperatures below GCD, compounded by lower Lake Powell elevation 
releases, support habitat for many deleterious species including the smallmouth bass. The 
Strategic Plan (Plan) was written in response to the Secretary’s Designee’s Directive, which, in 
part, charged Reclamation, the Technical Work Group, and Grand Canyon Monitoring and 
Research Center to identify and propose monitoring efforts necessary to prevent, detect, and 
respond to cool- and warmwater invasive fish establishment below GCD. Monitoring effort 
recommendations in the Plan are further described in this attachment. 

Proposed Monitoring Recommendations 
(1) Expand existing monitoring efforts with flexibility to add additional days and survey 
locations. 

(2) Conduct additional targeted monitoring trips. 

Description of Monitoring Recommendations 
1. Expand existing monitoring efforts: 

The best means to determine the extent of the presence or establishment of invasive species is 
through monitoring efforts. This is best achieved by expanding the level of sampling and 
geographical extent of existing monitoring efforts. Existing monitoring trips could utilize 
personnel and equipment to monitor existing hotspots and new areas of concern on relatively 
short notice if flexibility allows the extension of the trip. The additional time would allow 
personnel to remove or address invasives detected without compromising the objectives of the 
trip. Depending on the nature of the existing trip, additional supplies, equipment, and trained 
personnel may be necessary to successfully expand the existing trip. 

2. Conduct additional targeted monitoring trips: 

Additional targeted monitoring trips should focus on hotspots identified by fisheries biologists as 
containing adequate habitat and spawning locations for invasive fish identified in Attachment D. 
In addition, if invasive fish have been detected previously, these trips could be used to address 

E-1 

https://www.usbr.gov/uc/progact/amp/amwg/2022-08-18-amwg-meeting/20220818-AMWG-ActionItemTrackingSheet-508-UCRO.pdf


 

 
 

   
 

 
  

  
  

           
 

 
            

         
  

     
  

 

 
           
         

  

  
           

   
     

    
 

 
  

            
 

 
  

            
   

 

Attachment E 

those species. Additional invasive fish monitoring and targeted removal trip(s) could be 
conducted annually in the spring and fall that could occur over a 10–14-day period. 

These additional, targeted monitoring trips would depend heavily on the availability of resources. 
If implemented, identified hotspots should be sampled with appropriate equipment such as 
seines, electrofishing backpacks, fyke nets, etc. Removals could occur during the monitoring trip 
as time and resources allow, but ultimately should not prevent completion of trip objectives (e.g., 
monitoring of designated, predetermined sites). 

Data from the additional monitoring trips would be used by cooperating fisheries agencies to 
identify any additional actions needed and to inform the decision-making process outlined in 
Attachment A. 

Hotspots and Areas of Concern: 
Additional monitoring trips should target sites listed in Attachment D with locations in the Lees 
Ferry reach upstream to the dam, and the Colorado River mainstem and include the confluence 
of Shinumo and Kanab creeks when environmental conditions are favorable (i.e., DO, turbidity, 
water temperature, season, time of day). Information derived from the SMB-targeted short-term 
rapid response effort conducted in the Lees Ferry reach from October-December, 2022 could be 
used to inform future monitoring efforts (i.e., spring 2023). Furthermore, additional monitoring 
for young-of-year invasive fish species should be conducted during the late spring and summer 
through seining and other appropriate techniques. 

Implementation considerations 
The ability to increase monitoring efforts is limited by the capacity, resources, and personnel of 
the cooperating fisheries agencies. Additional resources will allow for more amply staffed and 
organized teams to facilitate sufficient data collection and efficient data processing, along with 
providing the flexibility for additional targeted monitoring trips. Increasing the amount of creel 
surveys could provide additional data to supplement monitoring efforts. 

Increased funding within the existing interagency agreements and/or outside of GCDAMP 
funding for additional efforts will be necessary to accommodate the increasing concerns of 
invasive fish in the CRe. 

Additional resources may also be found through contracting a third-party group to execute 
additional trips, or the development of volunteer programs such as youth educational trips to 
supplement the needs for additional personnel. 

E-2 



  

 

  
          

 
 

  
  

   
 

  
        

  
 

             
 

 
          

   
  

    
  

    
    

 
    

    
 

 
 

 
 

      
 

  
       

     
           

 
        

 
         

     
  

  
 

  
     

                  
    

  
 
 

Attachment F 

Supplemental Actions 
to complement the Invasive Fish Species Below Glen Canyon Dam: A Strategic Plan 
to Prevent, Detect and Respond Report 

This attachment includes options in addition to those included in the Strategic Plan, that could 
assist in invasive fish management that were proposed and/or discussed by members of the 
Smallmouth Bass Ad Hoc Group and cooperating agencies. However, these options may be 
worth further consideration, but will require more time beyond the initial development of this 
Plan to adequately evaluate their potential appropriateness and effectiveness. These options will 
require additional investigation to evaluate their potential appropriateness and effectiveness. They 
are documented here for future consideration. 

Each supplemental action listed below is categorized by the time to implement and the length of 
time the effects would be expected. Additionally, the actions are categorized by that number of 
years that would be needed to implement; short-term actions are defined as implementable 
immediately or within approximately 1 to 2 years, mid-term actions within approximately 
5 years, and long-term actions within approximately 10 years. Additional details regarding 
effectiveness, cost, and estimated time needed for design and compliance can be found in the 
Department of Interior documents specified in the table footnotes below. To date, the expected 
cost, design and compliance time are categorized relative to other actions identified in the table, 
and are preliminary estimates which are likely to change over time. A brief explanation for each 
supplemental action identified in the table is provided below. 

Proposed Supplemental Actions Table 
Action Length of Action Expected Design Compliance 

Cost* Time* Time* 
Educational outreach Long-term Low Short Short 

Modification of downstream spawning and 
nursery habitat 1 Long-term Low Short Short 

Maintain Lake Powell elevation above 3560’ Varies High Mid Mid 

Temperature control device (TCD) 2 
Long-term High Long Long 

Add generation to bypass tubes 3 Long-term High Long Long 

1 U.S. Bureau of Reclamation, Upper Colorado Regional Office. 2018. Temperature Reduction Options for Glen 
Canyon Slough; RM -12. Technical Report No. SRH 2018-17. 

2 U.S. Bureau of Reclamation. 1999. Plan and draft Environmental Assessment for Glen Canyon Dam modifications to 
control downstream temperatures. 

3 U.S. Bureau of Reclamation. 1999. Plan of study adding for generation on the outlet works at Glen Canyon Dam. 
* At this time, the expected cost, design time, and compliance are estimates which are relative to other actions 
listed in this table, as well as those identified in the Strategic Plan. Additional consideration is needed to define 
the associated costs and timelines to implement such actions. 

F-1 



  

 

  

 
  

     
  

 
  

  
  

  

  
 

   
  

 

  
  

 
   

   
  

     
  

   

  
 

 
  

  

  
   

     

Attachment F 

Brief Summary of Actions 

Educational outreach 
While educational outreach is currently included in various programs and agency agreements, it 
is identified as a short-term action in the Strategic Plan (see section 3.3). Below are specific ideas 
focused on invasive fish species that are worth developing and including in educational outreach 
opportunities where possible. 

● Create a forum to facilitate public reporting, such as a NPS-hosted Non-Native Aquatic 
Species EA webpage. 

● Develop an ‘app’, or a project within iNaturalist or iMapInvasives, that can be used off-
line to document and report an invasive fish species. Information could include the 
species, location, date, and disposition.  

● Presentations and meetings with anglers to encourage notification when a targeted 
invasive species is detected. Notification would involve the 24/7 call-in report number, 
email address, and/or NPS- hosted form described above. 

● Creel surveys could be an opportunity to better inform anglers and provide additional 
data to supplement monitoring efforts. 

The described invasive fish species specific educational outreach could be implemented 
relatively quickly and with minimal cost, but would be less effective in the long-term when 
compared to other supplemental actions identified here. Associated responsibilities could be 
included in the rapid response coordinator position described in Attachment A: Short-Term 
Rapid Response Actions, which could include volunteer management/training, equipment 
management, communications/outreach, and in-field tasks, along with increased removal and 
expedited processing to allow for sufficient data reporting. Additional information regarding 
reporting of invasive species can be found in Attachment A: Short-term Rapid Response Actions. 

Modification of downstream spawning and/or nursery habitat 
(i.e., the -12 mile slough) 
Modification of habitat below GCD has been suggested as a means to prevent spawning and 
recruitment in Lees Ferry of undesirable warm water species from Lake Powell. In particular, the 
slough habitat at river mile -12 below GCD has provided spawning habitat for a variety of 
species over the years, including common carp, green sunfish, and smallmouth bass. This action 
was discussed, but not implemented through the NPS NNAS EA, and was evaluated in 2018 by 
Reclamation (USBR, 2018). Modification of the slough to prevent spawning of invasives could 
provide mid- to long-term benefits, but would require additional compliance and planning. 
Reclamation is pursuing a re-evaluation of potential modifications of the slough given the 
current environmental conditions and is expecting the report to be complete in June 2023.  

Maintain Lake Powell elevations 
Maintaining Lake Powell elevations, such that the risk of entrainment of the target invasive 
species is significantly reduced or eliminated could be an effective long-term solution to prevent 
invasive fish passage. However, this action is difficult to achieve in a short timeframe and would 

F-2 

https://parkplanning.nps.gov/document.cfm?documentID=90478


  

 

  
  

   

   
  

    
  

   
  

 

  
   

  
  

 
  

 
 

 
 

  
   

 
  

   
 

 
   

 
 

 
  
  

 
 

  

Attachment F 

require interagency coordination, favorable hydrology, as well as potential changes to water 
delivery. Ultimately, this action would fall under the scope and jurisdiction of Reclamation and 
the Colorado River Basin States, as upheld by the various Colorado River legal agreements. 

Temperature control device (TCD) 
In 2016, a Biological Opinion was issued by the US Fish and Wildlife Service, which included a 
recommendation that Reclamation investigate and consider temperature control modifications to 
the dam that would allow water to be drawn from different depths of Lake Powell. A TCD may 
allow for temperature control to prevent warmwater invasive fish establishment below GCD 
without the need to use bypass. Suggested temperatures and case studies have occurred at the 
Flaming Gorge Dam in efforts to control smallmouth bass (Bestgen, 2016 & Breton, 2015). 

Add generation to bypass tubes 
This action has been suggested as a potential mitigation measure to reduce hydropower impacts 
under specific operational alternatives which were presented at the August AMWG meeting to 
address the Secretary’s Designee’s Directive. Reclamation is exploring different modifications to 
the dam, but further discussion and evaluation is anticipated in the near future. The proposed 
operational flexibility currently being pursued by Reclamation would be used to prevent invasive 
fish establishment downstream using flow and temperature changes and may include extended 
use of the bypass tubes. Currently there is no ability to generate hydropower through the bypass 
tubes. Adding power generation to the bypass tubes at GCD would provide long-term benefits by 
reducing hydropower losses if the bypass tubes were used for extended durations. However, such 
a modification is dependent on structural integrity assessments. The time and cost to implement 
this action is significant and would require years of planning. 

Re-introduction of Colorado Pikeminnow 
Colorado pikeminnow historically played an important role as the top predator in the Colorado 
River ecosystem. Over a period of >3-million years, the Colorado river native fishes evolved 
behaviors and morphologies that limited their predation vulnerability to predation by Colorado 
pikeminnow (i.e., gape to body-depth relationships). Evidence from other co-evolved predator 
and prey species indicate that reintroduction of Colorado pikeminnow is unlikely to have adverse 
population-level impacts on co-evolved prey species. Complex interactions with native predators 
have been found to be important in mediating adverse impacts of non-native predators (Jokela et 
al. 2017, Glen et al. 2016), but top predators like the Colorado pikeminnow cannot fill the role of 
an apex predator if they are no longer present. Introduced sport fishes however, are likely to 
adversely impact endangered Colorado fishes. The absence of Colorado pikeminnow in the 
Lower Colorado River likely makes the ecosystem more vulnerable to continued invasion and 
establishment of introduced piscivorous fishes (Estes et al. 2011). 

F-3 

https://www.usbr.gov/lc/region/pao/lawofrvr.html
http://www.riversimulator.org/Resources/USBR/LTEMP/FEIS/BiologicalOpinionGCD2016.pdf
https://www.usbr.gov/uc/progact/amp/amwg/2022-08-18-amwg-meeting/20220818-Yackulic_Op_Alts_AMWG_508.pdf
https://www.usbr.gov/uc/progact/amp/amwg/2022-08-18-amwg-meeting/20220818-AMWG-ActionItemTrackingSheet-508-UCRO.pdf


  

 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
  

 
 

 

 
  

 
 

    
    

 
 

 
 

 
   

  
 
 
 

Attachment F 

References: 
Bestgen, K. R., & Hill, A. A. (2016). River regulation affects reproduction, early growth, and 
suppression strategies for invasive smallmouth bass in the upper Colorado River basin. Final 
report submitted to the Upper Colorado River Endangered Fish Recovery Program, Denver, 
Colorado. Department of Fish, Wildlife, and Conservation Biology, Colorado State University, 
Fort Collins. Larval Fish Laboratory Contribution, 187. 

Breton, A. R., Winkelman, D. L., Bestgen, K. R., & Hawkins, J. A. (2015). Population dynamics 
modeling of introduced smallmouth bass in the upper Colorado River basin. Final report to the 
Upper Colorado River Endangered Fish Recovery Program, Denver, Colorado. Larval Fish 
Laboratory Contribution, 186. 

Estes, J. A., Terborgh, J., Brashares, J. S., Power, M. E., Berger, J., Bond, W. J., & 
Wardle, D. A. (2011). Trophic downgrading of planet Earth. science, 333(6040), 301-306. 

Glen, A. S., Pech, R. P., Davey, C., & Molsher, R. L. (2017). Raptors vs aliens: can indigenous 
birds of prey help control invasive predators?. New Zealand journal of zoology, 44(2), 99-107. 

Jokela, A., Arnott, S. E., & Beisner, B. E. (2017). Biotic resistance of impact: a native predator 
(Chaoborus) influences the impact of an invasive predator (Bythotrephes) in temperate lakes. 
Biological Invasions, 19(5), 1495-1515. 

U.S. Bureau of Reclamation, Upper Colorado Regional Office. 2018. Temperature Reduction 
Options for Glen Canyon Slough; RM -12. Technical Report No. SRH 2018-17. 

U.S. Department of the Interior. 2016. Final Environmental Impact Statement for the Glen 
Canyon Dam Long-Term Experimental and Management Plan. 

F-4 



 

  

      
  

         
 

  
 

           
   

  
 

            
  

 
   

           
    

         
 

 
   

   
    

    

             
 

   
   

  
 

   
  

           
 

Attachment G 

Attachment G: Addendum to the Strategic Plan 
Implementation Considerations provided by the SBAHG 
through the TWG, to the AMWG regarding next steps 

January 2023 

1. The Strategic Plan and attachments (hereafter, the Plan) should be adopted and 
utilized by Department of Interior (DOI) agencies to serve as a guiding framework 
and strategy for preventing, detecting, and responding to invasive fish below Glen 
Canyon Dam (GCD). 

2. This Plan is not intended to curtail or restrict management agency actions 
already available under existing planning and compliance. 

3. To make the Plan actionable, we recommend that the Secretary’s Designee direct the 
DOI bureaus to adopt the Plan through an interagency Memorandum of Agreement 
or a similar agreement document, and reconvene the Smallmouth Bass Ad Hoc 
Group (SBAHG) through the GCDAMP TWG as necessary (i.e., when updates are 
warranted). 

4.  Additional funds will be necessary to address resource limitations for cooperating 
fisheries agencies to carry out future invasive fish actions in the CRe. The upcoming 
GCDAMP Technical Work Plan (TWP) planning process conducted by the Budget 
Ad Hoc Group (BAHG) should consider the additional monitoring and potential 
rapid response actions outlined in the Plan when prioritizing funding for 2024-2026. 
Reprioritization of funds within the GCDAMP may be necessary if external funds are 
not identified, however the current GCDAMP budget is limited and reprioritization 
may impact current and existing research projects. Therefore, it is recommended that 
additional funds outside of the GCDAMP be allocated to the actions mentioned in 
the Plan, or additional funding be incorporated into the GCDAMP budget. 

5. The SBAHG should convene on an annual basis prior to BAHG TWP discussions 
to reevaluate current invasive fish actions to assess their effectiveness and consider 
available offramps. During this process, the SBAHG may also review and 
recommend updates to the Plan, as necessary. 

G-1 



 

  

  

        
  

             
 

 
   
      

 
           

    
 

 
 

           
           

 
        

         
            

  
  

  
  

   
 

 
     

         
 

 
  

   
 

      
   

  
 

  
               

Attachment H 

Tribal Positions 

From Kurt Dongoske, Pueblo of Zuni on 1/05/2023 
As the Zuni THPO and on behalf of the Pueblo of Zuni, I have reviewed the submitted report, 
entitled “Invasive Fish Species Below Glen Canyon Dam: A Strategic Plan to Prevent, Detect, and 
Respond” developed by the both of you. Thank you for your efforts in drafting this plan. 

I submit the following comments for your consideration. My comments are less technical, but 
rather more ethical in that they address what appear to me to be inconsistencies in the overall 
GCDAMP management objectives and how those management objectives continually 
disenfranchise and harm the Zuni people. Moreover, I understand that this report is in response to 
a directive issued by the Secretary’s Designee and that the scope of the report is framed by the 
GCDAMP and various state management objectives. 

First, I would like to address the wording in the report used to describe non-native fish as 
invasive, pests, and representing an “invasion” as troubling. From a Zuni perspective, all aquatic 
beings not only contain life, are sentient and thus are cherished and require protection by Zunis, 
but are Zuni relatives and children themselves, as taught by Zuni traditional history in and 
through chimiky’ana’kowa. The characterizations of smallmouth bass or any other aquatic life as 
“invasive,” a “pest” or presenting an “invasion” is exceedingly inappropriate, highly 
disrespectful, and wholly nescient of Zuni relational life and lifeways. This fact has been 
continuously repeated to the Department of the Interior by Zuni through numerous letters signed 
by the Zuni Governor to the Secretary’s Designee, the National Park Service, the Bureau of 
Reclamation, the U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service and the Grand Canyon Monitoring and Research 
Center over the past 15 years. Additionally, this Zuni perspective has been repeatedly vocalized 
at numerous Technical Work Group, Adaptive Management Work Group, and other meetings. 
The tone deafness of the Department of the Interior on this Zuni matter is very disconcerting. 

The geographic scope of this plan is identified as “the Colorado River Ecosystem (CRe) as 
defined by the Glen Canyon Dam Long-Term Experimental and Management Plan (LTEMP) 
Record of Decision (ROD) as: 

“... the Colorado River mainstream corridor and interacting resources in associated 
riparian and terrace zones, located primarily from the forebay of Glen Canyon Dam to the 
western boundary of GCNP. The CRe specifically consists of the area where dam 
operations impact physical, biological, recreational, cultural, and other resources. This 
section of the river runs through Glen, Marble, and Grand Canyons in Coconino and 
Mohave Counties in northwestern Arizona.” 

I question how effective and pragmatic it is to manage this ecosystem as though it is separate 
from the greater environment of the Colorado Plateau in which it is situated. Efforts to perceive 

H-1 



 
 

  

  
 

   
 

              
    

  
    

  

  
 

   
   

 

        
  

   
          

  
 

  
 

  
 

 
                 

 
  

 
 

   
  

 
              

   
  

  
  

 
         

 

Attachment H 

and manage this ecosystem as though it is a “wilderness” and “natural” ecosystem when it is 
bookended by two dams and has over 30,000 visitors (not including the hundreds of scientists) 
traveling down river each year is idealistic. This idealism is further complicated by many of the 
GCDAMP stated management objectives which are in conflict. For example, a healthy rainbow 
trout fishery in Lees Ferry is of special commercial concern; however, rainbow trout downriver of 
the Paria are consider undesirable and a threat to native fish. It is also my understanding that 
largemouth bass, smallmouth bass, striped bass, walleye, channel catfish, and black crappie are 
consider “sportfish” in Lake Powell, but only become undesirable once they pass through the 
dam. In fact, my research indicates that in 1935 the U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service released 
largemouth bass into Lake Mead and over the subsequent 7 years black crappie, bluegill and 
green sunfish were added. Smallmouth bass is consider ubiquitous throughout the country and 
the credit for its wide range is due to intentional introduction and stocking as a sportfish; 
especially in the West. Human actions, past and present, have created the quandary that this 
program is now having to contend; the fish happen to be innocent victims and their destruction as 
a management action has reverberating adverse effects on the community of Zuni. 

As Zuni Governor Panteah’s expressed in his July 1, 2021, letter to the Biden-Harris 
administration: “[E]fforts to fulfill … obligations and responsibilities for meaningful 
considerations of Zuni human-environment and people-place relationships and direct, indirect, 
and cumulative adverse effects and impacts that may occur—and are occurring—to them 
reasonably and in good faith are repeatedly neglected. The norm for government agencies has 
been exclusionary, manipulated, and negligent applications of … regulations and procedures…. 
This in turn—whether wittingly or unwittingly—has been commonly and regularly used to 
perpetuate—if not reinforce—policies of inequity creation through bad faith approaches that 
result in racist programs and the simultaneous privileging … and reproduction of social, 
environmental, epistemic, and ontological injustices on and to Native peoples” (Panteah 2021:5). 

The continued implementation of reactive management actions to undesirable fish below Glen 
Canyon Dam in the CRe that result in the destruction of these fish will continue to have negative 
psychological and emotional impacts on the Zuni community. Recent Western scientific studies 
have continuously demonstrated that emotional and psychological stress on the body can weaken 
immune systems and inflammatory response, cause the decline and dysfunction of the prefrontal 
cortex and the hippocampus, and even influence cancer incidence and cancer progression. The 
impacts of lethal management actions have farther reaching negative effects than those 
experienced within the defined CRe. 

Given the above concerns, I believe the Pueblo of Zuni would be very supportive of the primary 
preventive measure recommended in your report which is to prevent fish from passing through 
Glen Canyon Dam. This is a position that the Zuni Governor, Tribal Council and religious 
leaders have repeatedly recommended to the National Park Service as a proactive measure, rather 
than continually being reactive by implementing lethal management actions. 

Thank you for your consideration of the above comments. Should you have any questions please 
contact me at your earliest convenience. 

H-2 



 
 

  

      
    

  
               

   

             
   
              
    

  
  

               
  

             
 

             
   

 
 

Attachment H 

From Jakob Maase, Hopi on 1/06/2023 
Hopi’s preference in concern of Smallmouth bass and other nonnative fish is for preventative 
and proactive actions as recommended in the report. Allowing for a foolish continuance of a 
problem is not fixing a problem. To quote Einstein “The definition of insanity is doing the 
same thing over and over and expecting different results.” 

The water levels and continued difficulties of climate change means new strategies need to be 
approached and that sacrifices of values on certain resources and discussion between 
institutions need to be made. This includes the Lake Powell side above the dam. The Colorado 
River is not a closed ecosystem between the dams. 

If it must come down to it, then Hopi hopes that procedures can be done without the taking life 
and if further then taking of life un-needlessly (humans eating the fish, it going to something like 
an eagle sanctuary, etc. are preferred mitigation efforts if we have no further choice in our many, 
many options that we have been discussing over the long year.) 

Thank you for your hard work and your consideration of Hopi’s voice in the procedure of this 
management action. 

I would also like to add that the Forebay Coldwater Barrier is top preference for Hopi in concern 
of preventing further nonnative fish intrusion from the Dam side. 

H-3 



 

  

   
   
 
   
   
 

 

 

      

 

 

  

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

   

 

 

  

   

 

   

 

 

  

  

        

 

  

 

  

    

   

 

 

 

 

 

   

 

  

      

   

 

  

Timothy L. Nuvangyaoma 
CHAIRMAN 

Craig Andrews 
VICE-CHAIRMAN 

February 23, 2023 

Secretary of the Interior Designee Wayne Pullan and the AMWG Team 

Upper Colorado River Regional Office 

Bureau of Reclamation (BOR) 

125 South State Street, Room 8100 

Salt Lake City, UT 84138 

RE: Hopi Tribe comments on the Framework to Prevent non-native Fish Species Establishment 

Below Glen Canyon Dam Addendum. 

Dear Secretary of the Interior Designee Wayne Pullan and AMWG Team, 

The Hopi Tribe is thankful for the opportunity to provide feedback on the Framework to Prevent 

Invasive Fish Species Establishment Below Glen Canyon Dam. This response expresses the Hopi 

Tribe's interests and positions on the Framework Plan. Therefore, we appreciate your agencies 

and the bodies of the AMWG and TWG for continuing solicitation of our input and your efforts 

to address this concern regarding the increase of smallmouth bass and other non-natives within 

the Colorado River ecosystem. 

First, the Hopi Tribe made a covenant to be stewards of the land, including the Colorado River 

ecosystem. It is a tenant about being Hopi. In this regard, taking life should not be done lightly 

and only with proper consultation and mitigation measures. When taking of life cannot be 

avoided, beneficial use for human consumption and animal use (like the eagle sanctuaries) to the 

Hopi is an acceptable mitigation method. 

The water levels and continued difficulties and impacts of climate change mean new strategies 

must be approached and considered. Sacrifices of values on specific resources and discussions 

between institutions must be made for all interested parties that benefit from the Colorado River. 

This includes the Lake Powell side above the dam. The Colorado River is not a closed ecosystem 

between the dams. 

The Hopi Tribe prefers preventive methods foremost as they fulfill our stewardship 

responsibilities and prevent problems in the long term. This letter will discuss the options 

demonstrated within the plan from Hopi Tribe's perspective. 

Mechanical Removal for non-natives: 

For the Hopi Tribe, this method should not be the first alternative. The Tribe would like to 

explore preventive strategies to prevent non-native species from reaching the lower portions of 

the dam. If fish are to be removed in this manner, they are to be used for beneficial use. 

However, if mechanical fish removal is used as a rapid response, then proper mitigation for 

P.O. BOX 123, KYKOTSMOVI, AZ 86039 



                  

 

 

 

 

 

   

   

 

 

    

   

  

 

 

     

 

  

      

 

 

 

   

   

 

  

  

  

 

  

    

    

  

   

 

       

 

 

 

 

       

 

 

   

  

 

  

  

 

 

 

unnecessary fish death must occur. 

Harvesting/Angling: 

Harvesting fish is acceptable if beneficial use is applied. In the past, the Hopi Tribe supported the 

elder/youth education harvesting/angling initiative. However, for both these options, the Hopi 

Tribe determined that treating the life taken with respect is a critical practice. 

Electrofishing, Angling, Netting: 

The Hopi Tribe opposes electrofishing because we understand that the method can harm native 

species. The Hopi Tribe benefited from electrofishing when fish was provided to the Tribe for 

consumption, however, this does not make it an acceptable method. 

Selective and Non-Selective Barriers: 

Barriers below the dam are acceptable when the conditions are right, such as increased water 

levels and the time of the season. Barriers above the dam should be a priority. The cold-water 

bay project barrier dam is an example of a fish barrier that would be acceptable in preventing 

fish from entering the river environment. Planned barriers that separate fish and redirect them are 

sufficient. 

Dewatering/Dredging: 

The Hopi Tribe wishes to avoid this method as an option entirely. It is destructive to the 

environment, harms fish, and is a needless taking of life. 

Sonic Guidance Devices: 

Auditory vibrations may affect the rest of the ecosystem. Vibrations in water and earth affect 

plants and animals; thus, the variables make this seem not a good choice. 

Disrupt Early Life Stages: 

Mechanical disruption of early life stage habitats at specific spawning sites, including high-

pressure water flushing and mechanical gravel displacement, impacts the environment and the 

Hopi Tribe's values regarding all life. The Hopi Tribe requests consultation beforehand when this 

method is being considered and requires considerable analysis before the technique is considered 

for implantation. Interrupting the life process of any species is not a Hopi practice. Especially 

when conscious decisions are made, that will lead to death and is not an acceptable method for 

Hopi Tribe. Barriers that prevent spawning are sufficient. There are a lot of variables to each of 

these flow options. 

Chemicals: 

The Hopi Tribe finds these options inappropriate due to harm to other organisms and the 

ecosystem. There are a lot of negative variables that prevent beneficial use as mitigation. 

Other: 

The Hopi Tribe recommends outreach programs such as providing fish to Hopi communities for 

consumption. 

Extended Monitoring: 

It's a great idea, and more funding to the Hopi Tribe should be provided to implement this 

initiative. 

P.O. BOX 123 - KYKOTSMOVI, AZ 86039 - PHONE: 938-734-3000 



 
                  

 

 

 

  

     

 

 

    

    

 

 

  

   

 

   

 

     

 

    

    

     

 

 

  
 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

Introduction of YY Male Brown Trout and Sun Fish: 

The Hopi Tribe would like to avoid introducing other non-native species to the river ecosystem, 

which is counterintuitive to removing species below the dam. This is the type of idea that leads 

to further problems as nature takes its course. 

Temperature Changes with a Propane Heater: 

This process is an unknown method to the Hopi Tribe. The Tribe would like to request 

information on this technique. 

Removal of Incidental Captures: 

This is acceptable to the Hopi Tribe if beneficial use is in place. 

Mechanical Harvesting of non-native plants and Algae: 

The Hopi Tribe sees plants as living organisms. The Hopi Tribe interprets this as the unnecessary 

taking of life. Mitigation and outreach must take place to consider the impacts on the ecosystem. 

Thank you for your continued consultation and inclusion of the Hopi Tribe in this decision-

making process. The Hopi Tribe apricate the opportunity to comment and hopes you will take 

these comments seriously considering the plan options. Should you have any questions or need 

additional information, please contact me at Skoyiyumptewa@hopi.nsn.us. 

Respectfully, 

Stewart B. Koyiyumptewa 

Program Manager/THPO 

Cultural Preservation Office 

The Hopi Tribe 

P.O. BOX 123 - KYKOTSMOVI, AZ 86039 - PHONE: 928-734-3000 

mailto:Skoyiyumptewa@hopi.nsn.us

	Glen Canyon Dam Adaptive Management Work Group Meeting
	Administrative Items
	Participant WebEx Information

	AMWG Supporting Documents
	Draft Agenda
	Draft Minutes & Action Items
	Supplemental Materials

	Blank Page
	Blank Page



